TRANSITION METALS IN ORGANIC SYNTHESIS: HYDROFORMYLATION, REDUCTION AND OXIDATION

ANNUAL SURVEY COVERING THE YEAR 1987*

László Markó

Institute of Organic Chemistry, University of Veszprém, H-8200 Veszprém, Hungary

CONTENTS

I.	Theoretical Calculations		
II.	Hydroformylation and Related Reactions of CO		
	1.	Hydrogenation of CO to Oxygen-containing Organic Compounds	484
	2.	Hydroformylation	486
		a) Co Catalysts	486
		b) Rh Catalysts	486
		c) Other Metals as Catalysts	489
		d) Homogeneous Systems (Supported Complexes)	490
		e) Modified Hydroformylations	492
	3.	Hydrocarbonylation (Homologation) of Alcohols, Aldehydes and Esters with CO + H_2	493
	4.	Coordination Chemistry Related to Hydroformyla- tion	496
	5.	Water Gas Shift Reaction	496
	6.	Reduction with $CO + H_2O$	497
	7.	Miscellaneous Reductive Transformations of CO and CO ₂	497
III.	Hydrogenation and Reduction		
	1.	H Exchange, D and T Labeling	499
	2.	Hydrogenation of Olefins	500
		a) General	500
		b) Ti and V Catalysts	500
		c) Fe, Ru and Os Catalysts	500
		d) Rh and Ir Catalysts	501
		e) Ni, Pd and Pt Catalysts	503

x No reprints available Previous review see J.Organomet.Chem. 343 (1988) 399

	3.	Asymmetric Hydrogenation of Olefins	504
	4.	Hydrogenation of Dienes and Alkynes	511
	5.	Hydrogenation of Arenes and Heterocyclic Compounds	513
	6.	Hydrogenation of Carbonyl Compounds	514
	7.	Hydrogenation of Nitro Compounds	517
	8.	Miscellaneous Hydrogenations	518
	9.	Dehydrogenation	519
	10.	Hydrogen Transfer Reactions	522
		a) Hydrogenation of C=C Bonds	522
		b) Hydrogen Transfer Reactions involving >C=O and >CH-OH Groups	522
		c) Hydrogenation of C=N Bonds	524
	11.	Reduction without Molecular Hydrogen	524
		a) Stoichiometric Reduction with Low-Valent Transition Metal Complexes	524
		 b) Inorganic Reductants in the Presence of Transition Metal Complexes as Catalysts 	526
		c) Organic Reductants in the Presence of Tran- sition Metal Complexes as Catalysts	529
		d) Electroreduction and Photoreduction	529
IV.	Oxida	tion	531
	1.	Catalytic Oxidation of Hydrocarbons or Hydro- carbon Groups with O ₂	531
		a) Oxidation of Alkanes	531
		b) Oxidation of Olefins	531
		c) Epoxidation of Olefins	534
		d) Oxidation of Aromatics	536
	2.	Catalytic Oxidation of O-containing Functional Groups with O_2	538
		a) Oxidation of Alcohols	538
		b) Oxidation of Phenols	539
		c) Oxidation of Aldehydes and Ketones	542
		d) Miscellaneous Oxidations	543
	3.	Catalytic Oxidation of N-containing Organic Compounds	543
	3. 4.	Catalytic Oxidation of N-containing Organic Compounds Catalytic Oxidation of S-, Sn-, or B-containing Organic Compounds	543 546

a) Oxidation of Hydrocarbons or Hydrocarbon Groups	548	
b) Epoxidation of Olefins	551	
c) Oxidation of O-containing Functional Groups	561	
d) Oxidation of N-containing Organic Compounds	564	
e) Oxidation of P-, S-, or Se-containing Organic		
Compounds	5 6 5	
6. Stoichiometric Oxidation of Organic Compounds with	arbon Groups 548 551 1 Groups 561 ompounds 564 ng Organic 565 mpounds with 567 arbon Groups 567 1 Groups 575 ompounds 582 aining 585 591 594 595 595	
High Valent Transition Metal Complexes	567	
a) Oxidation of Hydrocarbons or Hydrocarbon Groups	567	
b) Epoxidation of Olefins	574	
c) Oxidation of O-containing Functional Groups	575	
d) Oxidation of N-containing Organic Compounds	582	
e) Oxidation of P-, S-, Si-, or B-containing		
Organic Compounds	5 8 5	
7. Electrooxidation and Photooxidation	587	
V. Reviews	591	
List of Abbreviations	5 94	
Metal Index	595	
References		

I. Theoretical Calculations

A theoretical study of some Co carbonyl complexes present in the catalytic cycle of hydroformylation (formylcobalt tricarbonyl, $(\eta^2$ -ethylene)hydridocobalt tricarbonyl, and ethylcobalt tricarbonyl) was performed by means of ab inito Hartree-Fock and configuration-interaction calculations [1]. The potential energy profile of a full cycle of olefin hydrogenation with Rh(PPh₃)₃Cl as catalyst has been determined by ab initio molecular orbital calculations. The profile was found to be smooth, without excessive barriers (the highest, olefin insertion is about 20 kcal) and without too stable intermediates [2].

The structure and epoxidation properties of Ti-tartrate asymmetric epoxidation catalysts have been studied by using the frontier orbital approach [3]. Qualitative VB considerations emphasize the radical character of the O transfer from Fe(IV)-oxo porphyrins to ethene yielding ethylene oxide [4]. The structure of oxo-iron porphyrins was studied theoretically by LCAO-MO-SCF calculations in relation to their stereospecific epoxidation properties [5].

It was found that the most stable structure of oxo-iron porphyrin is one in which the oxygen is inserted into the Fe-N bond. Alkene is coordinated perpendicular to the iron atom and the next step is a slipping motion of the alkene toward the oxygen [5] [6].

II. Hydroformylation and Related Reactions of CO

1. Hydrogenation of CO to Oxygen-containing Organic Compounds

The selective transformation of synthesis gas into ethylene glycol, C1-C2 alcohols, AcOH and acetate esters by Ru complexes dissolved in low melting phosphonium salts was reported [7]. 1-Alkylbenzimidazoles have been found to be very efficient promoters for ethylene glycol formation from synthesis gas in the presence of $\operatorname{Ru}_3(\operatorname{CO})_{12}$ as catalyst at 240°C and 500 bar. It has been shown that $Ru(CO)_{A}$ (1-alkylbenzimidazole) complexes play an important role in ethylene glycol formation [8]. A catalyst composed of $\operatorname{Ru}_3(\operatorname{CO})_{1,2}$ and 1-methyl-3-ethylbenzimidazolium bromide showed high selectivity (44%) for ethylene glycol formation from synthesis gas at 150-220°C and 450 bar. The favorable effect of the imidazolium cocatalyst was attributed to its activity in promoting the condensation of formaldehyde to glycolaldehyde [9]. Hydrogenation of CO by a $Ru_3(CO)_{12}$ + PPNCl + acid catalyst system at 240°C and 500 bar was examined. Weak acids, especially carboxylic acids promoted the formation of both ethylene glycol and MeOH [10].

The activity of $\operatorname{Ru}_3(\operatorname{CO})_{12}$ + alkali metal halide catalysts and their selectivity for ethylene glycol formation from CO + H₂ at 230°C and 300 bar is increased by addition of $\operatorname{Re}_2(\operatorname{CO})_{10}$. Activity and selectivity also increases with increasing ionic radius of the metal [11]. Acetic acid is formed directly from synthesis gas in up to 95% selectivity using a Ru + Co + I + Bu₄PBr melt catalyst combination. The Ru component of the catalyst is responsible for the formation of MeOH which is transformed into MeI and then carbonylated to AcOH by cobalt carbonyls [12]. Addition of $\operatorname{Co}_2(\operatorname{CO})_8$ as cocatalyst to the onium halide (e.g. PPNCl) promoted Ru systems which lead mainly to the production of alcohols (MeOH, EtOH) from CO + H₂, promotes the formation of acetic acid. With the best combination of reaction parameters selectivity to acetic acid exceeds 80%. The results may be explained by the independent action of Ru and Co carbonyls, probably no mixed-metal clusters are involved in the catalytic cycles [13]. The selectivity of ethylene glycol formation from synthesis gas in the presence of homogeneous Ru or Ru + Rh catalysts was significantly increased by amines, especially imidazole. It was suggested that Ru is mainly responsible for the formation of formaldehyde and Rh for its transformation into ethylene glycol [14]. Acetate esters of ethylene glycol were prepared with good selectivities from synthesis gas using Ru-Ru bimetallic homogeneous catalysts together with N-containing bases or alkali metal cations as promoters in AcOH as solvent. No hydrocarbons were formed and the C_1/C_2 ratio was between 1 and 2 [15].

Two dinuclear Rh complexes, $[Rh(CO)_3(PR_3)]_2$ (R = iPr or cyclopentyl) were isolated from the catalytic reaction mixtures of syngas conversion to ethylene glycol. Both complexes are active catalysts for the synthesis of ethylene glycol from CO + N_2 at 230° C and 470 bar [16]. In the conversion of CO + N₂ to ethylene glycol the Rh + PBu, catalyst system was found to be about 20 times more active under 1000 bar at 210°C than under 500 bar. This unusual pressure effect was considered to be due to the formation of catalytically more active non-cluster Rh species [17]. Carboxylic acids promote the formation of ethylene glycol from synthesis gas catalyzed by $Rh_4(CO)_{12}$ and PCy_3 at 220°C and 500 bar. Complexes of the type $Rh(OOCR)(CO)(PCy_3)_2$ were recovered from these reaction mixtures and could be used as catalysts for the reaction [18]. Complexes of the type $Rhx(CO)L_2$ (X = arylcarboxylato or C_6F_5O ; $L = PCy_3$ or PPr_3^{i}) were found to be more active catalyst precursors for the conversion of synthesis gas to ethylene glycol at 220°C and 510-540 bar than the corresponding $Rh_4(CO)_{12} + L$ systems. The complexes were reduced to $Rh(CO)_{4}$ and $Rh(CO)_{3}L^{-1}$ under the reaction conditions; their catalytic activity was proportional to the initial rate of this reduction [19]. Catalytic activity of Rh + phosphine catalyst systems for the synthesis of ethylene glycol from synthesis gas depends on the structure of the phosphine. The rate of ethylene glycol formation increases with increasing electron--donating property of the alkyl substituent in phosphines of type iPr₂PR and (1) [20].

The recently described homogeneous catalyst systems for ethylene glycol from synthesis gas composed of Rh carbonyls and substituted imidazoles (AS 1986, refs.10 and 11) have been investigated by high pressure IR spectroscopy. The mononuclear complex $HRh(CO)_3(N-methylimidazole)$ was suggested to be the catalytically active species [21]. Hydrogenation of CO with $Rh_4(CO)_{12}$ as catalyst at 400 bar and 200°C was investigated in different amides as solvents. Dimethylimidazolinone yielded significantly higher selectivities for ethylene glycol than N-methylpyrrolidone [22].

See also [80,85,120].

2. Hydroformylation

a) Co Catalysts

Hydroformylation of propylene trimers with Co carbonyl-Lewis base catalysts led to higher yield of alcohols and lower yield of high-boiling byproducts [23]. Hydroformylation of fluoro olefins $R_fCH=CH_2$ ($R_f = F, CF_3, C_2F_5, C_3F_7, C_8F_{17}, C_6F_5$) promoted by Co, Pt, Ru, or Rh carbonyl catalysts has been studied. Remarkable regioselectivity of the reaction was found in the case of trifluoropropene and pentafluorostyrene: Co catalysts yielded almost exclusively n-aldehydes whereas i-aldehydes were the main products with Rh catalysts. On the contrary, vinylfluoride gave 2-fluoropropanal exclusively, regardless of the metal catalyst species [24]. Activity of the mixed-metal cluster $Co_2Pt_2(CO)_8(PPh_3)_2$ for hydroformylation was found to be higher than that of the corresponding mononuclear Co-P and Pt-P complexes [25].

b) Rh catalysts

The mechanism of phosphine-modified rhodium-catalyzed hydroformylation of 1-hexene was studied by <u>in situ</u> IR spectroscopy. Reaction rate was limited by CO dissociation from the catalyst $HRh(CO)_2(PR_3)_2$ containing <u>para</u>-substituted triarylphosphines. Reaction rates and selectivities for linear aldehydes both increased with increasingly electron-withdrawing phosphines [26]. Deactivation of the catalyst in this system was shown to be due to the formation of an inactive dinuclear complex having bridging phosphido ligands [27]. The Rh-phosphite complexes $Rh(acac)L_2$ and

and $HRhL_{4}$ (L = P(OPh)₃) were used for the hydroformylation of methyl methacrylate and vinyl acetate. Reasonable yields were achieved even under very mild conditions: 40°C and 1 bar [28]. A new process was developed for the hydroformylation of propene using Rh complexes as catalysts modified by water-soluble phosphines. The catalyst is practically insoluble in the raw product butyraldehyde and may thus be separated simply by phase separation [29]. Isopropene was synthesized via hydroformylation of 2-butene to methylbutanal followed by dehydration of the aldehyde. Hydroformylation was carried out in the presence of a Rh + PPh₂ catalyst (P:Rh = 40:1) at 100° C; selectivity of methylbutanal formation was > 98% [30]. In the hydroformylation of methyl methacrylate with Rh-phosphine catalysts prepared in situ from [Rh(NBD)Cl], and tertiary phosphines the regioselectivity was found to be very sensitive to the reaction conditions. Both the increase of the P/Rh ratio and the amount of Et_3N added increased the amount of branched aldehyde [31]. Hydroformylation of styrene catalyzed by Rh complexes of the ligand (2) gave the branched-chain aldehyde with 98.5% regioselectivity; other ligands like (3), and DIOP gave less selective catalysts [32].



Hydroformylation of linear terminal alkenes bearing a PPh_2 group with Rh-PPh₃ catalysts led to the predominant formation of α -methyl aldehydes or alcohols. If the PPh₂ group was separated from the C=C double bond by only 1-3 CH₂ groups, alcohols were the main products but if this distance was 4 CH₂ groups hydroformylation stopped at the aldehyde stage [33]. The temporary incorporation of a coordinating phosphine residue [m-(Ph₂P)C₆H₄CO] into the tetracyclic phyllanthocin precursor (4a) directed the [(COD)RhOAc]₂catalyzed hydroformylation of (4b) largely to the desired C(3) position [34].

References p. 597



Catalyst systems composed of $[Rh_2(\mu - L)_2(CO)_4]$ and PR_3 (L = triazolate, benzotriazolate or tetrazolate) have been used for the hydroformylation of 1-hexene at $80^{\circ}C$ and 5 bar. In the case of the triazolate and benzotriazolate complexes catalytic activity decreased in the sequence $PPh_3 > P(OMe)_3 > P(OPh)_3$ whereas with L = tetrazolate the inverse order of reactivity was observed [35]. The complex $Rh_2(SBu^t)_2(CO)_2(L)_2$ containing the water soluble ligand L = $P(\underline{m}-C_6H_4SO_3Na)_3$ could be used as catalyst for the hydroformylation of olefins at $80^{\circ}C$ and 8 bar in water/organic two-phase systems both with CO + H_2 as reagent and with CO alone. In the latter case water served as a solvent and hydrogen source simultaneously [36].

Catalytic activity of $HRh(CO)(PPh_3)_3$ in hydroformylation of 1-hexene (80°C, 5 bar) increased on the addition of $Cp_2 2r(CH_2 PPh_2)_2$ or [Cp₂Zr(CH₂PPh₂)]₂O. The mixed-metal Rh-Zr complex [Cp₂Zr(CH₂PPh₂)₂RhH(CO)PPh₃] was prepared and found to be a very effective hydroformylation catalyst [37]; it was found to be more active than HRh(PPh3)4 and also the linear/branched aldehyde ratio was higher than with Rh alone [38]. The Rh oxometalates $[(Ph_3P)_2Rh(CO)(MeCN)]_4SiW_{12}O_{4O}$ and $[(Ph_3P)_2Rh(CO)]_4SiW_{12}O_{4O}$ catalyze hydroformylation of olefins and oxidation of aldehydes by air to carboxylic acids in toluene suspension. These complexes act therefore as bifunctional catalysts activating CO and H_2 on the Rh centers and 0_2 on the W centers [39]. The carbido clusters $Fe_4Rh_2C(CO)_{16}$ and $Ph_4P[Fe_3Rh_3C(CO)_{15}]$ were used as catalyst precursors for the hydroformylation of 1-pentene (100⁰C, 60 bar). The Fe₃Rh₃ cluster could be recovered after catalysis in 70-80% yield [40].

See also [24,37,60,89].

c) Other Metals as Catalysts

Hydroformylation of olefins was studied using $Tc_2(CO)_{10}$ or $Tc_2(CO)_{10} + PBu_3$ as catalysts. The technetium-phosphine system proved to be more active than Mn- or Re-based catalysts but was a poor catalyst compared with Co or Rh compounds [41].

Propene was hydroformylated at $70-110^{\circ}C$ and 10-20 bar using the cluster $(Et_4N)[HRu_3(CO)_{11}]$ as catalyst. Regioselectivity of the reaction depended on the solvent: in general ether solvents favored the formation of the linear aldehyde. Under optimum conditions 98.6% n-butanal was formed [42]. Hydroformylation (and consecutive hydrogenation) of internal olefins to give predominantly linear alcohols is catalyzed by Ru carbonyl "melt" catalysts, wherein the Ru carbonyls are dispersed in low melting point quaternary phosphinum salts. Mixed-metal catalysts composed of Ru and Co yield the corresponding aldehydes as the main products [43].

The $\underline{\operatorname{cis}} - [\operatorname{PtCl}_2(\operatorname{PPh}_3)_2] + \operatorname{SnCl}_2$ bimetallic system was used as catalyst for the hydroformylation of ethyl 3-butenoate; regiose-lectivity was 75-80% in favor of the linear aldehyde isomer (5). Ketones or aromatic hydrocarbons were the best solvents; in EtOH which strongly inhibits the reaction the acyl complex $\underline{\operatorname{trans}}$ -[PtCl $(\operatorname{COCH}_2\operatorname{CH}_2\operatorname{COOEt})(\operatorname{PPh}_3)_2$] was recovered [44].

 $CH_2 = CHCH_2COOEt \longrightarrow OHC(CH_2)_3COOEt + CH_3CHCH_2COOEt$

5

Hydroformylation of olefins with $LPtCl_2 + SnCl_2$ catalysts (L = 6,7) or their polymer-supported analogs showed that the rates were lower in the case of the polymer-supported catalysts. In the case of styrene, good optical yields were only observed at partial conversion and short reaction times because of consecutive racemization of the 1-phenylpropionyl aldehyde formed [45].



Hydroformylation of several olefins was carried out with the chiral catalysts $[(-)-BPPM]PtCl_2 + SnCl_2$ and $[(-)BPPM]Pt(SnCl_3)Cl$ at $60^{\circ}C$ and 200 bar. Enantioselectivities ranged between 70-85% but if the reaction was performed in triethyl orthoformate as solvent, enantiomerically pure (>98%) acetals were obtained [46]. Vinylidene esters of type (8) have been hydroformylated with the chiral catalyst [PtCl(SnCl_3)(R,R)-DIOP]. Highest optical induction (82%) was achieved in the case of (8; R = COOMe, R' = CH_2COOMe) [47].



See also [24,25,48,50,88].

d) Heterogeneous Systems (Supported Complexes)

Polymer-supported M_3 and M_4 (M = Ru, Os) and RuOs₃ anionic clusters were used as catalysts for the simultaneous hydrogenation and hydroformylation of 1-hexene. The supported clusters were more active than their homogeneous counterparts and Os clusters were more active than Ru clusters [48]. High activities and selectivities toward normal alcohols were achieved in the vapor-phase hydroformylation of ethene and propene on carbon-supported Ru-Co bimetallic catalysts derived from the mixed-metal clusters $H_3Ru_3Co(CO)_{12}$, $HRuCo_3(CO)_{12}$, and their Et_4N^+ salts. Reaction conditions were 172-194°C and 1 bar [49]. Hydroformylation of ethene and propene (160^oC, 1 bar) was carried out with catalysts prepared by impregnating SiO₂ gel with Rh, Fe, or bimetallic Rh-Fe carbonyl clusters. Catalysts prepared from $Rh_4(CO)_{12}$ or $[TMBA][Fe_3(CO)_{11}]$ (TMBA = trimethylbenzylammonium) showed negligible activity but hydroformylation activity was increased several hundred fold for catalysts derived from FeRh₅, FeRh₄, Fe₂Rh₄, and Fe₃Rh₂ carbonyl clusters [50].

Hydroformylation of propene was studied with $HRh(CO(PPh_3)_3)$ dissolved in liquid PPh₃ and condensed onto a porous support. Leaching of the catalyst was negligible. Propadiene inhibited the reaction [51]. Supported liquid-phase catalysts containing $HRh(CO)(PPh_3)_3$ dissolved in PPh₃ were used for the gas-phase hydroformylation of C_2-C_4 olefins [52]. Based on these bench-scale studies a large-scale SLPC plant for the hydroformylation of propene was designed [53].

Diphenylphosphine-substituted styrene oligomers were prepared and used as ligands for the Rh-catalyzed hydroformylation of propene. High selectivity for nPrCHO was achieved at lower P/Rh ratios than with PPh₃ [54]. Ethene was hydroformylated using a HRh(CO) (PPh₃)₃ liquid-phase catalyst supported on α -Al₂O₃. A stable activity level, which was highly dependent on the type of α -Al₂O₃, was reached in 24h on-stream time. Deactivation was probably caused by aldol products which leached out the catalyst [55].

Hydroformylation of 1-hexene using homogeneous catalysts and zeolite-supported Rh species was compared. The two systems behaved in most respects analogously: addition of phosphines reduced ole-fin isomerization and increased the amount of n-aldehyde, mercaptans acted as poisons except if large amounts of phosphine were present. The data suggest catalysis by dissolved or surface-bound Rh but are not consistent with intrazeolitic catalysis [56]. Zeo-lite-supported rhodium carbonyl catalysts were prepared from $Rh(allyl)_3$ and used for the hydroformylation of 1-hexene. The major conclusion drawn from the experimental results was that the observed activity has to be attributed to rhodium carbonyl complexes leached from the support and acting as homogeneous catalysts [57].

Rhodium complexes of sulfur-containing polymers prepared from poly(vinyl chloride) by partial substitution of the chlorine atoms with SR groups were found to be highly active catalysts for the hydroformylation of α -olefins at 60°C and 60 bar. The catalysts could be reused once again [58]. Several dirhodium complexes of the type (9) were anchored to diphenylphosphinated crosslinked polystyrene, to chloromethylated polystyrene, to silica and to alumina and used in this form as catalysts for the hydrogenation or hydroformylation of cyclohexene. Only minor metal leaching was observed and the catalysts could be reused ten times without structural changes [59].



9; R=Ph, p-substituted Ph

e) Modified Hydroformylations

Hydroformylation of a l-alkene in a co-suspension of polystyrene-bound $HRh(CO)(PPh_3)_3$ (10) and a polystyrene-bound Wittig--reagent (methylenetriphenylphosphorane; 11) resulted in the formation of a homologous series of aldehydes according to the schematic cycle of reactions shown below:



See also [45,60,83,88].

The composition of the aldehydes did not follow the Schultz-Flory distribution. No reaction was observed if soluble $HRh(CO)(PPh_3)_3$ was used instead of (10) [60]. Cross-hydrocarbonylation of acety-lenes with ethene, CO, and H₂ gives α, β -unsaturated ethyl ketones; the reaction is catalyzed by $Rh_4(CO)_{12}$ at 60 bar (H₂:CO = 5:1) and 90°C:

$$RC = CH + CH_2 = CH_2 + CO + H_2 - R_H > C = C < H_COEt$$

The reaction of terminal acetylenes proceeds with high stereo- and regioselectivity: the propionyl group will be linked to the less sterically hindered acetylenic carbon atom [61].

Hydroformylation of ethene with $CO + H_2O$ in basic solutions containing $Fe(CO)_5$ as a catalyst (Reppe hydroformylation) was found to be second order with respect to $Fe(CO)_5$ and inhibited by CO. The reaction between $EtCOFe(CO)_3$ and $HFe(CO)_4$ to produce EtCHO and $Fe_2(CO)_7^2$ was proposed as the rate-determining step. Propionaldehyde was the principal product if NaOH was used as the base, Et_3N facilitated the reduction to n-propanol [62].

See also [94].

3. Hydrocarbonylation (Homologation) of Alcohols, Aldehydes and Esters with CO + $\rm H_{2}$

Homologation of MeOH to EtOH by synthesis gas is catalyzed by $Mn_2(CO)_{10}$ in the presence of K formate at $200^{\circ}C$ and 200 bar according to the following stoichometry:

 $CH_3OH + 2 CO + H_2 \longrightarrow CH_3CH_2OH + CO_2$

The reaction between $Mn(CO)_5^-$ and methyl formate to form $MeMn(CO)_5^-$ is the rate-limiting step of the catalytic cycle. The catalyst is slowly deactivated due to the formation of Mn carbonate and Mn formate [63].

Hydrocarbonylation of PrOH, BuOH, and iPrCH₂OH using Co carbonyls as catalysts was studied [64]. Methanol was homologated to EtOH in dioxane as solvent using a silica-supported poly- γ -mercap-

topropylsiloxane-cobalt complex as catalyst. Conversion and selectivity were 88 and 89%, respectively [65]. The bi-, tri-, and quadridentate alkoxyethylphosphanes of the type $R_n P(CH_2CH_2OR')_{3-n}$ (R = Ph, Cy; R' = Me, iPr) were used as ligands in the hydrocarbonylation of methanol with CO + H₂, Co catalysts and I₂ promoter at $180^{\circ}C$ and 300 bar. CoI₂ was found to be a more active catalyst than Co(OAc)₂ but due to the formation of HI the alkoxy groups of the phosphines were gradually split off and this led to deactivation [66].

The homologation of ethanol has been studied in the presence of Co-Ru catalysts, Reaction conditions were selected such that propanol and its derivatives were the main poducts. Homologation proceeded at least partially via hydroformylation of an olefinic intermediate [67]. Homologation of nPrOH and iPrOH to butanols with CO + H₂ was performed with Co + Ru mixed catalysts at 180° C and 430 bar. Best selectivities for C₄ alcohols were obtained at Co:Ru ratios of about 6. Both propanols were transformed into nBuOH and iBuOH suggesting an olefinic intermediate [68]. The four butanols were converted into C₅ homologous alcohols by CO + H₂ in the presence of Co + Ru binary catalysts and I₂ promoter. The best results were obtained with a Co/Ru ratio of approximately 5; the reactivity of butanols increased in the order primary < secondary < tertiary. Olefins were supposed as intermediates also in this case [69].

Methane formation accompanies the homologation of MeOH to EtOH with Rh catalysts [70].

Hydroformylation of paraformaldehyde and aqueous formaldehyde to give glycolaldehyde was performed in acetone at $90-140^{\circ}C$ and 100-140 bar with selectivities up to 90% using $Rh_4(CO)_{12}$ as catalyst precursor and halides as promotors. The promotion ability of halides followed the trend Cl > I > Br > F [71]. Formaldehyde has been hydroformylated to glycolaldehyde with selectivities up to 95% with catalyst systems formed from $Rh_4(CO)_{12}$, a phosphine and an inorganic acid like HI or H_2SO_4 in DMF. Anionic species related to $[Rh_5(CO)_{14}(PPh_3)]^-$ were suggested as catalysts [72]. Paraformaldehyde has been hydroformylated to glycolaldehyde at 140 bar $CO_2 + H_2$ and $110^{\circ}C$ with selectivity up to 95% in acetone as solvent using a catalytic system composed of $[Rh(CO)_2Cl_2]^-$ and $[Rh_5(CO)_{15-x}(PPh_3)_x]^-$. A related catalyst system generated in situ from $Rh_4(CO)_{12}$, PPh₃,

and halide ions showed comparable behavior [73]. Rhodium(I) complexes in the presence of phosphine amides having the structure $PPh_2(CH_2)_2C(O)N(Me)R$ (R = Me, $nC_{18}H_{37}$) were used for the hydroformylation of formaldehyde to glycol aldehyde. Such catalyst systems gave glycol aldehyde selectivities above 90% and did not need the use of nucleophilic (high boiling) solvents thus making product separation and catalyst recovery feasible [74]. Hydroformylation of formaldehyde to give glycolaldehyde was achieved by using [$Rh(\mu - SBu^t)(CO)(PPh_3)$]₂ as catalyst in the presence of an excess of PPh₃ at 80°C and 50 bar CO + H₂. The main side reaction was hydrogenation to methanol. Selectivity for glycolaldehyde strongly depended on the solvent; best results were obtained with HMPA [75].

Ruthenium carbonyl iodide systems could be used effectively for the homologation of formic esters to produce a mixture of oxygenates rich in acetates. Activity of these systems did not decrease strongly by passing from Me to higher alkyl derivatives [76]. Methyl esters react with synthesis gas in the presence of a Co-Li catalyst formed in situ from $Co(OAc)_2.4H_2O$ and LiI at $180^{O}C$ and 350 bar to give anhydrous acetaldehyde and a carboxylic acid:

 $R-C_{OCH_3}^{0} + CO + H_2 \longrightarrow R-COOH + CH_3CHO$

Amines, especially NPh₃, enhance the rate. Acetaldehyde selectivity is above 95%. If Rh is used instead of Co, acetic anhydride and ethylidene diacetate are formed as byproducts [77]. Rhodium-based homogeneous catalysts were described for the homologation of esters under mild conditions (20-60 bars, 150-160^OC) according to the following two alternative stoichiometries [78]:

 $2RCOOR + 2CO + 2H_2 \longrightarrow RCOOCH_2R + 2RCOOH$ RCOOR + 2CO + 2H₂ \longrightarrow RCH₂COOH + RCOOH

A new catalyst system based on $Pd(OAc)_2$, MeI and Bu_4PI has been described for the hydrocarbonylation of methyl acetate to acetaldehyde:

 $CH_3COOCH_3 + CO + H_2 - CH_3COOH + CH_3CHO$

Reaction conditions were relatively mild, 160⁰C and 35-70 bar. Acetone and ethylidene diacetate were observed as byproducts [79].

See also [95].

4. Coordination Chemistry Related to Hydroformylation

It was proposed that activation of metal carbonyl catalysts in the hydroformylation reaction results from loss of a CO ligand accompanied by the change in spin state from singlet to triplet [80].

A kinetic study of the reaction of HCo(CO), with olefin giving $RCo(CO)_{4}$ at $-80^{\circ}C$ indicated that the loss of a CO ligand from $RCo(CO)_{1}$ to form $RCo(CO)_{2}$ is the slow step in low-temperature hydroformylation [81]. Infrared spectroscopic studies have shown that $YCCo_3(CO)_q$ (Y = H, Pr, Ph, Cl) complexes decompose under hydroformylation conditions (130°C, 40 bar CO + H_2) into Co₂(CO)₈ and $HCo(CO)_A$. Accordingly these latter species are the true catalysts if the above mentioned trinuclear complexes are applied as catalyst precursors [82]. According to IR and EXAFS data the structure of the cluster catalyst $Co_4(CO)_{10}(PPh)_2$ on SiO₂ was retained during hydroformylation of ethene at 130°C and 55 bar [83]. The formation of Rh carbonyl phosphine complexes active in hydroformylation from a Rh acetylacetonate complex was studied in situ by IR spectroscopy [84]. A catalytic cycle in which all the intermediate species are dinuclear has been put forward for the hydroformylation reaction catalyzed by $Rh_2(\mu - SR)_2(CO)_2L_2$ complexes (L = tertiary phosphines or phosphites). The proposal is based on experimental results and extended Hückel calculations [85]. The molecular structure of $Rh_2(\mu - SBu^t)_2 [(\mu - Ph_2PCH_2)_2Zr(Cp)_2](CO)_2$, a bimetallic species which is active as a hydroformylation catalyst, has been determined [86].

5. Water Gas Shift Reaction

The water gas shift reaction is catalyzed by $Fe(CO)_5$, $M(CO)_6$ (M = Cr, Mo, W), and $Co_2(CO)_8$ in water at $180-220^{\circ}C$ in the presence of alkali metal hydroxides, carbonates, or bicarbonates with a H₂ yield of at least 95%. Due to the formation of CO_2 , alkalinity of the system decreases and leads to a drop in catalytic activity; this can be compensated by increasing the temperature [87]. Os, Ir, and Ru complexes supported on zeolites were successfully used for hydroformylation, hydrogenation and the water gas shift reaction [88]. The water gas shift reaction, the reduction of nitrobenzene or unsaturated carbonyl compounds, and the hydroformylation of olefins was studied with $Rh_6(CO)_{16}$ + amine or py catalyst systems. With pyridines as additives, unsaturated carbonyl compounds were hydrogenated at the C=C bond while diamines promoted the reduction of the C=O bond. In hydroformylation, consecutive hydrogenation of the aldehydes formed was favored by high concentration of additives [89].

6. Reduction with $CO + H_2O$

Dialdehydes and diketones were reduced to the corresponding diols with $CO + H_2O$ in EtOH or $MeOCH_2CH_2OH$ at $180^{\circ}C$ and 4 bar using $Fe(CO)_5$ or $Rh_6(CO)_{16}$ as catalysts. Benzoquinone gave quantitatively hydroquinone under these conditions [90]. Quinolines were hydrogenated selectively in the N-containing ring with $CO + H_2O$ at $150^{\circ}C$ and 60 bar in the presence of $Rh_6(CO)_{16}$ as catalyst. Isoquinolines were converted under the same conditions into N-formyl--1,2,3,4-tetrahydroisoquinolines. The formylation reaction was attributed to the higher basicity of the tetrahydroisoquinolines in comparison with tetrahydroquinolines [91].

7. Miscellaneous Reductive Transformations of CO and CO2

n-Alkanes were regioselectively transformed under CO into aldehydes having one carbon atom more than the starting alkane, and 1-alkenes containing one carbon atom less with the simultaneous formation of acetaldehyde by photocatalysis in the presence of $Rh(CO)(PMe_3)_2Cl$:



The active species is presumably $Rh(PMe_3)_2Cl$ and the loss of catalytic activity with time is possibly due to the formation

of $[Rh(PMe_3)_2Cl]_2$ [92,93]. Ruthenium-iodide systems have been found to catalyze the reaction of olefins, CO, and alcohols at 190°C to give esters and ketones. Ionic iodides like NaI yielded only esters, formation of ketones was promoted by covalent iodides like MeI [94]. A reaction analogous to MeOH homologation was described: MeOSiEt₃ reacts with HSiEt in the presence of Co₂(CO)₈ under CO pressure (50 bar) and 180-220°C to yield - along with large amounts of methane and Et₃SiOSiEt₃ - a mixture of saturated and unsaturated $C_2^{-C_4}$ silyl ethers. The main products of homologation were CH_2 =CHOSiEt₃ and $CH_3CH_2OSiEt_3$ [95]. Acetylenes were selectively converted into furan-2(5H)-ones (12) under water gas shift conditions (100°C, 100 bar CO, H₂O, THF, Et₃N) with Rh₄(CO)₁₂ as catalyst. Asymmetrically substituted acetylenes afforded two furanone structural isomers (12a) and (12b) [96].



The $[Ru(bpy)_2(CO)_2]^{2+}/[Ru(bpy)_3]^{2+}/triethanolamine/DMF$ system reduces CO₂ to afford HCOO⁻ under irradiation of light. In this system, the Ru carbonyl complex (which exhibits no electronic absorption band in the visible region) acts as catalyst and the other Ru complex as photosensitizer [97]. Mechanistic studies of the photoinduced reduction of CO₂ to CO mediated by ReBr(CO)₃(bpy) in triethanolamine/DMF solvent mixtures were reported. The primary photoreduction product was [ReBr(CO)₃(bpy)]⁻; its formation was inhibited by water or EtOH [98].

The controlled potential electrolysis of a CO_2 -saturated H_2O/DMF solution containing $[Ru(bpy)_2(CO)_2]^{2+}$ or $[Ru(bpy)_2(CO)C1]^+$ produces CO. If the solution is alkaline (pH 9.5) HCOO⁻ is also formed [99]. The selectivity of the formation of formate in electrochemical reduction of CO_2 catalyzed by $[Ru(bpy)_2(CO)_2]^{2+}$ in MeCN solution was found to increase with increasing pK_a value of the proton source. Best results were achieved with $Me_2NH.HCl$ and PhOH [100]. In the presence of Me_2NH and $Me_2NH.HCl$ probably a carbamoyl Ru(II) complex is an intermediate of the reaction [101]. The complexes $[Pd(triphos)L](BF_4)$ (L = MeCN, $P(OME)_3$,

 PEt_3 , $P(CH_2OH)_3$ and PPh_3 were shown to catalyze the electrochemical reduction of CO_2 to CO. Based on kinetic studies a mechanism for the reduction of CO_2 was proposed [102].

Group 6 metal pentacarbonyl chlorides $(CO)_5MCl^-$ and bridging hydrides $[HM_2(CO)_{10}]^-$ (M = Cr, Mo, W) have been found to be effective homogeneous catalyst precursors for the synthesis of formate esters from alkyl halides, CO_2 and H_2 in the presence of alkali metal carbonates at $150^{\circ}C$ and 40 bar:

 $RX + CO_2 + H_2$ - NaY - HCOOR + NaX + HY

Selectivities were above 70%; main byproducts were the corresponding alcohols [103].

III. Hydrogenation and Reduction

1. H Exchange, D and T Labeling

Selective tritiation of the dodecatrienoate (13) was accomplished by transforming it into complex (14) and hydrogenating the latter with ${}^{3}\text{H}_{2}$ in the presence of $\text{Rh}(\text{PPh}_{3})_{3}$ Cl. Decomplexation with Ce⁴⁺ afforded the desired product (15) [104].



14

Highly regioselective ortho tritiation of arylcarboxylic acids and of arylcarboxamides could be achieved in a single step by $RhCl_{3}^{-}$ catalyzed exchange with tritiated water [105].

See also [183].

- 2. Hydrogenation of Olefins
- a) General

Homogeneous Pd complexes with S ligands were found to be 50-500 times more resistant to poisoning by thiophene in hydrogenation than complexes containing N ligands [106]. EXAFS investigation of homogeneous hydrogenation catalysts prepared by reduction of Ni and Fe acetylacetonates with AlEt₃ or GaEt₃ revealed the formation of amorphous metal carbide-like clusters [107].

Yb Complex catalyst see [253]. See also [166].

b) Ti and V Catalysts

The silica-supported titanium complex $[SIL-(CH_2)_3C_5H_4]_2TiCl_2$ is, after reduction with BuLi, an efficient and selective catalyst for the hydrogenation of 1-alkenes; it is more active and more selective toward 1-alkenes than the homogeneous analogues Cp_2TiCl_2 + BuLi, $(MeC_5H_4)_2TiCl_2$ + BuLi, and $[(MeO)_3Si(CH_2)_3C_5H_4]_2TiCl_2$ + BuLi [108]. Olefins were hydrogenated with homogeneous or supported catalysts obtained from BuLi and either $CpTiCl_2OC_6H_4R$ (R = H,Me, NO₂,Cl) or $CpTiCl_3$ -alumina-silica gel reaction products. Activity of the catalysts increased with increasing donor propoerties of the ligands [109].

The V(II) complex CpVPr(dmpe) catalyzes the slow hydrogenation of olefins at room temperature [110].

See also [162].

c) Fe, Ru and Os Catalysts

Homogeneous gas-phase mixtures of ethene, H_2 , and a catalytic amount of $Fe(CO)_5$ are transformed into active hydrogenation systems upon irradiation by near-UV light. The absorbed light generates a reservoir of $Fe(CO)_3(C_2H_4)_2$ which thermally dissociates and yields the active catalyst, $Fe(CO)_3(C_2H_4)$. The catalytic process is efficient in light with quantum yields (ethane per photon absorbed) around 20 [111].

Hydrogenation of cyclohexene catalyzed by different Ru(II)and Ru(III) complexes containing trichlorostannato and $NH(CH_2CH_2PPh_2)_2$ ligands was studied. Based on kinetic and NMR measurements it was concluded that the active catalyst was in all cases a Ru(II)-monohydride [112]. The Ru complex (16) catalyzes the hydrogenation of olefins at $80^{\circ}C$ and 20 bar [113].



Hydrogenation of styrene is catalyzed by $H_3Os_4(CO)_{12}$, $H_4Os_4(CO)_{12}$, $[H_2Os_4(CO)_{12}I]^-$, and $[H_3Os_4(CO)_{12}]^-$ in decalin solution at $140^{\circ}C$. Kinetic and spectroscopic evidence indicates that these tetranuclear clusters are not directly involved in the catalytic cycle but undergo fragmentation to produce low concentrations of lower nuclearity (probably mononuclear) species which are responsible for the observed catalytic activity [114].

See also [48,88,165].

d) Rh and Ir Catalysts

Olefins were hydrogenated using pentamethylcyclopentadienyl complexes of Rh as catalysts in the presence of pyrazole or methylpyrazoles as additional ligands and Et_3N as a base. The complex $([\text{Rh}(\text{C}_5\text{Me}_5)(\text{dimethyl pyrazole})]_2(\mu - \text{OH})_2(\text{ClO}_4)_2$ was found to be an effective hydrogenation catalyst also in the absence of base [115]. The catalytic activity of Rh complexes of Me methacrylate and 2-vinylpyridine copolymers in hydrogenation of olefins increased with increasing contents of Me methacrylate triads in the copolymer [116]. The Rh(III) complex [Rh(2,2'-biquinoline)Cl_2]Cl catalyzes the hydrogenation of olefins in alkaline MeOH solution but is in-active for the hydrogenation of nitro compounds [117]. Dicyano olefins NC-A-CN react with Rh(CO)(PPh_3)_2(ClO_4) to give the dinuclear cationic complexes [(PPh_3)_2(CO)RhNC-A-CNRh(CO)(PPh_3)_2](ClO_4)_2 which are active catalysts for the hydrogenation of these dicyano olefins at 100°C (NC-A-CN = e.g. trans-NCCH=CHCH₂CH₂CN) [118]. The tetragonal coordination polymer $[Rh(diisocyanobiphenyl)_2^+Cl^-]_n$ was tested as a catalyst for the hydrogenation of l-hexene. The rather low catalytic activity could be increased by prehydrogenation. No evidence was found for homogeneous catalysis or metallic Rh particles [119]. Linear free energy relationships were successfully applied to alkene hydrogenations catalyzed by $[Rh(cyclooctene)_2Cl]_2 + 2-(N-alkylamino)pyridine and to <math>[Rh(cyclohexene)_2Cl]_2 + para-sub-stituted triphenylphosphine catalyst systems [120].$

The catalytic hydrogenation activity of $\mathrm{HRh}(\mathrm{PPh}_3)_4$ and $\mathrm{HRh}(\mathrm{CO})(\mathrm{PPh}_3)_3$ was found to be significantly influenced by the addition of phenyldibenzophosphole (DBP). The rate of hexene-1 hydrogenation increased in the case of $\mathrm{HRh}(\mathrm{PPh}_3)_4$ as catalyst while $\mathrm{HRh}(\mathrm{CO})(\mathrm{PPh}_3)_3$ was completely deactivated by already relatively small amounts (0.5 mole/mole) of DBP [121]. The cationic Rh complexes $[\mathrm{Rh}(\mathrm{COD})\mathrm{L}_2]^+(\mathrm{OTs})^-$ (L = $\mathrm{Ph}_2\mathrm{P}(\mathrm{CH}_2)_n\mathrm{PPh}_2$, n = 2,3,4, or L = (-)-DIOP) catalyze the hydrogenation of 1-heptene and Z- α -acetamidocinnamic acid. The tosylate anion increases the activity of the catalysts [122].

The mixture of dihydrides obtained in the reaction of H_2 with the water-soluble Rh(I) complex RhCl(TPPTS)₃ (TPPTS = $P(\underline{m}-C_6H_4SO_3Na)_3$ showed a very low catalytic activity for the hydrogenation of cyclopentene [123]. The complexes Rh(COD)Cl(L) (I), [Rh(COD)(DAB)(L)](ClO₄) (II), and $[H_2Rh(DAB)(L)_2](ClO_4)$ (III) (L = $P(C_6H_4F-\underline{p})_3$, DAB = H_2NN =C(Me)C(Me)=NNH₂) were tested as catalysts for the hydrogenation of l-hexene. Complex (III) was found to be the most active, complex (I) showed an induction period [124]. The complex $[Rh_2(COD)CH(PPh_2)_3]$ (CF₃SO₃)₂.Me₂CO which contains two neighboring, coordinatively unsaturated Rh atoms catalyzes the hydrogenation of hexene-1. The rate of hydrogenation increased fivefold if one equivalent of PPh₃ was added to the reaction mixture [125]. The catalytic activity of the complexes HRh(CO)L₃ (L = 17) in hydrogenation of allylbenzene was found to be related to their NMR parameters [126].

$$\left(R \xrightarrow{S}_{3} P$$
 17; R = H, tBu, Me₃Si

The possibility to study homogeneously catalyzed reactions under reaction gas chromatographic conditions was demonstrated. Hydrogenation of alkenes with $Rh(PPh_3)_3CI$ as catalyst and the aldol condensation of propionaldehyde were used as examples [127]. Homogeneous hydrogenation catalysts were prepared from Rh(I) complexes and phosphines of type PPh_2R based on polyethylene. These catalysts were shown to have about 80% of the activity of $Rh(PPh_3)_3CI$ in the hydrogenation of various alkenes. The complexes dissolved at $90-100^{\circ}C$ in hydrocarbons solvents but quantitatively precipitated and thus could be recovered at $25^{\circ}C$ [128]. Attachment of $HRh(CO)(PPh_3)_3$ to phosphinated styrene-divinylbenzene polymers leads to complete loss of CO and H ligands; these species show catalytic activity in the hydrogenation of cyclohexene under room conditions [129].

Complexes of the composition MCl(L) (M = Rh, Ir; L = $HN(CH_2CH_2AsPh_2)_2$ were used as catalysts for the hydrogenation of cyclohexene. The activation parameters were determined [130]. The complexes $[M(L)(CO)(PPh_3)_2](ClO_4)$ (M = Rh, Ir) and $[H_2Ir(L)(CO)(PPh_3)_2](ClO_4)$ (L = <u>trans</u>-PhCH=CHCN, cinnamonitrile) show a low catalytic activity for the hydrogenation of cinnamonitrile [131]. The 1,4-dicyanobutene-bridged binuclear Ir complexes $[(CO)(PPh_3)_2$ IrLIr(PPh_3)_2(CO)](ClO_4)_2 (L = <u>cis</u>- or <u>trans</u>-1,4-dicyanobutene-1 or <u>trans</u>-1,4-dicyanobutene-2) catalyze the hydrogenation of the corresponding free ligands to 1,4-dicyanobutane at $100^{\circ}C$ [132].

See also [88,166,198,199]

e) Ni, Pd and Pt Catalysts

Supported Ziegler catalysts prepared by the reaction of Ni(II) 2-ethylhexanoate with Al_2O_3 -SiO₂ treated with $AlEt_3$ or $NaAlH_2$ $(OCH_2CH_2OMe)_2$ were found to be efficient catalysts for the hydrogenation of simple alkenes [133]. Homogeneous hydrogenation of styrene to ethylbenzene is catalyzed by the complexes [M(PNP)Cl]Cl.L (M = Ni, Pd, Pt; PNP = 1,1-bis(diphenylphosphino)-2,6-diaminopyri $dine; L = H_2O or EtOH [134].$

Catalysts obtained by complexing Pd with Schiff bases prepared from γ -aminopropyl silica and heterocyclic aldehydes, were used for hydrogenation of allylbenzene in MeOH solution in the presence

of NaBH₄ [135]. Catalysts prepared by supporting the Pd complex of poly- γ -(<u>m</u>-diphenylphosphinophenyl)propylsiloxane or poly- γ diphenylphosphinoundecylsiloxane on Si-Mg adsorbent, Al₂O₃, or SiO₂ were used for the hydrogenation of olefins. The activity of the catalysts decreased with increasing P:Pd ratio [136].

The complex $Pt_2(\mu - SPr^i)(\mu - C1)Cl_2(PPr_3)_2$ showed only little catalytic activity in the hydrogenation of styrene at 70°C and 50 bar. Its activity was, however, significantly increased if 2-10 equivalents of $SnCl_2.2H_2O$ were added [137]. Supported Pt(II) phosphine complexes based on modified polystyrenes have been employed in the $SnCl_2$ co-catalyzed hydrogenation of styrene. The heterogenized catalysts could be reused upon addition of fresh $SnCl_2$ [138].

See also [177, 203, 204].

3. Asymmetric Hydrogenation of Olefins

The titanocene derivative $C_{p_2}^{\bigstar} \text{TiCl}_2$ containing the enantiomerically pure ligand $Cp^{\bigstar} = (+)-$ or (-)-(18) was prepared and used as catalyst for enantioselective hydrogenation of the prochiral simple alkenes (19) and (20). Optical yields up to 95-96% were achieved at low temperatures $(-75^{\circ}C)$ [139].



The unsaturated carboxylic acids $tBuC(=CH_2)COOH$ and tBuC(Me)=CHCOOH were hydrogenated to the (R) enantiomers of the corresponding saturated carboxylic acids with 22-31% o.y. using $H_4Ru_4(CO)_8[(-)-DIOP]_2$ as catalyst [140]. Asymmetric hydrogenation of unsaturated carboxylic acids not containing an amide or a related group was achieved using Ru(II)-BINAP complexes as catalysts. Both α,β - and β,γ -unsaturated carboxylic acids (e.g. 21 and 22) could be hydrogenated with high optical yields (97% and 88%) at room temperature and 4-135 bar [141].



Enantioselective hydrogenation of allylic and homoallylic alcohols was achieved with high optical yields (above 96%) with $Ru(BINAP)(OOCR)_2$ (R = Me, tBu) complexes as catalysts. The method 'was succesfully used for the hydrogenation of geraniol (24), nerol (25), homogenariol (26), and the alcohol (27); depending on the configuration of the chiral phosphine it was suitable for the synthesis of both saturated enantiomers [142].



The enamides (28) were asymmetrically hydrogenated to the chiral tetrahydropyridine derivatives (29) using $Ru(L)(OOCCF_3)_2$ (L = (S)-tolbinap; 30) as catalyst at 30°C and 100 bar (chemical yield 100%, o.y. 97%) [143].



Itaconic acid (31) and related unsaturated dicarboxylic acids were asymmetrically hydrogenated with good optical yields using Ru-BINAP complexes as catalysts. Citraconic acid (32) and mesaconic acid (33) were, however, hardly hydrogenated; optical yields were much poorer also if the methyl esters of the dicarboxylic acids were used as substrates [144].



Asymmetric hydrogenation of unsaturated substituted hydantoins (34; R = iPr, Ph, p-substituted Ph) by $(Ph_3P)Co(dmg)_2$ or $(Bu_3P)Co(dmg)_2$ in the presence of chiral 2-quinuclidinecarboxamides (35; R' = OEt, NHMe, and different chiral amino groups) was examined. Maximum optical yield was 82%; the results suggest that the chiral base acts as a proton donor [145].



Asymmetric hydrogenation of methyl-(Z)- α -acetamidocinnamate (mac) catalyzed by [Rh(dipamp)]⁺ has been examined. It was concluded that the predominant (S) enantiomer product is derived from the minor (less stable) [Rh(dipamp)(mac)]⁺ adduct by virtue of its much higher reactivity towards H₂. The inverse dependence of o.y. on H₂ partial pressure was shown to be due to the rapid reaction of H₂ with the diastereomeric adducts which inhibits their interconversion [146]. Trisubstituted acrylic acids (36) were hydrogenated with high enantioselectivity (92-98%) to the corresponding (S)-carboxylic acids (37) using catalysts prepared in situ from

 $[Rh(NBD)Cl]_2$, AgBF₄, and the chiral (aminoalkyl)ferrocenylphosphine ligands (38). Interaction between the dialkylamino group of the ligand and the carboxy group of the substrate are thought to be responsible for the high enantioselectivity [147].



3-Substituted racemic itaconate esters (39, R = Me, Et, Ph, OMe) were hydrogenated in two steps to yield both enantiomers of the 3-substituted 2-methyl succinic esters (40) and (41). First, the racemic substrate was partially hydrogenated with $[Rh(dipamp)(NBD)]^+$ as catalyst to give the (S,S)-enantiomer (40) as the main product and then the remaining (kinetically resolved) substrate was hydrogenated with $[Rh(dppb)(NBD)]^{2+}$ as catalyst to produce the (R,R)-enantiomer (41) [148].



Unusually strong effects of H_2 pressure and Et_3N on the optical yields in asymmetric hydrogenation of itaconic acid catalyzed by cationic Rh(I) complexes of (42) were observed [149].



Monodehydropeptides with the dehydroamino acid fragment in the C-terminal or N-terminal position were asymmetrically hydrogenated using chiral Rh complexes as catalysts [150]. The kinetics of hydrogenation of Z- α -acetamidocinnamic acid with [Rh(COD)L₂] ($O_3SC_6H_4Me-p$) (L₂ = Ph₂P(CH₂)_nPPh₂, n = 2-4; or (-)-DIOP) were determined. The results support a mechanism according to which the catalyst first coordinates the olefinic substrate [151].

The unnatural labeled amino acids N-acetyl-D- $(2,3-^{3}H)-3-(2-naphthyl)$ alanine and N-acetyl-D- $(3-^{14}C)-3-(2-naphthyl)$ alanine were synthesized by asymmetric hydrogenation of their dehydro analogs using Rh(I) catalysts with (S,S)-BPPM as chiral ligand [152]. The ^{14}C -labeled D-alanine derivative (43) was prepared by asymmetric hydrogenation of the corresponding dehydro amino acid using the chiral catalyst Rh(I)-BPPM [153].



43

Asymmetric hydrogenation of the dehydroamino acid derivative (44) with Rh(I) phosphine catalysts was investigated using several different chiral phosphines as ligands. The highest enrichment for the (R) enantiomer of (45) was obtained with (S,S)-chiraphos, the highest enrichment for the (S) enantiomer with (R,R)-dipamp (46) [154].



The new polydentate chiral phosphines (47-50, An = <u>o</u>-anisyl) were prepared and used as ligands in homogeneous asymmetric hydrogenation with Rh(I) complexes. Ligand (47) was about as effective as dipamp in the hydrogenation of α -(acetylamino)acrylic acids [155].



Rhodium(I) complexes of the chiral phospholanes (51,52) were used as catalysts for asymmetric hydrogenation of α -acetamidocinnamic acid. Highest o.y. was 17% [156].



51; R = Me, CH_2Ph

52

The chiral bisphosphines (53-56) were prepared starting from mannitol and iditol. Homogeneous hydrogenation of acylated dehydroamino acids and esters using Rh(I) complexes formed in situ from $[Rh(NBD)_2]^{\dagger}$ and these diphosphines furnished the corresponding amino acid derivatives with optical yields below 44% [157].





The new chiral monophosphines (57) and (58) were prepared and used as ligands for enantioselective hydrogenation of (Z)- α -acet-amidocinnamic acid with Rh(I) complex catalysts. Optical yields were below 30% [158].



The two new diphenylphosphinites (59) and (60) prepared from D-glucose and D-xylose, respectively, were used in the form of their Rh(I) complexes in asymmetric hydrogenation of Z- α -acet-amidocinnamic acid. The complex of (59) afforded (R)-, while the complex of (60) afforded (S)-N- α -acetylphenylalanine; best optical yield was 90% at -15^oC [159].



The unusual chiral bisphosphine (61) has been prepared and used as ligand in asymmetric hydrogenation of acetylated dehydroamino acids and their esters with Rh(I) complexes as catalysts. Optical yields ranged between 82 and 98% [160].



Rh(I)-phosphine complex catalysts prepared in situ from $[Rh(COD)(OOCR)]_2$ (with (+)-N-acetylphenylalanine as chiral carboxylato ligand) and different mono- and diphosphines gave catalytic systems with low enantioselectivity (optical yields 5-10%) for the hydrogenation of Z-a-acetamidocinnamic acid [161].

See also [122].

4. Hydrogenation of Dienes and Alkynes

The 1:1 complex of titanocene and tolane catalyses the hydrogenation of alkenes and alkynes to saturated hydrocarbons [162]. Canole oil was hydrogenated using mixtures of $(PhCOOMe)Cr(CO)_3$ and a heterogeneous Ni catalyst. At certain Cr:Ni ratios high reaction rates and low concentrations of <u>trans</u> isomers in the products were achiewed [163]. The reaction between $HMn(CO)_5$ and conjugated diolefins gives allylmanganese pentacarbonyls and - usually as minor products - monoolefins. This latter hydrogenation reaction is the predominant process with 1,3-cyclohexadiene. CIDNP effects observed suggest that radical pairs are formed as intermediates [164]. The complex [HRu(COD)(PMe_2Ph)_3](PF_6) catalyzes the hydrogenation of alkenes and alkynes. The reactions are hydrogen diffusion-controlled. Addition of PMe_2Ph decreases the catalytic activity for alkene hydrogenation; in the presence of 2 moles of phosphine only hydrogenation of alkynes can be observed [165].

Performing hydrogenation of alkynes or alkenes with H_2 enriched in para hydrogen a CIDNP effect was observed with $[Rh_3Cl_2H_2(CO)_2((Ph_2PCH_2)_2PPh)_2]^+$ as catalyst although the reaction does not involve radical species as intermediates. It was shown that such an effect should be observed with para hydrogen-enriched H_2 in those cases when hydrogenation occurs via pairwise transfer

of H atoms [166]. Acrylonitrile-butadiene copolymers were hydrogenated with Rh(PPh₂)₂Cl as catalyst. Kinetic and spectral results were consistent with a mechanism in which the interaction of the catalyst with the C=C bond was the rate-determining step. Interaction of nitrile groups with the catalyst inhibited the reaction [167]. Olefins and polyenes were hydrogenated in an organic-water two-phase system using a catalyst prepared from RhCl₂.3H₂O and triphenyl phosphine meta-trisulfonate (a ligand already industrially used for the two-phase hydroformylation of olefins), Qualitative studies suggested that the actual catalyst is not an analogue of Rh(PPh₃)₃Cl but rather a colloidal dispersion of the ligand and yet unidentified Rh salts [168]. A series of supported Rh catalysts were prepared from [Rh(COD)Cl], and styrene-divinylbenzene copolymers, functionalized with different amounts of phosphine groups, and were tested for the selective hydrogenation of dienes and acetylene. Partial hydrogenation of dienes was favored by an increase of the steric hindrance around the metal [169]. The chiral l-alkynyl p-tolyl (+)-(S)-sulfoxides (62, $R = C_3-C_6$ n-alkyl, Me_3Si) were stereospecifically hydrogenated to the corresponding (E)-alkenyl sulfoxides (63) using Rh(PPh₃)₃Cl as catalyst in benzene. Reduction with $LiAlH_A$ gave the isomeric (Z)-alkenyl sulfoxides [170].



1,4-Cyclohexadiene was selectively hydrogenated to cyclohexene using a homogeneous Ni catalyst generated from Ni(acac)₂, Et₃Al₂Cl₃, and PPh₃ in an aromatic hydrocarbon as solvent at 40°C and 1 bar [171] or with Ni(acac)₂ + Al₂Et₃Cl₃ catalysts anchored to phosphinated polystyrenes [172]. The complex CpNiRu₃(μ -H)₃ catalyzes the hydrogenation of linear or cyclic dienes to monoenes. The cluster remains intact during the catalytic reaction [173]. Chelates of Pd, Rh, Ru, Co, or Ni chlorides with polyethyleneimine or polytriethyleneimine after reduction with NaBH₄ catalyze the hydrogenation of 1,3-pentadiene to pentane and isomeric pentenes. The reduction of these chelates with H₂ (5 bar, 85°C) also yields hydrogenation catalysts which, however, are less active [174].

Hydrogenation of unsaturated phopholipids by Pd di(sodium alizarine monosulfonate) proceeds rapidly under room conditions. The hydrogenation of polyunsaturated fatty acids gives a variety of natural and unsatural positional <u>cis</u> and <u>trans</u> isomers which are hydrogenated to saturated acids at longer reaction times [175]. Hydrogenation of 1,3-pentadiene over Pd complexes with macroporous anion exchangers gave in some cases monoolefins with loo% selectivity; n-pentane was observed only after the first step was complete [176]. The Pd(II) acetate complex of 2,2'-dipyridylmethane supported on polystyrene-divinilbenzene is an efficient catalyst for the hydrogenation of alkenes and alkynes [177].

Complex catalysts prepared from H_2PtCl_6 by reacting it with aliphatic amines and then with (iBu)₂AlH or Et₃Al were used to hydrogenate 1-hexene, 1,3-pentadiene and 3-heptyne to the corresponding alkanes [178].

See also [200, 204].

5. Hydrogenation of Arenes and Heterocyclic Compounds

Aniline was hydrogenated to cyclohexylamine using $Ru(OH)Cl_3$ as catalyst at 90-120^OC and 20-100 bar. Cyclohexanol was also formed [179].

The catalyst system $Co(acac)_2 + Et_2Al(acac)$ was more active than $Co(acac)_2 + Et_3Al$ for the hydrogenation of benzene but less active for the hydrogenation of styrene [180]. Hydrogenation of coal-oil phenol under mild conditions with $Co(acac)_3 + Et_3Al +$ $+ Al_3O_3$ catalyst gave cyclohexanol with high yields even in the presence of other aromatic compounds. The alumina support increased the activity of the catalyst [181]. Partial hydrogenation of N-substituted 3-carbamoylpyridinium salts (64; R = benzyl or iPr) was achieved by (py)Co(dmg)_2Cl in MeOH at room temperature. Main products were the dihydropyridines (65) and no overreduction to tetrahydropyridines (66) was observed in the presence of NaHCO₃ [182].



The ion pair generated from $RhCl_3$. $3H_2O$ and Aliquat 336 in an aqueous-organic two-phase medium was shown to catalyze the hydrogenation of arenes at $30^{\circ}C$ and atmospheric pressure under apparently homogeneous conditions. Sterically hindered benzenes yielded both cyclohexane and cyclohexene derivatives. Deuteration of arenes was found to be associated with both side-chain and ring-proton H-D exchange. Water proved to be essential for the reduction [183]. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and some of their derivatives were shown to undergo partial hydrogenation in the presence of $RhCl_3$ -Aliquat 336 as catalyst. Chlorine and bromine substituents underwent hydrogenolysis when attached to the reacting moieties but remained unaffected when located on non-reacting aromatic rings [184].

The reactivity of arenes in hydrogenation with a Ni(acac)₂ + LiAlH₄ catalyst increased in the following order: benzene < biphenyl < chrysene < naphthalene < phenanthrene < anthracene [185]. See also [198].

6. Hydrogenation of Carbonyl Compounds

The neutral complex $H_4 Ru(PPh_3)_3$ was shown to be a more active catalyst for hydrogenation of cyclohexanone to cyclohexanol and of 9-methylanthracene to its octahydro derivative than the anionic complex $[H_3Ru(PPh_3)_3]^-$ earlier described for these reactions. $H_4Ru(PPh_3)_3$ reacts with cyclohexanone also stoichiometrically to yield cyclohexanol and $H_2Ru(PPh_3)_3$; latter complex reacts with H_2 to regenerate the tetrahydride thus closing the catalytic cycle [186]. Hydrogenation of benzophenone using polyhydride complexes of tris(triphenylphosphine)ruthenium as catalyst has been studied. Six stoichiometric reactions were found to constitute a complex set of interconnected catalytic cycles; transformation of Ph_2CO into Ph_2CHOH takes place simultaneously over three different pathways [187]. Asymmetric hydrogenation of β -keto carboxylic esters to β -hydroxy esters was carried out using Ru(BINAP)X₂ complexes (X = C1,Br,I) as catalysts at 25^oC and 100 bar in MeOH solution. Optical yields were in the range of 95-99% [188]. The Ru(II) complex (67) catalyzes the hydrogenation of acetaldehyde to ethanol at 150^oC and 44 bar in toluene solution [189].



 α , β -Unsaturated ketones have been hydrogenated to saturated ketones using Ru₂(DIOP)₃Cl₄ or HRuL₂Cl (L = 68) as catalysts at 50-80^oC and 4-40 bar. Reasonable optical yields were achieved with cyclic ketones; the best value was 62% [190].



The rate of hydrogenation of benzil catalyzed by the $(L)Co(dmg)_2$ + quinine system was increased by increasing the basicity of the axial ligand L and by increasing H₂ pressure without affecting enantioselectivity. Chirality at Co (induced by substituting one Me group of the dmgH ligand by a Ph group) did not affect optical selectivity [191]. Benzil was hydrogenated with $[Co(LH)]^+$ (LH₂ = 69) as catalyst in water/n-propanol mixtures at different pH values. In the presence of py the rate of hydrogenation decreased with increasing pH which was attributed to the deprotonation of $[HCo(LH)(py)]^+$, an intermediate of the catalytic cycle [192]. If no py was present rate of hydrogenation increased with increasing pH probably because of the coordination of OH^- as axial ligand to $[HCo(LH)]^+$ [193].



69

Optical yields and reaction rates achieved in the asymmetric hydrogenation of ketopantolactone (70) using $[Rh(COD)C1]_2$ and the bisphosphines (71) support the conclusion that the CH_2PR_3 group in position C2 is mainly responsible for the optical yield while the PR'_2 group in position C4 mainly influences the rate of hydrogenation [194].



The chiral bisphosphine (72) was also tested in the Rh(I) complex-catalyzed asymmetric hydrogenation of ketopantolactone (70). Both rate and o.y. were higher (72%) than in the case of DIOP [195].



The new chiral pyrrolidinebisphosphines (73) were synthesized and used as ligands in asymmetric hydrogenation of the α -keto ester MeCOCOOMe and the α -keto acetal MeCOCH(OMe)₂ with Rh(I) complexes as catalysts. Best optical yields were achieved with ligand (73a) in the case of the keto ester (87%) and with ligand (73d) in the case of the keto acetal (75%) [196].


The complexes $[Ir(\underline{trans}-CH_3CH=CHCHO)(CO)(PPh_3)_2]Clo_4$ and $Ir(Clo_4)(CO)(PPh_3)_2$ catalyze the hydrogenation of $\underline{trans}-CH_3CH=CHCHO$ and $CH_2=CHCHO$, respectively, to the corresponding saturated aldehydes. The analogous complex containing the ligand $\underline{trans}-C_6H_5CH=CHCHO$ is, however, inactive [197].

See also [89, 96, 204].

7. Hydrogenation of Nitro Compounds

The ion pair formed from aqueous $RhCl_3$ and Aliquat 336 catalyzes the selective hydrogenation of olefinic C=C bonds of unsaturated aromatic or aliphatic nitro compounds in a two liquid phase system at 30°C. Nitrobenzene gives, under these conditions, a mixture of aniline and nitrocyclohexane [198]. The binuclear Rh(I) complex $[Rh_2Cl_2(COD)_2(phenazine)]$ catalyzes the hydrogenation of alkenes and aromatic nitro compounds in the presence of NaBH₄ in DMF [199].

Conjugated double bonds and nitro groups were hydrogenated in benzene solution with trans-[(PhCH2CN)2PdCl2] as catalyst [200]. Hydrogenation of aromatic and aliphatic nitro compounds was studied using trans-Pd2L2X2 and trans-PdLL'Cl complexes as catalysts (LH = 2-benzoylpyridine, 2-benzylpyridine, PhCH₂NMe₂; L' = py, 2-picoline, 3,3-lutidine, PPh₂; X = OAc, Cl). Hydrogenation was best performed in DMF [201]. Palladium complexes supported on quaternary ammonium group-containing polystyrene resin showed good activity and selectivity in the hydrogenation of nitrobenzene. Activity of the catalysts decreased in the following order of Pd complexes: $PdCl_{4}^{2-} > PdBr_{4}^{2-} > PdI_{4}^{2-}$ [202]. Palladium complexes of poly ω -diphenylphosphinoalkylsiloxanes were prepared and used as catalysts for the hydrogenation of olefins and nitrobenzene [203]. The Pd(II) and Pt(II) complexes of azobenzene were used as catalysts for the hydrogenation of nitroaromatics, alkenes, alkynes, and aromatic carbonyl compounds in DMF solution. Anilines (im some cases phenylhydroxylamines), alkanes and alcohols were the products. The actual catalytic species was probably a hydrazo complex containing a metal-carbon bond [204].

See also [89],

8. Miscellaneous Hydrogenations

Complex (74) catalyzes the hydrogenation of methyl bromoacetate to methyl acetate under room conditions. Turnover numbers are, however, very low (2.5-4) [205].



Alkoxy-substituted cyclic amides (75) are hydrogenolyzed under hydroformylation conditions with $Co_2(CO)_8$ as catalyst to the corresponding unsubstituted amides (76) [206].



The C=N double bond in (77) and analogous compounds was hydrogenated stoichiometrically using Na[Co(dmg)(py)], or catalytically with H_2 in the presence of the glyoximato Co complexes (78) and quininium salts. In the latter case enantioselectivity was observed and optical yields ranged between 5 and 20% [207].



Imines were hydrogenated at room temperature and 1 bar H_2 using Rh(PPh₃)₃Cl or [Rh(PPh₃)₂(diene)]PF₆ complexes as catalysts in alcohols as solvents. A water-Et₂O phase-transfer system was used in the case of a solid imine [208].

See also [70, 184].

9. Dehydrogenation

Dehydrogenative coupling of primary organosilanes is catalyzed by Cp₂TiMe₂:

 $nRSiH_{3} \longrightarrow H_{1} (n-1)H_{2}$

If the reaction is carried out in the presence of an olefin, evolution of H_2 is suppressed and hydrogenation of the olefin takes place. The complex $Cp_2Ti(\mu -H)(\mu -HSiHPh)TiCp_2$ (which is an intermediate in the reaction if R = Ph) is a good catalyst for the hydrogenation of olefins with H_2 [209]. The ferrocenylbenzenes (79) act as photocatalysts for the evolution of H_2 from MeOH in the presence of methyl viologen (MV²⁺), triethanolamine, and colloidal Pt under irradiation with visible light. The highest quantum yield of the formation of MV⁺ was obtained at 480 nm where the intensity of solar light is largest [210].



Irradiation of the complex (80) in dilute pentane solution at -30[°]C produced 1-pentene and the complexes (81), (82), and (83) [211].



Catalytic activity of iron cyano complexes such as $K_4[Fe(CN)_6]$, $K_4[Fe(CN)_5(Gly)]$, and $K_4[Fe(CN)_5(triGly)]$ in the dehydrogenation of NADH and ascorbic acid coupled with reduction of methylene blue was observed. The activities of these complexes of evolutionary importance increased in the stated order [212].

A homogeneous catalyst for the dehydrogenation of methanol was developed based on Ru2(OAc)4Cl and PPh3. Hydrogen evolution proceeded smoothly at MeOH reflux temperature without irradiation; the primary product was CH₂O which transformed gradually into HCOOCH₂ [213]. Primary alcohols undergo dehydrogenation followed by condensation to give esters and H_2 upon treatment with $H_2Ru(PPh_3)_4$ as catalyst at 180°C; similarly, 1,4- and 1,5-diols can be converted into the corresponding γ - and δ -lactones. This principle can be extended to ester formation from alcohols and aldehydes. All these transformations are even more effective in the presence of some H acceptor like acetone. Aldehydes can be transformed into carboxylic acids by this method if water and a H acceptor are present [214]. Quinolines (84) and indole derivatives (85) were prepared from anilines and 1,3-propanediol or glycols, respectively, by dehydrocyclization in the presence of $RuCl_3.nH_2O + PBu_3$ or Ru(PPh3)3Cl2 as catalysts. N,N-Diarylpropylenediamines and N,N-diarylethylene diamines and their dehydrogenated imine derivatives were postulated as intermediates. The reactions proceeded at 180° with spontaneous H₂ evolution [215].



Dehydrogenation of aliphatic alcohols is catalyzed by $[Rh(bpy)_2]Cl$ in the presence of water and NaOH at $120^{\circ}C$. The reaction has been studied primarily with EtOH; besides H₂, acetaldehyde (and its condensation products), methane and CO₂ were formed. Latter products suggest that - at least in part - the following reaction takes place [216]:

 $C_2H_5OH + H_2O \longrightarrow CH_4 + 2H_2 + CO_2$

520

The photocatalytic system composed of acetone and $\underline{\operatorname{cis}}_{[\operatorname{RhCl}(\operatorname{CO})(\operatorname{dppm})]_2}$ was found to be quite effective for the production of H₂ from iPrOH. Pinacol was formed as byproduct and the selectivity of the reaction depended on the wavelength of irradiation [217]. Photocatalytic dehydrogenation of iPrOH is catalyzed also by $\underline{\operatorname{trans}}_{-\operatorname{Rh}(\operatorname{CO})(\operatorname{PPh}_3)_2\operatorname{Cl}$; probably the unsaturated complex $\operatorname{Rh}(\operatorname{PPh}_3)_2\operatorname{Cl}$ is the catalytically active species [218]. Arenes were dehydrogenated to biphenyls at room temperature under irradiation in the presence of $\operatorname{Rh}(\operatorname{CO})(\operatorname{PMe}_3)_2\operatorname{Cl}$. In the case of toluene the mixture of bitolyls formed contained the $\underline{o},\underline{p}'$ -isomer as the main product which suggests the existence of radical intermediates [219].

Secondary alcohols could be dehydrogenated to the corresponding ketones at 100° C under N₂ by refluxing in hexamethyldisiloxane in the presence of $H_5 Ir(PPr_3)_2$ as catalyst. No H acceptor was necessary and H₂ was evolved; turnover numbers reached 150 [220]. Linear and cyclic alkanes can be selectively dehydrogenated to the corresponding alkenes with $H_2Ir(\eta^2-OOCCF_3)(PR_3)_2$ (R = CF₃, cy) both thermally (in the presence of the sacrificial H acceptor tBuCH=CH₂) or photochemically (when no H acceptor is required and H_2 is evolved). A key feature of the catalyst is that the chelating acetate group can open up to allow β -elimination to take place in the alkyl hydride intermediate [221]. The stoichiometric dehydrogenation of cycloalkanes to arenes by $[IrH_2(Me_2CO)(PPh_3)_2]^+$ with tBuCH=CH2 as hydrogen acceptor could be improved by using the SbF6 salt of the Ir complex in the substrate alkane as solvent. In this way, cyclohexane could be dehydrogenated to benzene and alkylcyclopentanes to the corresponding alkylcyclopentadiene complexes of Ir [223]. Pinane was converted to β -pinene (86) with high (>95%) selectivity using tBuCH=CH₂ as H acceptor and $H_5 Ir(PPr_3^1)_2$ as catalyst. Catalytic turnover number was about 10 [224].



86

Oxazolines (87, R = Ph, 2-furyl, 2-thienyl) were dehydrogenated to oxazoles (88) by treating with Ni peroxide in benzene at reflux [225].



The reactions of gas-phase $Ni_1^+ - Ni_{10}^+$, $Pd_1^+ - Pd_4^+$, and Pt_1^+ , Pt_2^+ ions with n-butane have been investigated. Dehydrogenation reactions were the main processes, the dehydrogenating activity increasing in the order Ni < Pd < Pt [226].

10. Hydrogen Transfer Reactions

a) Hydrogenation of C=C Bonds

The complexes $\operatorname{Ru}_4(\operatorname{CO})_{12}(\operatorname{C}_6\operatorname{H}_6\operatorname{O})$ and $\operatorname{Ru}_3(\operatorname{CO})_{10}(\operatorname{C}_6\operatorname{H}_8\operatorname{O})$ have been obtained from the reaction of $\operatorname{Ru}_3(\operatorname{CO})_{12}$ and cyclohex-1-ene-2-one; both complexes were found to be active catalysts for the transfer hydrogenation of cyclohex-1-ene-2-one to cyclohexanol by iPrOH [227]. Transfer hydrogenation of tert-butylethylene by iPrOH is efficiently catalyzed by $\operatorname{H}_5\operatorname{Ir}(\operatorname{PPr}_3^1)_2$ at 30°C. The reaction shows autocatalytic behavior but the induction period can be eliminated by addition of acetone [228]. Hydrogen transfer from MeOH to the product was observed during dimerization of butadiene to octatrienes with Ni(O) complexes (formed from Ni(acac)_2, BuLi, and (Me_2N)_3P) as catalysts [229].

b) Hydrogen Transfer Reactions Involving C=O and CH-OH Groups

Oppenauer oxidation of secondary alcohols is efficiently catalyzed by SmI_2 at room temperature; the catalytic species is probably a diiodo-samarium aldolate generated in situ [230]. Lanthanide tri-2-propoxides, $\text{Ln}(\text{OPr}^i)_3$ (Ln = Nd, Eu, Gd, Dy, Er, Tm, Yb), are very efficient catalysts for the Meerwein-Ponndorf reduction of carbonyl compounds. The catalytic activity of $\text{Gd}(\text{OPr}^i)_3$ is about 1000 times as high as that of $\text{Al}(\text{OPr}^i)_3$ [231]. The Zr(IV) complexes Cp_2ZrH_2 and $\text{Cp}_2\text{Zr}(\text{OPr}^i)_2$ catalyze the Oppenauer-type oxidation of allylic alcohols to α , β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds in the presence of an appropriate H acceptor such as benzaldehyde or cyclohexanone.

This hydrogen transfer proceeds in refluxing toluene and furnishes the desired enones in preparatively useful (>80%) yields [232]. Hydrogen transfer from cyclohexanol to hexanal is catalyzed by heterogenized Ru(II) complexes bound to polycarboxylate matrices. Highest activity was obtained using terpolymers prepared from methyl methacrylate, butanediol diacrylate and bis(acrylato)bis (triphenylphosphine)Ru(II) complexes [233]. Kinetics and mechanism of oxidation of alcohols by hydrogen transfer to cyclohexanone, catalyzed by HRh(PPh₃)₄, were studied. Deuterium isotope studies indicated concerted hydrogen transfer as the rate limiting step [234]. The catalyst formed <u>in situ</u> from [Rh(COD)Cl]₂ and (+)-(S)-(89) promotes the asymmetric transfer hydrogenation of acetophenone in iPrOH solution at reflux temperature; optical yields up to 31% were obtained [235].



Alkyl phenyl ketones were reduced by asymmetric hydrogen transfer from iPrOH using Ir(I) complexes with chiral bidentate Schiff bases (90) as catalysts. Small amounts of KOH were necessary to obtain the catalytically active species; best optical yields were around 50% [236].

 $H = H, Me, Et, CH_2Ph$ $R' = H, Et, Ph, \alpha - C_{10}H_7$ H = R'

Catalysts formed in situ from $[Ir(COD)(OMe)]_2$ and different alkyl or aryl phosphines were used for the transfer hydrogenation of cinnamic aldehyde to cinnamyl alcohol with iPrOH as hydrogen source. Selectivity of the systems was very high, usually in the range between 90-100% [237].

See also [227].

c) Hydrogenation of C=N Bonds

The Meerwein-Ponndorf reduction of pyrimidin-2(lH)-ones (91; R = H,F,Cl,Br,I) using $2r(OPr^{1})_{4}$ gave exclusively the 3,4-dihydro product (92) [238].



Transfer hydrogenation of benzylideneaniline by iPrOH is catalyzed by $\operatorname{Ru}_3(\operatorname{CO})_{12}$ at reflux temperature. The trinuclear cluster $(\mu - H)\operatorname{Ru}_3(\operatorname{CO})_9)(\mu_3$ -PhNCPh) has now been isolated from the reaction mixture and found to be catalytically active in the same reaction [239].

- 11. Reduction without Molecular Hydrogen
- a) Stoichiometric Reduction with Low-Valent Transition Metal Complexes

Deoxygenation of epoxides to olefins was achieved by SmI_2 in THF-HMPA in the presence of N,N-dimethylaminoethanol or glutaric anhydride [240]. α , β -Epoxy esters were reduced at room temperature to β -hydroxy esters with retention of the configuration at the β -carbon atom using a SmI_2 + THF + HMPA system in the presence of N,N-dimethylaminoethanol. The same reagent was succesfully applied also for the synthesis of vinilogous (unsaturated) δ -hydroxy esters [241]. The reduction of organic halides by SmI_2 in THF to the corresponding alkanes was found to be effectively promoted by the addition of HMPA. Usually yields above 95% could achieved in this way, even in the case of chlorides [242].

Olefinic double bonds conjugated with aromatic rings could be reduced by PhYbI or Yb metal in MeOH. Isolated double bonds or aromatic systems were not affected under these conditions [243]. Performing the reduction in the presence of MeOD the deuterated reaction product was formed [244]. A Ti(O)-slurry prepared from TiCl₄ in THF with Mg or LiAlH₄ was used for the deoxygenation of unfunctionalized aromatic N-oxides; the parent heterocycles were formed in good yields [245]. The reduction of α -acetylenic ketones to the corresponding <u>trans</u> olefinic products was achieved with Cr(II) reagents; the yields ranged between 40-84% [246]. (E)-Alkenylsilanes (93) were obtained by reducing a mixture of aldehydes and Me₃SiCHBr₂ with CrCl₂ in THF. A combination of CrCl₃ and LiAlH₄ could be also employed as reductant. Reductive transformation of aldehydes into phenyl 1-alkenyl sulfides (94; E/Z-mixture) was also achieved by the same method [247].

RCHO + Me₃SiCHBr₂ $\xrightarrow{Cr Cl_2}$ \xrightarrow{R} \xrightarrow{H} 93 RCHO + Ph SCHCl₂ $\xrightarrow{CrCl_2}$ \xrightarrow{R} \xrightarrow{H} 94

Reductive acylation of O-acetylated oximes having activated hydrogens in α -position (e.g. 95) with Fe₃(CO)₁₂, acyl chlorides and Et₃N gave enamides (96) in good yield. If the oxime derivative contained no active hydrogen, N-acylimino compounds (97) were formed [248].



A kinetic investigation of the stoichiometric hydrogenation of acetone to iPrOH by $[Ru(bpy)_2(CO)H]^+$ in buffered aqueous solutions has been carried out:

$$[Ru(bpy)_{2}(\infty)H]^{+} + (CH_{3})_{2}^{\infty} \xrightarrow{H^{+}/H_{2}^{O}} [Ru(bpy)_{2}(\infty)(H_{2}^{O})]^{2+} + (CH_{3})_{2}^{CHOH}$$

The kinetic data support a mechanism involving general acid catalysis [249]. Low valent Co species, prepared in situ in THF by

References p. 597

the reaction of $CoCl_2$ with $NaBH_4/EtOH$ under CO, isomerize and reduce olefins; the extent of these reactions strongly depends on minor changes in the experimental procedure [250].

Reduction of the enol phosphate moiety in phosphonates of type (98) was achieved with an excess of lithium dibutylcuprate in THF at -78° C with good yields. The reaction occured selectively and with complete retention of configuration [251].



Methanol and/or MeI were reduced in aqueous NaOH to methane by Cu(I) complexes formed from Cu_2O and phenanthroline; yield of methane was ≤ 6 [252].

b) Inorganic Reductants in the Presence of Transition Metal Complexes as Catalysts

Several organolanthanide complexes catalyze the reduction of l-hexene with NaH: Cp_3Ln (Ln = La, Pr, Nd, Sm, Tb, Y, Er, Yb, and Lu), L_2YCl (L = Cp or substituted Cp), and L'_2LnX ($L'_2 = C_5H_4CH_2CH_2O$ $CH_2CH_2C_5H_4$; $L_n = La, Dy, Er, Y, Lu$; X = Cl, tBu, tBuCH₂, Ph, MeC₆H₄, CF_3COO). The complex L'_2YCl also catalyses the hydrogenation of l-hexene by H₂ in THF at $45^{\circ}C$ [253].

Reaction of alkyl and aryl cyanides with iPrMgBr in the presence of Cp_2TiCl_2 followed by acid hydrolysis gave the corresponding aldehydes. A titanium hydride was proposed as the reductant in the process [254]. The C=C double bond of enedicarboxylate compounds like (99) could be reduced with TiCl₄ + LiAlH₄ + Et₃N in THF. Other double bonds did not react [255].



The β -hydroxy ketone (100) was reduced to diol (101) with NaBH₄ in the presence of Ti(OPr¹)₄ at -78^oC. A <u>syn-anti</u> ratio of 87:13 could be achieved [256].



Reductive dehalogenation of α -halo ketones and esters was effectively achieved (yields 95-100%) using PhSiH₃ and catalytic amounts of Mo(CO)₆ and PPh₃. In the absence of PPh₃, the method was not catalytic with respect to Mo(CO)₆ and required 20-50 mole % of the metal carbonyl. A less efficient system comprised of Pd(PPh₃)₄ and Ph₂SiH₂ was also tested [257]. The Fe-S cluster (102) in cetyltrimethylammonium bromide micelles catalyzed the reduction of acridine derivatives (103) by dithionite; the reduction proceeded without side reactions and the reduction products could be reoxidized to the starting materials by anthraquinone-1,5-disulphonate [258].



102



103

 $R = CH_{2}CHNHCOC_{17}H_{35}$ $R = NHCOBu^t, NHCOCy, NHC_{12}H_{25}$ COONa

n-Pentyl azide was reduced by $Na_2S_2O_4$ in an aqueous Triton X-100 micellar solution containing methylviologen and the iron cubane clusters (104) and (105). Reduction products were $n-C_5H_{11}NH_2$, N_2 , N_2H_4 , and NH_3 if (104) was used as catalyst, while (105) catalyzed only the formation of $n-C_5H_{11}NH_2$ and N_2 [259].



Tolan was reduced to stilbene with $NaBH_4$ using Rh-PPh₃ complexes as catalysts. With $Rh(CO)(PPh_3)_2Cl$ mainly <u>cis</u>-, whereas with $HRh(PPh_3)_4$ mainly <u>trans</u>-stilbene was formed [260]. Aldehydes could be selectively reduced to alcohols in the presence of ketones with a combination of Me₃SiCl and Ni boride (prepared <u>in situ</u> from Ni²⁺ and NaBH₄) in DMF or diglyme as solvent [261]. The system Zn + NiCl₂ (9:1) has been applied for the reduction of α , β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds at the C=C double bond. The rate of reduction was significantly increased by ultrasound [262]. Both C=C bonds of carvone (106) were reduced under such conditions, buth the reaction could be made selective by changing the reaction conditions: in the presence of amines dihydrocarvone (107) was the main product whereas with a Zn + NiCl₂ (1:1) reductive system primarily carvotanacetone (108) was formed [263].



Hydrindenone (109) was reduced by $HAl(iBu)_2$ in HMPA to the hydrindanones (110) and (111) in the presence of MeCu. The ratio of the <u>cis</u> and <u>trans</u> products depended on the amount of MeCu used [264].



See also [207].

c) Organic Reductants in the Presence of Transition Metal Complexes as Catalysts

The clusters $[Fe_4S_4(SR)_4]^{2-}$ catalyze the reduction of nitro compounds, quinones, and N-oxide compounds to amines, hydroquinones, and deoxygenated compounds, respectively, in the presence of thiols in MeCN solution. The reactions proceed via one-electron transfer [265]. Nitrobenzene and <u>m</u>-dinitrobenzene are reduced to aniline and <u>m</u>-nitroaniline, respectively, by tBuSH in MeCN in the presence of $[Fe_4S_4(SPh)_4]^{2-}$. The thiol is oxidized to PhSSBu^t and the cluster is transformed into the isomeric $[Fe_4S_4(SBu^t)_4]^{2-}$; following this the tBu-cluster is the effective catalyst and H-transfer takes place according the following stoichiometry [266]:

6 tBuSH + $ArNO_2$ ------ 3 tBuSSBu^t + $ArNH_2$ + $2H_2O$

Acetylenic carbinols were deoxygenated in 35-85% yields by reduction of their $\text{Co}_2(\text{CO})_6$ complexes with $\text{BH}_3 + \text{Me}_2\text{S} + \text{CF}_3\text{COOH}$ [267]. Reduction of substituted nitrosobenzenes by the NADH-model compound (112) is catalyzed by bivalent metal ions (Ni, Zn, Co, Fe, Mn, Mg, Ca). It was found that the metal ions form a complex with (112) according to a Michaelis-Menten saturation kinetics and promote hydride transfer to the substrate [268].



Preparation of 1-alkenes by the hydrogenolysis of terminal allylic carbonates and acetates with formates in the presence of Pd complexes has been described. Formic acid + Et_3 N was a suitable reductant and $\text{Pd}_2\text{L}_3(\text{CHCl}_3)$ + PBu_3 (L = dibenzylideneacetone) the best catalyst [269].

d) Electroreduction and Photoreduction

Secondary trichloromethyl carbinols and their ethers could be reduced by chemically- or electrochemically-generated $CrCl_2$ to form (Z)-monochlorovinyl compounds in one step. Tertiary carbinols

favored the formation of dichlorovinyl compounds [270]. Watersoluble substrates like methylviologen were reduced by the nineteen-electron complexes $Cp\dot{F}e(CO)_2(PR_3)$ generated photochemically from $[CpFe(CO)_2]_2$ and PR_3 in the benzene phase of micellar or reverse micellar solutions [271].

Photohydrogenation of phenylacetylene and methylphenylacetylene was accomplished in cyclohexane/water using $(bpy)_3 Ru^{2+}$ as photosensitizer, alkylviologens as charge relays, Na₂EDTA as sacrificial electron donor and a Pt or Pd colloid stabilized in the organic phase as hydrogenation catalyst [272]. Photoinduced reduction of ketones to alcohols by 2-mercaptoethanol which is transformed into the corresponding disulfide was performed in the following system: $[Ru(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ as photosensitizer (PS), methylviologen (or other bipyridinium salts) as electron carrier (EC), ferredoxin-NADP reductase (FNR) to reduce NADP, and alcohol dehydrogenase (ALDH) to reduce the ketone with the aid of NAD(P)H. The whole catalytic cycle is shown schematically below [273]:



Electrocatalytic reduction of benzyl chloride was performed at controlled potential in the presence of Co(saloph) (113) as catalyst. Only poor yields were achieved [274].



Homogeneous catalytic electrochemical reduction of <u>trans-1,2-</u> dibromocyclohexane was investigated with several transition metal octaethylporphyrin complexes. The metalloporphyrins fell into two categories: Zn(OEP) and Cu(OEP) behaved as redox catalysts like polycyclic aromatic compounds whereas Ni, Fe, and Co(OEP) complexes gave rise to a catalysis which was several orders of magnitude more efficient [275].

- IV. Oxidation
- 1) Catalytic Oxidation of Hydrocarbons or Hydrocarbon Groups with O_2
- a) Oxidation of Alkanes

Kinetic results for the oxidation of pentadecane in the presence of $Ce(st)_3$, $Ni(st)_2$, and $Cr(st)_3$ catalysts were described [276]. Catalytic oxidation of pentadecane with O_2 to carboxylic acids was performed in two steps: first, ketones were obtained by using Cr or Ni stearates as catalysts; in the second step these ketones were transformed into carboxylic acids with $Mn(st)_2$ as catalyst [277].

Oxidation of cyclohexane to cyclohexanol and cyclohexanone by O₂ in the presence of (TPP)(imidazole)Fe(III)Cl and similar axial coordinated complexes of iron(III) porphyrins has been studied. These catalysts were found to be more active than hemin [278].

Hydrocarbons were hydroxylated by O_2 with (TPP)FeCl as catalyst, methylviologen as mediator, zinc amalgam as reducing agent and Ac_2O as acetylating agent. Probably $[(TPP)FeO]^+$ is the active species hydroxylating the C-H bond in a non-radical fashion. The system models native cytochrome P-450 [279]. The catalyst system composed of iron, Zn, AcOH, and py for the selective oxidation of saturated hydrocarbons with O_2 has been studied. Pyridine was found to be a unique solvent and could not be replaced by pyridine derivatives [280]. Cyclohexane was oxidized with O_2 using Co(acac)₃ fixed on silica as catalyst [281]. Oxidation of succinic acid by an oxygen-containing Co L-histidine complex was investigated; the substrate reacted in the form of its monoanion [282].

See also [302, 366].

b) Oxidation of Olefins

Based on kinetic measurements a mechanism was proposed for the oxidation of cyclohexene by O_2 catalyzed by a laminated MoCl₅graphite compound [283]. Oxidation of isoprene to $Me_2C=CHCH_2OH$ and of $PrMeC=CH_2$ to $PrCMe_2OH$ by O_2 is catalyzed by a TPP complex of Mn(II) [284]. Kinetic results for the oxidation of olefins with O_2 in the presence of Mn porphyrin catalysts indicate that a ternary olefincatalyst- O_2 complex is an intermediate of the reaction. In the case of cholesterol the rate-determining step in forming this intermediate is the reaction of O_2 with the catalyst, in the case of l-hexene it is the coordination of the olefin to Mn [285].

Cyclohexene was oxidized with O_2 using (L)FeO₂ as catalyst (LH₂ = tetra-<u>o</u>-pivaloylphenylporphyrin). The catalytically active complex was prepared from (L)FeBr and KO₂ [286]. Oxidation of methyl linoleate micelles in aqueous dispersion by O_2 induced by iron salts and ascorbic acid have been studied. It was suggested that the initiating radicals were generated by the decomposition of hydroperoxides by Fe²⁺ and that ascorbic acid functioned as a reducing agent for the transformation of Fe³⁺ to the more reactive Fe²⁺ [287]. Oxidation of cyclohexene with O_2 is catalyzed by [Ru(bpy)₂(PPh₃)(H₂O)]²⁺ in dry <u>o</u>-dichlorobenzene under room conditions. Reaction products are 2-cyclohexene-1-one, 2-cyclohexene-1-ol and (in minor amounts) cyclohexene oxide [288].

Co(II) fixed on a polyethylene-acrylic acid graft copolymer catalyzed the oxidation of cyclohexene by participating in chain initiation and decomposition to radicals [289]. Oxidation of octene-1 to octanone-2 by O_2 was achieved with two catalytic systems containing the heteropolyacids $H_{3+n}[PMO_{12-n}V_nO_{40}]$ (HPA). Either chlororhodium(III) complexes were used with HPA in alcoholic solvents at $60^{\circ}C$, or $PdSO_4$ with HPA in water-THF solvent mixtures at $20^{\circ}C$. With Rh catalysts the solvent was partly oxidized to aldehydes, esters and acetals [290].

Oxidation of cyclohexene to cyclohexanone with O_2 and PdCl₂ + CuCl₂.2H₂O or PdCl₂ + FeCl₃.3H₂O as catalyst has been investigated in different alcohols as solvents. Best results were achieved with CuCl₂.2H₂O as cocatalyst and EtOH as solvent. If oxidation was carried out for longer times further oxidation to 2-cyclohexene-1-one and 3-ethoxy-2-cyclohexene-1-one was observed [291]. In the case of cyclopentene best yields of cyclopentanone were obtained at atmospheric pressure with PdCl₂ + FeCl₃.6H₂O, and under increased pressures of oxygen with the PdCl₂ + CuCl₂.2H₂O

532

catalyst system [292]. Oxidation of 1-octene to 2-octanone in a flow-type reactor using a PdCl₂ + CuCl₂ + HCl catalyst solution in aqueous MeOCH₂CH₂OH gave significant amounts of chlorooctanes as byproducts. This could be avoided by using $PdSO_4 + H_{n+3}PMO_{12-n} v_{n}O_{40}$ (n = 6, 8) but this latter catalyst deactivated rather rapidly [293]. Linear-chain C_8-C_{10} terminal olefins could be oxidized to methyl ketones in high yields at 60-80°C in an aqueous-organic two phase system using PdCl, and cyclodextrins as catalyst. This catalyst system showed high substrate selectivity; yields were much lower in the case of $C_{12}-C_{14}$ olefins [294]. Oxidation of terminal olefins with O, by a catalyst system consisting of acetone monoxime, CuCl, and PdCl, in anhydrous acetone gives the corresponding methyl ketones. Although the catalyst system is similar to that employed in the Wacker process, the mechanism of this oxidation is fundamentally different because if the reaction is performed in acetone containing ¹⁸H₂O practically no ¹⁸O is incorporated into the ketone [295]. The one-step synthesis of ethylene glycol monoacetate and diacetate from ethene, O2, and AcOH using the PdCl2--CuCl₂-Cu(OAc)₂ catalytic system was studied. An overall yield of 95% was achieved [296]. Reaction of 1,3-cyclohexadiene with O₂ in a biphasic system of hexane and acetic acid in the presence of LiOAc and catalytic amounts of Pd(OAc)₂, hydroquinone and Co(salen) results in a selective oxidation to yield (114) (highest yield 47%). This reaction consists of three different catalytic cycles: 0, oxidizes hydroquinone to quinone (the Co complex acts as a catalyst), Pd(II) oxidizes the diene (and is reduced to an unidentified Pd(0)complex) and Pd(0) is reoxidized by quinone to Pd(II) [297].



Mono-, bi-, and tricyclic alkenes were oxidized with O_2 in THF containing PdCl₂ and CuCl to ketones. For example, (115) gave 85% (116). Linear polyenes were also oxidized with H_2O_2 , NiO₂, NaOCl, Ag₂O, MnO₂, or KMnO₄ and the PdCl₂ + CuCl catalyst to ketones [298].



The liquid-phase oxidation of cyclohexene is catalyzed by the two-component catalyst system $[(Me_2SO)_5VO]^{2+} + [Pt(SCN)_6]^{4-}$; maximum activity occurs at V/Pt = 2 [299].

See also [304, 306, 307, 312, 314, 329, 378, 517].

c) Epoxidation of olefins

Oxidation of cyclohexene by O_2 is catalyzed by a layered compound of graphite with $MoCl_5$. The catalyst participates in the decomposition of cyclohexyl hydroperoxide and the epoxidation of cyclohexene by this hydroperoxide [300]. The kinetics of epoxidation of cyclohexene in the presence of catalysts (117) and (118) were investigated. The B-O bonds were cleaved during epoxidation and more stable catalysts were obtained with a polymeric support, e.g. polystyrylboronic acid [301].



Epoxidation of alkenes and hydroxylation of alkanes by O_2 and Zn as reducing agent were achieved with good yields (up to 50% based on Zn) and rates (up to 200 turnovers of the catalyst per hour) by using (TPP)MnCl as catalyst in the presence of 1-methylimidazole and acetic acid [302]. The liquid-phase oxidation of octenes by O_2 in the presence of Tc complexes was studied. Low yields of (mainly trans) epoxides were obtanied [303].

The iron bleomycin-mediated oxidation of <u>cis</u>-stilbene under aerobic conditions affords mainly cis-stilbene oxide and benzalde-

hyde. It was now shown by isotopic tracer experiments that for each of the oxidants tested, the benzaldehyde oxygen was derived primarily from O_2 while the source of oxygen in stilbene oxide depended on the oxidant used (02, H202, NaIO4, or PhIO) [304]. The homogeneous oxidation of <u>cis</u>-cyclooctene with O₂ catalyzed by K[Ru(H-EDTA)C1].2H₂O was found to be first order in substrate and catalyst, and half order in 0_2 . Cyclooctene oxide was the chief product and a small quantity of 2-cyclooctene-1-ol was also obtained in the reaction [305]. Treatment of $[Ru(Me_2phen)_2(H_2O)_2]^{2+}$ (Me₂phen = 2,9-dimethyl-1,10-phenanthroline) with Ce⁴⁺ resulted in the formation of the dioxo complex $[Ru(Me_2phen)_2(0)_2]^{2+}$ which was found to be an efficient catalyst for the oxidation of alkenes with O2 to epoxides, alcohols, and carbonyl compounds [306]. Oxidation of olefins and alcohols with PhIO or air is catalyzed by $\underline{\text{trans}} = [\text{Ru}(\text{phen})_2(\text{OH})(\text{H}_2\text{O})](\text{ClO}_4) \text{ and } \underline{\text{trans}} = [\text{Ru}(\text{bpy})_2(\text{OH})(\text{H}_2\text{O})](\text{ClO}_4).$ Aldehydes, ketones, and epoxides are the reaction products. The Ru complex remains intact after these oxidative reactions [307]. Epoxidation of cyclohexene with 02 is catalyzed by Ru(III)-EDTA in a 50% EtOH/H₂O solution at 30° C. The reaction is first order with respect to catalyst and substrate and half order with respect to 02. Both oxygen atoms are used for the formation of cyclohexene epoxide and the turnover numbers reach 200 min⁻¹ [308].

Liquid-phase cooxidation of benzaldehyde and propene in the presence of Co(TPP) involves the formation of Co(TPP)⁺ complexes with PhCOOOH which then react with propene to give propylene oxide. The induction period of O_2 consumption is influenced by substituents of the porphyrin ring [309]. The epoxidation of oleic acid with O_2 in the presence of benzaldehyde using Co³⁺ as the catalyst has been investigated and a reaction mechanism was proposed. The results indicated that the epoxidized oleic acid was formed by a series of free-radical reactions. Selectivity was 88% [311].

Oxidation of several mono- and nonconjugated diolefins with air and the catalyst $(MeCN)_2PdCl(NO_2)$ has been described. Nonbornene derivatives reacted by epoxidation of the strained double bond, other alkenes and dienes yielded methyl ketones [312].

See also [288].

d) Oxidation of Aromatics

The use of Mn bromide + HBr catalysts for the air oxidation of the formylated derivatives of <u>m</u>-xylene and 1,3,5-trimethylbenzene to produce trimellitic anhydride and pyromellitic dianhydride was discussed [313]. The catalytic activity of NiBr₂, MnBr₂, and CrBr₃ in the oxidation of cyclohexene, α -alkenes, α -methyl styrene, and styrene at 120[°]C in aqueous cetyltrimethylammonium bromide by O₂ increased in the stated order of salts and alkenes and with decreasing concentration of the phase-transfer catalyst [314].

Ferrocene and ferrocene derivatives accelerate the oxidation of cumene and the decomposition of cumene hydroperoxide [315]. Catalysts prepared from hemin bound on 3 organosilicas (119) were used in liquid-phase oxidation of cumene by O_2 . Activity of catalysts based on (119b) and (119c) (which contain imidazole groups) was higher than that of (119a) [316].



The liquid-phase oxidation of \underline{o} -xylene, catalyzed by Co(II) acetate in AcOH, has been studied at 130-150°C and 3 bar O₂. The first oxidation product was \underline{o} -tolualdehyde which was oxidized to the main product \underline{o} -toluic acid. In addition, nine other reaction products were found to be present in minor amounts [317]. The contribution of the reaction of peroxy radicals with Co(II) to chain propagation in the oxidation of alkylbenzenes with a Co(OAc)₂ + NaBr catalyst system was examined [318]. A polypropargyl methacrylate-Co²⁺ complex catalyzed the oxidation of \underline{m} - and \underline{p} -diethylbenzenes to mono- and diketones [319]. Mesitylene was oxidized to 3,5-dimethylbenzaldehyde in the presence of Co bromide catalysts activated with triethanolamine or py. The lower rate of consecutive oxidation of the aldehyde as compared with that of oxidation of mesitylene was attributed to the role of cooxidation reactions in the process [320]. Monomethyl terephthalate was prepared by air oxidation of methyl p-toluate using Co acetate + zirconium acetate as catalyst in AcOH at 120° C [321]. The Co complexes (120) and (121) were found to accelerate the liquid-phase oxidation of cumene [322].



Estrone (122a, X = O) and estradiol (122b, X = H,OH) could be hydroxylated to the corresponding derivative (123) by O_2 in the presence of Co(salen) as catalyst. If the reaction was performed in MeOH, methoxylated byproducts (124) were also formed [323].



Factors affecting the activity of homogeneous Pd catalysts in allylic, vinylic, benzylic, and aromatic ring oxidation have been discussed. Low oxidation states seem to favor allylic or benzylic oxidation and oxidative coupling of aromatic rings whereas ring oxidation is favored by high oxidation state systems [324]. The use of zinc acetate in conjuction with $Pd(OAc)_2$ in benzylic acyl-oxylation of toluene in a high boiling carboxylic acid (e.g. lauric acid) as solvent at $170^{\circ}C$ under continuous O_2 stream resulted in the improved catalytic production of the corresponding benzyl carboxylate compared to that of $Pd(OAc)_2$ alone [325]. Benzene reacts with O_2 to give phenol at $180^{\circ}C$ in the presence of $Pd(OAc)_2$, acetic acid, phen, and CO; under optimum conditions 5-10 moles of

PhOH are formed per mole of Pd. All four components of the unusual catalyst system are essential; lack of CO leads to the formation of biphenyl, in the absence of phen benzoic acid is the main product and no reaction takes place if AcOH is not present [326].

The catalytic oxidation of benzene by the copper + ascorbic acid + O_2 system was improved by using MeOH as solvent; under such conditions phenol and hydroquinone were formed but not catechol. The turnover number of the catalyst exceeded 2 [327]. The kinetics of the liquid-phase oxidation of anthracene to anthraquinone by O_2 , with CuBr₂ as catalyst and ethylene glycol as solvent, has been studied at 120-160°C. Acetal(125) was identified as an intermediate of the reaction [328].



See also [353].

- 2. Catalytic Oxidation of O-containing Functional Groups with O2
- a) Oxidation of Alcohols

The uranium (IV) complex (TPP)UCl₂ was found to catalyze the oxidation of cholesterol [329]. Different porphyrin complexes of Mn, Fe or Cu adsorbed on the anion-exchange resin Amberlite IRA 900 catalyzed the oxidation of MeOH to CH_2O . Highest activity was observed with the Mn³⁺ complex of tetrakis(sulfophenyl)porphine [330]. Primary and secondary alcohols could be oxidized to aldehydes and ketones, respectively, by O_2 at $65^{\circ}C$ in the presence of the trinuclear Ru carboxylate complexes [$Ru_3O(COCR)_6L_3$]ⁿ (L = Me, Et; L = H_2O , PPh₃; n = O, +1) [331]. The biomimetic complex Cu(II)-py₄, an analog of the enzyme galactose oxidase, catalyzes the oxidation of monohydroxyacetone by O_2 . The data indicate that the process involves three pH-separable pathways, two of which include concerted catalysis by free (excess) pyridine [332].

See also [554].

b) Oxidation of Phenols

The heteropolyvanadates $[PV_{14}O_{42}]^{9-}$, $[MnV_{13}O_{38}]^{7-}$, and $[NiV_{13}O_{38}]^{7-}$ catalyze the oxidation of (126) in MeCN solution to give the products (127-130). Labeling experiments with ${}^{18}O_2$ revealed that the oxygen atoms in products (127) and (128) come from dioxygen and not from the oxyanions present in the polyvanadates [333]. In the presence of V(acac)(L) (LH₂ = tetrachlorocatechol) (126) is easily oxidized by O_2 in CH₂Cl₂ to afford (127), (128), and (129). The V complex first reacts with (126) and the complex formed in this step reacts with O_2 to give the products [334].



Oxidation of 2,6-di-tert-butylphenol (131) by O_2 was used as a test reaction to study the catalytic activity of a Mn porphyrin fixed on zeolite. The catalyst regenerated electrochemically gave good selectivities for the corresponding diphenoquinone (135) [335]. Oxidation of (131) by O_2 is catalyzed by the Co complex (132) and by the Mn complex (133); Co catalyzes the formation of the corresponding benzoquinone (134) while Mn promotes the formation of the analogous diphenoquinone (135). It has now been found, that an applied magnetic field influences the rates of both reactions: weak magnetic fields increase and very strong magnetic field decrease the rate of oxidation [336].



Oxidation of 3,6-di-tert-butylpyrocatechol (136) in MeOH solution with O_2 catalyzed by Mn(OAc)₂.4H₂O gave the <u>ortho</u> quinone derivatives (137-139) [337].



Oxidative ring opening of (126) with O_2 using FeCl₂ + bpy + py or FeCl₂ + py catalyst systems was studied. Highest yield of (141) was obtained at a FeCl₂:bpy:py ratio of 1:1:23 [338]. Oxygenation of (126) is catalyzed in THF/water, DMF or DMF/water by Fe(III) salts without the addition of any ligands (like py, bpy, etc.). Main products are (127) and (129) [339]. The 3,5-di-t-butylcatecholato [DTBC] iron complex [Fe(DTBC)₃]³⁻ reacts in organic solvents reversibly with O_2 to form a ternary iron-catechol-oxygen complex. Repeated oxygenation and deaeration cycles, however, lead to the oxidation of the organic ligand; the yield of oxidized products (127, 129, 141, and 142) depends strongly on the solvent used [340].



Oxidation of 2,3,6-trimethyl phenol using RuCl₃ as catalyst furnished trimethyl-p-benzoquinone in 90% yield. For the oxidation of 2,3,4-trimethoxy phenol to 2,3-dimethoxy-p-benzoquinone by air CuCl₂ was a useful catalyst. For the conversion of trimethoxybenzenes to the corresponding dimethoxy-p-benzoquinones, $H_2O_2 + [Fe(CN)_6]^{3-1}$ was the most effective agent [341]. Oxidation of α -naphthol by 0_2 catalyzed by different Co tetraphenylporphyrin complexes was studied. The main product was α -naphthoquinone. The activity of the catalysts having different substituents at the para position increased in the order COOH < H < OMe [342]. Oxidation of hydroquinone by 0, is catalyzed by a Co-bpy complex; the rate increases on addition of imidazole or PPh3. Oxidation follows Michaelis-Menten kinetics [343]. Non-symmetric Schiff base Co(II) complexes of the type (143) have been prepared and used as catalysts for the oxidation of (131) by O_2 to the corresponding benzoquinone (134). Their catalytic activity did not differ significantly from that of Co(salen) and similar symmetric Schiff base complexes [344].

Several Pd cluster complexes catalyze the oxidation of hydroquinone to <u>p</u>-benzoquinone but are much less active in the oxidation of ubiquinol (144). The most active catalyst is $[Pd_{10}(bpy)_4(O_2)_3](OAc)_2$ [345].





143

Oxidation of catechol to <u>o</u>-quinone by air is catalyzed by the dinuclear copper complex $Cu(\underline{o}-hydroxycinnamate)_2$. Oxidation stops at this stage [346]. Several Cu(II) chelates were examined as catalysts for the oxidation of hydroquinone to benzoquinone by O_2 . Bicyclic ones, such as (145) were more active than tricyclic ones, such as (146)[347].



The dimeric Cu(I) complex $LCuCl_2CuL$ (L = N,N,N',N'-tetraethylethylenediamine) catalyzes the oxidation of 2,6-dimethylphenol (147) by O₂. At temperatures below $-30^{\circ}C$ the diphenoquinone (149), at higher temperatures the polymer (148) is formed as main product [348].



See also [297].

c) Oxidation of Aldehydes and Ketones

Cerium(IV) was found to be the active form of Ce catalysts in the liquid-phase oxidation of aldehydes with O_2 [349].

542

Kinetics of acetaldehyde oxidation to AcOH with $Mn(OAc)_2$ as catalyst was studied under operating conditions of the industrial process. Kinetic models useful for reactor design were obtained [350]. Recycling of $Mn(OAc)_2$ catalyst in the oxidation of acetaldehyde to AcOH improved the yield of the latter and reduced formic acid production [351]. Oxidation of 2-arylpropionaldehydes by O_2 to 2-arylbutyric acids was performed with yields above 80% using $Mn(st)_2$ as catalyst in decane solution at room temperature and 8 bar. The reaction proceeded by a radical chain mechanism [352].

Liquid-phase oxidation of acetaldehyde to peracetic acid and of <u>p</u>-methoxytoluene to the corresponding aldehyde with O_2 in the presence of Co phthalocyanine as catalyst was studied [353]. The effects of particle size and degree of cross-linking on the oxidation of acetaldehyde by O_2 to peracetic acid in the presence Co ions fixed on ion-exchange resins was investigated both experimentally and theoretically [354]. A tubular-wall reaction lined with Co-complexed ion-exchange membrane catalyst was used for the oxidation of benzaldehyde to perbenzoic acid [355].

See also [309, 310].

d) Miscellaneous Oxidations

Ethylenediamine di(<u>o</u>-hydroxyphenylacetic)acid and diethylenetriamine pentaacetic acid were found to inhibit almost completely ascorbate oxidation catalyzed by Fe ions. The two chelating agents prevented Fe²⁺/Fe³⁺ redox cycles [356]. Oxidation of ascorbic acid catalyzed by Cu²⁺ ions is retarded by disulfides like cystine or oxidized glutathion. Evidence suggests that this is due to the formation of stable Cu complexes [357]. The rate constant of the oxidation of vitamin C by air catalyzed by Cu²⁺ was determined in the pH range of 3-10 [358].

3. Catalytic Oxidation of N-containing Organic Compounds

A rate law for the oxidation of adrenaline catalyzed by oxovanadyl(IV) was determined [359]. Alkylpyridines were oxidized to the corresponding carboxylic acids using Co or Mn rosinates as catalysts. Yields were moderate [360]. Oxidation of alanine and phenylalanine to pyruvic acid and phenylpyruvic acid, respectively, with O_2 using metal ion complexes of pyridoxal as catalysts has been described. Catalytic activity of the metal ions increased in the order Cu(II) < Co(II) < Mn(II). The amino group was eliminated in the form of hydroxylamine and no H_2O_2 was formed [361]. Oxidation of (150) in the presence of 1-benzyl-3-carbamoyl-1,4-dihydropyridine, Mn²⁺, and flavin mononucleotide yields ethene. The system mimics biological ethene formation in plant tissues [362].



oxidation of histidine with O_2 catalyzed by (TPP)Co, (TPP)FeCl or (TPP)FeOH, fixed on silica gel was studied. A correlation was established between the activity of the complexes and their state on the carrier [363]. Pyrrolidinones (151; R = Ph,PhNH; R' = H,COOMe) and piperidinones (152; R = H, Me, Ph) were prepared by the oxidation of the corresponding pyrrolidines and piperidines with Fe²⁺ and H_2O_2 or with O_2 and Fe₃O(OAc)₆(py)₃ [364].



The oxidation of diethylamine by O_2 catalyzed by $[RuCl_2(H_2O)_4]^+$ or a Ru(III)-EDTA complex was investigated. The reaction was first order with respect to catalyst and substrate concentration and independent of O_2 concentration. The major products were the corresponding imine, N-hydroxethylamine and acetaldehyde [365].

Oxidation of 1-adamantylamine with O_2 in MeOH in the presence of CO and using Co(salen) as catalyst gives the corresponding carbamate (153) as a result of oxidative carbonylation. Under the same conditions diphenylmethane and anthracene exhibit only oxidation to benzophenone and anthraquinone, respectively [366].



Oxidation of N-benzylamines $\text{RCONHCH}_2\text{Ph}$ (R = Me, Ph, 2-ClC₆H₄) by O₂ in the presence of Co(OAc)₂ and NaBr gave mainly benzoic acid and RCONH₂. A radical chain mechanism was proposed [367]. Autoxidation of (154) in the presence of Co²⁺ or Cu²⁺ ions leads to a mixture of oligomers the major of which has been isolated as the acetyl and methyl ester derivative (155) [368].



Oxidation of α -vinyl- β -lactams (156, R and R' phenyl or substituted phenyl) with PdCl₂ + CuCl + O₂ gave the corresponding aldehydes (157) as main products instead of the usual methyl ketones (158). This anomalous reaction could probably be explained by postulating that Pd coordinates with the carbonyl group or the β -lactam as well [369].



N-alkylidene-2-hydroxyanilines (159, R = phenyl or substituted phenyl) are oxidized by O_2 to 2-substituted benzoxazoles (160) in good yields when initiated by CuCl in py. The reaction rate is independent of substrate concentration, indicating that oxidation of Cu(I) is rate-limiting [370].



Oxidation of the dicationic Cu complex (161) with O_2 in CH_2Cl_2 solution gave after decomplexation with aqueous ammonia the hydroxylated product (162), CH_2O , and the amine (163) [371].



See also [372, 376].

Catalytic Oxidation of S-, Sn-, or B-containing Organic Compounds

Oxidation of 2-hydroxynaphthaldehyde thiosemicarbazone by O_2 is catalyzed by Mn(II). The compound is oxidized yielding a deep blue fluorescence [372]. Oxidation of thiols RSH (R = HOCH₂CH₂, dodecyl) by O_2 in the presence of Co(II) phthalocyanine tetrasodium sulfonate and a quaternary ammonium bromide polymer was studied. Poly-(quaternary ammonium salts) increased the activity of the Co(II) catalyst [373,374]. Cobalt phthalocyanine, along with Et₃N or py as promoter, was used as catalyst on different supports for the oxidation of EtSH [375]. Some <u>ortho</u>-substituted anilines were oxidized at room temperature with O_2 in the presence of $Co(ClO_4)_2.2H_2O$ as catalyst. 2-Aminothiophenol was transformed quantitatively into its disulfide (164) whereas 2-aminophenol gave several oxidation products depending on the solvent. Two compounds have been identified: 2-aminophenoxazine-3-one (165) and 2,2'-dihydroxyazobenzene (166) [376].



The allylic tributyltin derivatives (167) and (168) were oxidized by O_2 in THF solution in the presence of FeBr₃ as catalyst at -78°C. The mechanism proposed (formation of organoiron intermediates and insertion of O_2 into the Fe-C σ -bond) explains the formation of two different carbonyl compounds; an allyl radical intermediate can be excluded since this would lead to the same product in both cases [377].



Hydroboration-oxidation of olefins to alcohols by $NaBH_4$ and O_2 is catalyzed by (OEP)RhCl or (TPP)RhCl:

c=c + o_2 + BH_4^- + H-C-C-OH + BO

First, BH_{4}^{-} transforms the catalyst into a Rh hydride and the olefin into an alkylborane; in the second step the Rh hydride is

oxidized by O_2 back to Rh(III) and the alkyl borane is oxidized with retention of configuration to an alkylborate. For example, 1-methylcyclohexene is transformed in a one-pot reaction into (E)-2-methylcyclohexanol with 100% regioselectivity and 98% stereoselectivity [378].

- Catalytic Oxidation of Organic Compounds with Organic or Inorganic Oxidants
- a) Oxidation of Hydrocarbons or Hydrocarbon Groups

Oxidation of benzylic CH_2 groups or alcohols to carbonyl compounds was achieved with 70% aqueous tBuOOH in the presence of catalytic amounts of CrO_3 in CH_2Cl_2 at room temperature. Both oxidations were preparatively useful procedures [379, 380]. Alkenes could be converted into α , β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds with tBuOOH and catalytic amounts of CrO_3 . This new type of allylic oxidation was especially useful for the transformation of cycloalkenes. Epoxides were formed in minor amounts as byproducts [381]. Although tBuOOH and pyridinium dichromate do not effect allylic or benzylic oxidations independently, a combination of the two turned out to be a good reagent system for these transformations at $25^{\circ}C$ in dry benzene. Thus, for example, tetralone (169) was obtained from tetraline in 78% yield [382].



Oxidation of methylnaphthalenes (170, R = H, Me) with tBuOOH in CHCl₃ in the presence of MoO₂(acac)₂ gave naphthoquinones (171) [383].



The $\operatorname{Bu}_4 \operatorname{N}^+$ -salts of the transition metal-substituted heteropolytungstate complexes, $[\operatorname{PW}_{11}(M)O_{39}]^{5-}$ (M = Mn,Fe,Co,Cu), catalyze the oxidation of alkanes to alcohols and ketones by tBuOOH in benzene as solvent at 65°C. The reactions appear to be homogeneous [384]. Oxidation of propene by H_2O_2 was studied using (TPP)FeOH on α -alumina as catalyst [385]. Oxygenation of biphenyl with $[\operatorname{Fe}(\operatorname{MeCN})]_6^{2+} + \operatorname{H}_2O_2 + \operatorname{Ac}_2O$ yielded 2- and 4-acetoxy derivatives. The system models heme-containing monooxygenase enzymes [386]. The (L)FeCl and (L)FeOH complexes of the halogenated tetraphenylporphine (L = 172) were applied as catalyst for hydroxylation of nornbornane and epoxidation of 4,4-dimethyl-1-pentene with F_5C_6 IO as oxidant. The new catalysts were much more robust than the corresponding TDCPP complexes and practically not susceptible to "suicide inhibition" under the conditions applied [387].



Oxydation of styrene by H_2O_2 in a two-phase system and catalyzed by metal salts is remarkably promoted by the addition of quaternary ammonium salts as phase-transfer agents. Using $RuCl_3.xH_2O$, the chief product is benzaldehyde whereas with $PdCl_2$ mainly acetophenone is formed [388]. Oxidation of styrene and stilbene by IO_3^- in aqueous AcOH or ClO_4 catalyzed by Os(VIII) or Ru(III) is zero order in oxidant and first order in both substrate and catalyst [389]. The kinetics of the Ru(III) and Os(VIII) catalyzed oxidation of benzilic acid by $Tl(OAc)_3$ in aqueous AcOH-HClO₄ media were determined [390]. Enoside (173) was hydroxylated with methylmorpholine N-oxide and OsO_4 as catalyst to give the diol (174) in 62% yield [391].



Oxidation of hexene-1 to hexanone-2 by benzoquinone and $PdCl_2$ as catalyst was performed in a formamide microemulsion using a hexene-1:water ratio of 1.56:1 (w/w), $C_9H_{19}-C_6H_4-(OCH_2)_8OH$ as surfactant and iPrOH as cosurfactant. The main feature of this novel Wacker-oxidation was the absence of an induction period [392]. Oxidation of ethene to vinyl acetate using $PdCl_2$ as catalyst and benzophenone as oxidant was found to be first order with respect to catalyst and zero order with respect to oxidant [393].

The effect of Cu^{2+} ions on the oxidation of styrene and (E)-propenylbenzene by $S_2O_8^{2-}$ in AcOH was investigated. Cu(III) acted as electron transfer agent and the resultant alkene radicalcation was converted into hydroxy acetates with good yield [394]. Dimethylanisoles (175) in which one of the Me groups is <u>meta</u> and the other is <u>ortho</u> or <u>para</u> are regiospecifically oxidized in high yield to the <u>ortho-</u> and <u>para-</u>substituted aldehydes (176) by Cu(II) and $K_2S_2O_8$ [395]:



175

176

The two 3,6-dialkyl-1,2-cyclohexanediones (177; R = Me, iPr) were oxidized with Cu(II) acetate and I_2 to the corresponding 3-hydroxy-1,4-benzoquinone derivatives (178) [396].



See also [298, 500, 515, 517].

b) Epoxidation of Olefins

Application of 3A or 4A molecular sieves (zeolites) in the Ti(IV)-catalyzed asymmetric epoxidation of allylic alcohols enables the use of only 5-10 mole % $Ti(OPr^{i})_{4}$ instead of the stoichiometric amount required by the original procedure. The principal function of zeolites is the elimination of adventitious water in the reaction mixture. This improved method is especially useful for the epoxidation of low molecular weight alcohols [397]. The divinyl polyol (179) undergoes epoxidation with group and face selectivity with the pro-S and pro-R selective Scharpless reagents $Ti(OPr^{i})_{4}$ + tBuOOH + L-(+)- or D-(-)-diisopropyltartrate, respectively, to give (180) or (181). The minor enantiomers produced in these reactions are selectively "destroyed" by a fast second epoxidation (kinetic resolution); accordingly very high levels of enantiomeric purity (>99.99999%) may be obtained [398].



Sharpless epoxidation of mixtures of the <u>cis</u>- and <u>trans</u>-2methylcycloalkenylmethanols (182) with 0.6 equivalents of the $Ti(OPr^{i})_{4} + (+)$ -diisopropyltartrate + tBuOOH reagent produced a mixture of epoxy alcohols and unconverted allylic alcohols. In the case of 12- to 14-membered cycloalkenes the recovered alcohols were optically active; the 15- and 16-membered cases were racemic [399].



The two diastereomeric epoxyoctanals (184) and (186) were prepared from the stereoisomeric octenols (183) and (185) by Sharpless epoxidation followed by oxidation with CrO_3 [400].



Sharpless asymmetric epoxidation of a few achiral substrates like (187) has been examined and shown to provide monoepoxy alcohol products of type (188) whose enantiomeric purity increases as the reaction proceeds toward completion. This result is in accord with a mathematical model based on the assumption that the asymmetric synthesis of (188) is coupled with the kinetic resolution operating during the second epoxidation process [401].



552
Catalytic asymmetric epoxidation of tiglyl alcohol (189) using tBuOOH, D-(-)-diethyl tartrate and $\text{Ti}(\text{OPr}^{i})_4$ gave the epoxy alcohol (190) in over 50% yield [402].



The chiral epoxides (192a) and (192b) ($R = 4-BrC_6H_4CH_2$) were prepared enantiomerically pure from the allyl alcohol (191) by Sharpless epoxidation with tBuOOH, Ti(OPr¹)₄, and (+)- or (-)diisoporpyltartrate, respectively, in the presence of a 4A molecular sieve in 70-73% yield [403].



The acetal (193) was epoxidized with tBuOOH in the presence of $\text{TiCl}_{3.25}(\text{OPr}^1)_{0.75}$ as catalyst to give the <u>anti</u>-epoxide (194) in 80% yield [404].



Sharpless epoxidation of the decenopyranose (195) with diisopropyl L-(+)-tartrate gave epoxides (196a) and (197b) in a 5:1 ratio; use of the D-(-)-tartrate gave the two epoxides in a ratio 1:4 [405].



The Ti(IV)-pyridinediol complex (197) was studied as an asymmetric epoxidation catalyst modeling titanium-tartrate catalyst systems. The sign of induction depended on the alkyl group of the hydroperoxide oxidant; trityl hydroperoxide transformed allyl alcohol (198) into epoxide (199) - predicted by the model - with 64% o.y. [406].



In the asymmetric epoxidation of homoallylic alcohols, a combination of $Zr(OPr^{i})_{4}$, (+)-dicyclohexyltartramide, and tBuOOH was found to give good enantiomeric selectivities (up to 77%) especially for (Z)-homoallylic substrates like (200) [abs. configuration of (201): 3R,4S]. Analogous Ta or Hf catalysts showed poor enantioselectivity [407].



Unsaturated ketones possessing a neighboring OH group were stereoselectively epoxidized with tBuOOH in the presence of $VO(acac)_2$ as catalyst. The reaction was applied to steroidal sub-

strates [408]. The dienols (202; R = H,OH) were transformed into the epoxycholestanols (203) by tBuOOH in the presence of VO(acac)₂ [409].



All possible diastereomeric epoxides were synthesized starting from the homoallylic alcohols (204) and (205) using the following epoxidizing agents: v^{5+} + tBuOOH, MoO₂(acac)₂ + tBuOOH, MoO₅.HMPA, or WO₅.HMPA [410].



The enol carbamates (206; R = [H,Me; R' = Me,Ph,iPr,tBu) were diastereoselectively epoxidized to (207) with BuOOH using VO(acac)₂ as catalyst in dry CH₂Cl₂ [411].



Molybdenum complexes of the type MoO_2L_2 (L = 8-hydroxyquinoline, ethylene-1,2-bissalicylimine, etc.) have been applied as catalysts for the epoxidation of ethene by tBuOOH. Addition of cyclohexeneoxide improved selectivity and reproducibility [412]. Hydroxy and acetoxy derivatives of dicyclopentadiene were epoxidized in good yields with H_2O_2 in the presence of $(cetylpy^+)_3(PMO_{12}O_{40})^3$. For hydroxy derivatives the orientation of the OH group determined the selectivity of the reaction. Regioselectivity in the epoxidation of acetoxy derivatives was opposite to that of the hydroxy derivatives [413]. Epoxidation of fatty acid esters was carried out with 30% aqueous H_2O_2 in the presence of a Mo oxide catalyst (prepared by fixing molybdenum blue on charcoal) and Bu_3SnCl in PrOH at 50°C. The method could be used also for the epoxidation of various vegetable oils [414]. The kinetics of hydroperoxide decomposition during the epoxidation of castor oil with cumyl hydroperoxide using Mo or V acetylacetonates as catalysts was studied [415]. The stereochemistry of epoxidation of allylic amides has been investigated. Using the $Mo(CO)_6$ + tBuOOH epoxidation reagent both (Z)- and (E)-allylic amides (208 and 209) gave preferentially the three epoxides [416].



Tungsten boride (W_2B_5) was used as catalyst for the epoxidation of 1-octene with H_2O_2 . The effect of different reaction parameters on the reaction was determined [417]. The highest turnovers reported so far in the epoxidation of olefins with H_2O_2 were obtained using [MeN(n-octyl)₃][HWO₄] as catalyst complexed with anionic or neutral lipophilic phosphorous ligands containing the P=O subunit (e.g. PhPO₃H₂). The reactions were performed under homogeneous conditions in dioxane solution at 70^OC with 70% H_2O_2 [418].

Several dienes were epoxidized with aqueous NaOCl using three different manganese porphyrins with different degrees of steric constraint: (TPP)Mn(OAc), (TTMPP)Mn(OAc), and (TTPPP)Mn(OAc). Selectivity for epoxidation of the less hindered double bond increased with the more hindered catalysts; this selectivity was also higher for nonconjugated than for conjugated olefins [419]. The high valent Mn-oxo porphyrin species formed from the reaction of p-cyano-N,N-dimethylaniline N-oxide with [(TDMPP)Mn(imidazole)]Cl has been shown to be the principal active agent in the epoxidation of cyclooctene. Epoxidation is not rate controlling and the Mn-oxo complex is partly used for the oxidation of p-cyano-N,N-dimethylaniline [420]. A kinetic study of the epoxidation of 2,3-dimethyl-

-2-butene by tBuOOH in the presence of (TPP) MnCl and imidazole has been carried out. Formation of the epoxide was found to be always first order, the yield of epoxide was about 60%. In a side reaction imidazole was also oxidized, presumably to its N-oxide [421]. Kinetic data indicate that the reactivity order of olefins in the catalytic epoxidation with NaOCl + (TPP)MnOAc + py is not directly related to olefin nucleophilicity. Pyridines and N-substituted imidazoles which act as axial ligands in olefin epoxidation with $KHSO_5 + (TPP)Mn(OAc)$ are slowly oxidized to the corresponding N-oxides [422]. Two different oxidizing species, (TMP)Mn(O)Cl and $(\mathbf{TMP})Mn(O)(H_2O)$, with different stereospecificities are formed from (TMP)MnCl and m-chloroperbenzoic acid. The Mn(V) species epoxidizes olefins in a stereoretentive manner whereas the Mn(IV) species transfers oxygen by a non-stereoretentive pathway [423]. In competitive experiments styrene increased the rate of epoxidation of aliphatic alkenes by (TPP)MnCl + NaOCl. This effect is caused by phenylacetaldehyde, a side-product of styrene epoxidation [424].

Epoxidation of cyclohexene by tBuOOH is catalyzed by Tc compounds, e.g. $Tc(PPh_3)_2Cl_4$. Addition of ionol increases the yield [425].

In the oxidation of propene by H_2O_2 in the presence of (PP)Fe²⁺.OH on α -alumina as catalyst (PP = protoporphyrin IX) propylene oxide was formed via allyl alcohol. The mechanisms of formation of propanal and acetone were also discussed [427]. Oxidation of propene with H_2O_2 over hemin supported on α -alumina at 160⁰C gave mainly propylene oxide along with some acetone, propionaldehyde, and allyl alcohol [428]. In contrast to earlier reports epoxidation of olefins by tBuOOH has been observed to be catalyzed by (TMP)FeCl. Significant epoxidation occured, however, only at low hydroperoxide/Fe ratios because excess of hydroperoxide reacted with the intermediate oxene Fe=0 and resulted in evolution of O_2 [429]. Upon epoxidation of but-l-ene in CH_2Cl_2 with PhIO and (TPP-C1-p)FeCl at -10°C, the starting catalyst was progressively transformed into a new complex and, after treated with HCl, an N-alkylated porphyrin with the structure N-CH(COOH)Et could be isolated. This proves that in certain cases N-alkylporphyrins deriving from the binding of the pyrrole nitrogen to the more substituted vinylic carbon of alkenes may be formed during epoxidation [430]. During the (TDCPP)FeCl-catalyzed epoxidation of

nornbornene (and other alkenes) by C_6F_5IO the hemin catalyst is converted to an N-alkylhemin species of type (210) resembling that formed during suicide inhibition of cytochrome P-450. This alkylhemin is, however, a catalyst for epoxidation and its formation does not result therefore in inhibition [431].



An iron tetraphenylporphyrin modified by binaphthyl groups was used for the epoxidation of olefins with PhIO in the presence of 1,5-diphenylimidazole. Due to the extremely large steric requirements of the binaphthyl groups the catalyst showed significant shape selectivity in favor of sterically less hindered olefins when used for the epoxidation of olefin mixtures [432]. A porphyrinatoiron(III) complex, Fe(ChP)Cl, containing a porphyrin ligand having four cholesteryl groups as substituents (ChP) has been incorporated into a synthetic phospholipid membrane and used as catalyst for the epoxidation of polyunsaturated sterols and fatty acids with PhIO. Epoxidation occurred primarily at the double bond closest to the hydrophobic terminus of the molecule [433]. The rearrangements of alkenes (211) and (212) were observed during their epoxidation with m-chloroperbenzoic acid and (TPP)FeCl as catalyst. Since these rearrangements are known to proceed through the intermediacy of alkene cation radicals the result was interpreted in terms of electron transfer from alkene to the high-valent iron intermediate [434].



Epoxidation of <u>cis</u>- and <u>trans</u>-stilbene by KHSO_5 in $\text{MeCN/H}_2\text{O}$ catalyzed by Fe(III)- or Mn(III)-bleomycin complexes has been reported. The data support a metal-oxo species as oxygenating agent

[435]. The Fe(III) complex of the chiral bipyridine derivative (213) was used as catalyst for epoxidation of olefins using PhIO as oxidant. No enantioselectivity was observed with styrene as a prochiral model substrate [436].



The RuCl₃-catalyzed epoxidation of cyclohexene and 1-octene by N-methylmorpholine N-oxide was found to be first order in catalyst and oxidant and variable order in olefin [437]. The Ru(IV) complex (214) acts as a catalyst for alkene epoxidation by PhIO. Styrene yielded selectively styrene epoxide; with cyclohexene, both the C-H and C=C bonds were attacked, cyclohexene oxide and cyclohex-2-en-2-one were formed in approximately equal amounts [438].



Styrene has been catalytically oxidized to styrene oxide and phenylacetaldehyde with iodosoarenes using anionic square planar Co(III) complexes like (215) as catalysts. The presence of vacant sites on the metal center seems to be important; an analogous diaquo complex was inactive as catalyst [439].



215; R = H, Cl

Epoxidation of olefins with tBuOOH or PhIO was investigated using the Co(II) complex of (216) as catalyst. The mechanisms of the two reactions were found to be different: a radical chain mechanism was proposed for epoxidation with tBuOOH whereas there was no evidence for radicals in the case of PhIO [440].



Nickel(II) complexes of several macrocyclic ligands have been examined as catalysts for olefin epoxidation using PhIO as oxidant. Epoxide yields were generally low (below 30%) and a large part of the oxidant was used up in oxidizing the ligands and solvents (MeCN or CH_2Cl_2). The catalytic efficiency of Ni(II)cyclam was investigated in most detail [441].



Platinum(II) complexes of the type $PtL_2(CF_3)X$ containing chiral diphosphines (L = (+)-DIOP (217a), (+)-chiraphos (218) or (+)-prophos (219); X = Cl, OH) have been used as catalysts for the asymmetric epoxidation of unfunctionalized olefins like propene or 1-octene with diluted H_2O_2 . The best enantiomeric excess was 41% [442].





A new epoxidation method using the siloxyalkyl peroxybenzoate (220) as oxidant and $Cu(OOCCF_3)_2$ as catalyst was described. Regioselective epoxidation of <u>all-trans</u>-farnesol (221) (at position 6,7 or 10,11-depending on the conditions) was accomplished by the intramolecular version of this method [443].



See also [304, 381, 387, 445, 449, 471].

c) Oxidation of O-containing Functional Groups

Oxidation of hydroquinones and naphthalenediols to 1,4-quinones with H_2O_2 was performed in the presence of a Cr(VI) compound with the approximate composition $(Bu_3SnO)_2CrO_2$. This catalyst was adsorbed on charcoal and used for the oxidation of dihydrovitamin K_1 to vitamin K_1 [444].

Secondary alcohols were oxidized to ketones and olefins epoxidized by tBuOOH in the presence of substituted ammonium salts of $[MoOBr_4]^-$. The selectivity of the reaction depended on the structure of the substituted ammonium cation: ammonium counterions containing no H gave only alcohol oxidation; ammonium ions containing H exhibited epoxidation activity too [445]. Oxidation of acetylacetone by H_2O_2 is catalyzed by a Mo(VI) complex containing 2,2,4,4-tetrahydroxy-3-pentanone as ligand [446]. Oxidation of secondary alcohols to ketones by tBuOOH is catalyzed by

References p. 597

 $[(\operatorname{cetyl})\operatorname{py}^{+}]_{3}(\operatorname{PMO}_{12}\operatorname{O}_{40})^{3-}$. Primary hydroxy groups are not affected under such conditions [447]. Aliphatic secondary alcohols were oxidized to ketones by tBuOOH in the presence of Mo(CO)₆ and cetylpyridinium chloride with high yields. Primary OH groups were not affected by this procedure [448]. Oxygenation of alkenes and alkanes was performed with N-methylmorpholine N-oxide (MMNO) and catalytic amounts of $[\operatorname{TPP}(\operatorname{Mn})]^{+}(\operatorname{ClO}_{4})^{-}$, and stoichiometrically with the isolated complex $[(\operatorname{MNNO}_{2}(\operatorname{TPP})\operatorname{Mn}]^{+}(\operatorname{ClO}_{4})^{-}$. Product distributions for the two oxidation were similar [449].

Oxidation of ascorbic acid by H_2O_2 is catalyzed by the trinuclear complex $[Fe_2CrO(OAc)_6(H_2O)_3]^+$. During oxidation, destruction of the complex also takes place and this leads to a decrease in catalytic activity [450, 451]. 3,5-Di-tert-butylcatechol (126) is oxidized by peracetic acid (actually a mixture of AcOOH, AcOOH, AcOH, H_2O , and H_2O_2) to the lactone (141). It was shown that the yield of (141) is increased by adding Fe(III) acetate as catalyst [452].

Secondary alcohols are oxidized to ketones by N-methylmorpholine N-oxide and a catalytic amount of RuCl₃.3H₂O or Ru(PPh₃)₃Cl₂ as catalyst. Spectral studies revealed that a Ru(V)-oxo species is formed in situ which reacts with the substrate in the rate-determining step [453,454]. Alcohols were oxidized to aldehydes or ketones with N-methylmorpholine N-oxide and $(Bu_AN)(RuO_A)$ or $(Pr_AN)(RuO_A)$ as catalysts. The reaction was preferably carried out in CH₂Cl₂ in the presence of molecular sieves (to eliminate water) and resulted in 70-98% yields of the corresponding carbonyl compounds [455]. Secondary alcohols poorly soluble in water could be oxidized with high yields to the corresponding ketones by $NaIO_4$ using RuO_2 as catalyst and a quaternary ammonium salt as phase transfer agent. Care had to be taken, however, to avoid uncontrolled exothermic oxidations [456]. Benzyl alcohols were oxidized selectively to the corresponding benzaldehydes by CCl_4 and Na_2CO_3 at reflux temperature with a combination of $RuCl_3$. $3H_2O$ and didecyldimethylammonium bromide (DDAB) as catalyst:

 $PhCH_2OH + OCl_4 + Na_2CO_3 \longrightarrow PhCHO + CHCl_3 + NaHOO_3 + NaCl$

The Ru salt is insoluble in CCl₄ but in the presence of DDAB it gave a clear brown solution; in the absence of DDAB no reaction was

562

observed and the highest reaction rate was obtained at a DDAB : Ru = 2:1 molar ratio [457]. The kinetics of the Ru(III)-catalyzed oxidation of benzyl alcohol by bromamine-T in perchloric acid was determined [458]. Oxidation of 1,2-butanediol and 1,3-butanediol by $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}$ using RuO₄ as catalyst was studied. Kinetic results suggest that hydride ion is transferred from the diol to Ru within a complex which then decomposes yielding aldehyde in the slow step [459]. Kinetics of the Ru(III)-catalyzed oxidation of diethylene glycol and ethyl diethylene glycol by N-bromosuccinimide have been investigated. Oxidation products were the corresponding aldehydes [460]. Oxidative cleavage of cyclic allylic alcohols and α , β -unsaturated ketones to diacids or ketoacids by NaIO₄ and RuO₄ (as catalyst) was reported. The stereochemistry of the starting materials was conserved as shown for the allylic alcohol (222) [461].



The kinetics of the Ru(III)-catalyzed oxidation of aldoses by N-bromosuccinimide in aqueous AcOH was determined [462]. Phenols were oxidized to p-quinones by PhIO using RuCl₂(PPh₃)₃ as catalyst. If hydroquinones were oxidized in this way, the Ru complex had little effect on the reaction [463]. The kinetics of oxidation of ascorbic acid to dehydroascorbic acid by H_2O_2 catalyzed by Ru(III)--EDTA was studied. Ruthenium(III) is reduced to ruthenium(II) in the rate-determining step and is reoxidized by H_2O_2 [464].

The kinetics of the $0s0_4$ -catalyzed oxidation of benzylphenylglycolic acids by alkaline $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}$ was studied in 30% aqueous tBuOH. The proposed mechanism involves the formation of a complex between Os(VIII) and the acid anion which rapidly decomposes and the reduced Os species is reoxidized by $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}$ [465]. Rate constants were determined for the oxidation of benzoin and some of its derivatives by $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}$ in the presence of OsO₄ in aqueous tBuOH [466]. Diols are oxidized to lactones with N-iodosuccinimide and silver acetate in refluxing benzene solution according the following stoichiometry:



Hydroxy aldehydes are formed as intermediates [467]. See also [341, 380, 471].

d) Oxidation of N-containing Organic Compounds

Oxidation of 1,2,3,4-tetrahydroquinolines (223, and substituted derivatives) to the corresponding hydroxamic acids (224) was successfully carried out with H_2O_2 and Na_2WO_4 as catalyst. Isolated yields were between 52-85% [468].



The TcO_4^- ion oxidizes diphenylamine in the presence of Cu^{2+} as catalyst to the diquinonedimine (225). The catalytic activity of Cu^{2+} is probably due to the formation of a complex between this cation and protonated diphenylamine [469].



Oxidation of L-catecholamines to the corresponding quinones by H_2O_2 catalyzed by $[Fe(tetpy)(OH)_2]^+$ ions anchored to poly(D-glutamate) or poly(L-glutamate) was carried out. The activity of the two enantiomeric catalysts was practically identical if the iron/polymer ratio was low but catalysts having a higher iron content did show significant enantioselectivity [470]. Anhydrous FeCl₃₀ catalyzes in dry MeCN the demethylation of N,N-dimethylaniline,the epoxidation of olefins and the oxidative cleavage of 1,2-diols by H_2O_2 . The products closely parallel those that result from their enzymatic oxidation by cytochrome P 450 [471]. The catalytic effect of Fe(III) on the oxidation of <u>o</u>-dianisidine by $S_2 O_8^{2-}$ in the presence of phen was described; this reaction could be used for the determination of iron [472]. Oxidation of 3,5-diaminobenzoic acid dihydrochloride by H_2O_2 is very effectively catalyzed by Fe(III); this reaction can be used for the determination of Fe(III) [473]. (TPP)FeCl and (TPP)MnCl were found to be very effective catalysts for the oxidation of nitroso compounds to nitro compounds by PhIO, even at -78°C. Other oxygen donors like peroxides or NaOCl were less efficient in combination with these two metal porphyrins [474].

The kinetics and mechanism of oxidation of murexide by periodate catalyzed by K_2IrCl_6 was studied [475].

See also [364, 411, 416].

e) Oxidation of P-, S-, or Se-containing Organic Compounds

Cyclopropyl phenyl sulfide was oxidized to the corresponding sulfoxide by tBuOOH with 73% chemical yield and 95% o.y. using a catalyst formed in situ from $\text{Ti}(\text{OPr}^1)_4$, (R,R)-diethyl tartrate, and H_2O in CH_2Cl_2 [476], The binuclear Ti(IV) complex Cl(L)TiOTi(L)Cl(L = N,N'-disalicylidene-(R,R)-cyclohexanediamine) catalyzes asymmetric oxidation of PhSMe with Ph₃COOH to give the corresponding (R)-sulfoxide with 53% o.y. Enantioselectivity of the reaction is highly solvent dependent, the best result was obtained in MeOH [477]. Thioanisole was oxidized by H_2O_2 in the presence of the chiral Ti complexes (226; R = R' = H,Me,Ph; RR' = (CH₂)₄ or their HClO₄ adducts. Low enantiomeric excesses of PhS(O)Me were obtained [478].



The rates of oxidation to sulfones of three sulfoxides, Bu_2SO , PhMeSO, and Ph_2SO , with H_2O_2 in the presence of catalytic amounts of $MOO_2(acac)_2$ have been measured in EtOH [479].

The dithiapyridinophane (227) was oxidized at $60-85^{\circ}C$ with H_2O_2 in the presence of $Na_2WO_4.2H_2O$ mainly to the disulfone (228); the corresponding monoxide, dioxide and trioxide were formed in minor amounts as byproducts [480].



Sulfur or selenium derivatives of pentacovalent phosphorus like Ph_3PS or $(EtO)_2PhPSe$ could be transformed into the corresponding oxides by oxidation with $(Bu_4N)^+(IO_4)^-$ and (TPP)MnCl as catalyst. Yields were further improved by the addition of imidazole [481]. Oxidation of the selenides (229) with the Sharpless reagent (tBuOOH + Ti(OPr¹)₄ + diisopropyltartrate) afforded the corresponding selenoxides (230) with moderate optical yields (18-40%) [482].



- 6. Stoichiometric Oxidation of Organic Compounds with High Valent Transition Metal Complexes
- a) Oxidation of Hydrocarbons or Hydrocarbon Groups

The kinetics and mechanism of the oxidation of both saturated and unsaturated cyclic hydrocarbons by $Ce(ClO_4)_4$ were studied [483]. Oxidation of carboxylic acids by Ce(IV) involves the formation of an intermediate complex the decomposition of which is rate determining [484]. Cerium(IV) in aqueous methanesulfonic acid was found to be a useful reagent for the oxidation of alkylaromatic or polycyclic aromatic compounds to the corresponding aldehydes, ketones or quinones. The resulting Ce(III) solution could be reoxidized electrolytically [485]. Oxidation of anthracene with $Ce(OOCCF_3)_4$ in alcohols as solvents gave anthraquinone and 9-alkoxyanthracenes. Yield of alkoxylation was highest in the case of MeOH and decreased with increasing molecular weight and in the case of secondary or tertiary alcohols [486]. Oxidation of (231) and (232) with Ce^{4+} yields different products although both reactions proceed by a SET-mechanism. This suggests that the two substrates are transformed into different radical cations by electron abstraction [487].



Oxidation of benzylic hydrocarbons, e.g. PhEt, Ph_2CH_2 etc. in benzene with pyridinium chlorochromate gave the corresponding carbonyl compounds in 60-88% yield [487a]. Methyl <u>trans</u>-2-octadecenoate was oxidized at the allylic position by CrO_3 in AcOH-Ac₂O-benzene to give $\underline{\text{trans}}$ -Me(CH₂)₁₃COCH=CHCOOMe with 75% yield [488]. Pyridinium chlorochromate in refluxing CH₂Cl₂ was an effective reagent for allylic and benzylic oxidations of activated methylene groups to yield the corresponding ketones; e.g. (233a) was oxidized to (233b) with 54% yield [489].



Polycyclic hydrocarbons were oxidized by Cro_3 in $CH_2Cl_2/AcOH/Ac_2O$ to alcohols or ketones. Thus, for example, 5α -androstane (234) was converted to (235) in 47% yield [490].



Olefin (236) could be oxidized in the allylic position to ketone (237) with $\text{CrO}_3^{-}(\text{py})_2$ complex in methylene chloride in 41% yield [491].



Pyridinium chlorochromate has been found to be a selective reagent for the oxidative cleavage of enol ethers to esters (e.g. 238) or keto lactones (e.g. 239) in high yields [492].



Secondodecahedrene (240) was transformed by Na_2CrO_4 and $AcOH/Ac_2O$ regiospecifically into the diepoxide (242). The mono-epoxide (241) is an intermediate of this unusual reaction [493].



Oxidation of carboxylic acids by $(MeBu_3N)(MnO_4)$ shows general acid catalysis, the carboxylic acid being at the same time both reducing agent and catalyst. A probable explanation of this can be the intermediate formation of permanganic acid as a very active oxidizing agent [494]. The kinetics and mechanism of the oxidation of unsaturated carboxylic acids by $(MeBu_3N)(MnO_4)$ has been studied in CH_2Cl_2 solutions. It was proposed that the reaction is initiated by the formation of an olefin-Mn π -complex which then rearranges into a Mn(V) cyclic diester and then undergoes a rapid (free radical) reduction to Mn(III) [495]. The kinetics of oxidation of C_2-C_5 carboxylic acids by KMnO₄ in aqueous H_2SO_4 have been studied. HMnO₄ was proposed to be the reactive species [496]. The kinetic isotope effect of ¹⁴C in the oxidation of EtCOO⁻ with KMnO₄ (at the α - and β -carbon atoms), as well as that of T in CH₃CHTCOO⁻ in the same reaction was determined [497]. Potassium permanganate supported on silica gel was found to be an effective reagent for the oxidative fission of C=C double bonds at room temperature. The reaction could be performed in a chromatographic column [498]. Oxidation of thujopsene (243) with KMnO₄ results in the formation of several neutral products. In dry acetone (244) and (245), in aqueous acetone (246) and (247) are formed as main products [499].



Oxidation of the steroidal dienes (248) and (249) with $KMnO_4$ -NaIO₄ gave the epoxydiols (250) and (251,252), respectively [500].



Oxidation of di- and trisubstituted olefins with Mn(III) acetate in the presence of α -cyanoacetamide gave a wide range of products including butenolides, butenamides, pyrrolones, and pyrrolidones. These reactions also produced glycols or ketones by direct oxidation of the olefins [501]. The mechanism of oxidation of alkenes with Mn(III) acetate in the presence of AcOH yielding lactones and 1,2-diacetates has been investigated. Three distinct processes were identified [502]. Cholestenone (253; R = H) was oxidized by Mn(OAc)₃ in EtCOOH-(EtCO)₂O to give the lactone (254) and the esters (253; R = AcO, EtCOO) [503].



Oxidative cyclization of unsaturated β -ketoacids, β -ketoesters and malonic acids with Mn(OAc)₃.2H₂O has been applied for the preparation of several polycyclic compounds like (255) and (256). The new rings were formed either through cations [504] or radicals [505] as intermediates.



The complexes LMnO (L = tetra-p-methoxyphenyl or tetra-p-methoxycarbonylphenyl porphyrinato) prepared from LMnCl with PhIO, oxidize hydrocarbons [506].

Oxidation of 9,10-dialkylanthracenes with $[(phen)_3Fe](PF_6)_3$ has been investigated. Oxidation took place mainly at the alkyl groups and yielded hydroxymethyl and aldehyde derivatives [507]. The oxidation of Illinois No.6 coal proceeded readily with Ru(VIII) to provide a mixture of aliphatic and aromatic carboxylic acids [508]. The selective cleavage of the olefinic C=C bond of hydroxyaryl alkenes by RuO₄ was studied. Whereas phenols were rapidly oxidized with fragmentation, the aromatic nuclei of their O-trifluoroacetates were unaffected under dry conditions [509]. The Ru(VI) complex <u>cis</u>-[Ru(6,6'-Cl₂bpy)₂O₂]²⁺ rapidly oxidized organic compounds with unactivated C-H and C=C bonds at room temperature in MeCN solution; for example cyclohexane was oxidized to cyclohexanone or styrene to benzaldehyde and styrene oxide [510].

Oxidation of the nonbenzenoid aromatic hydrocarbon isopyrene (257) with OsO_4 gave the <u>cis</u>-1,2-dihydroxy compound (258). Conversion of (257) into (258), albeit in lower yield, was also achieved with KMnO₄ under phase-transfer conditions [511].



Osmylation of unsaturated carbohydrate derivatives like (259) with OsO_4 resulted in the preparation of synthetically useful octose derivatives e.g. (260) [512].





259

260

Enantioselective <u>cis</u> dihydroxylation of di- or trisubstituted <u>trans</u>-olefins was achieved by using OsO_4 in the presence of the chiral amine (261). Since both enantiomers of (261) are readily available, this method allows the synthesis of both enantiomers of the diols [513].



Oxidation of <u>p</u>-xylene with Co(III)-acetate at $120^{\circ}C$ produces 4-methylbenzaldehyde, 4-methylbenzyl alcohol and 4-methylbenzyl acetate in about 50% total yield. Addition of water decreases, addition of <u>p</u>-toluic acid increases the yield of oxidized products [514].

Hydrocarbons (even methane) could be oxidized to trifluoroacetates using $Pd(OAc)_2$ as oxidant in CF₃COOH as solvent at 80^OC:

 $R-H + Pd(OAc)_2 \xrightarrow{CF_3COOH} R-OOCCF_3 + Pd(O)$

Since esters can be hydrolyzed to alcohols the overall reaction can be regarded as hydroxylation of a hydrocarbon. For p-xylene and toluene, attack on the ring rather than the benzylic position accounted for 90-97% of the monotrifluoroacetate esters suggesting that radical pathways are not involved in the reaction. Using $K_2S_2O_8$ as cooxidant, the oxidation could be made catalytic in Pd(II) [515]. Oxidation of toluene, p-xylene, mesitylene, and durene by Pd(II) was examined in CF₃COOH and AcOH-NaOAc. Two mechanisms were proposed [516]. 1,2-Dimethyl-1,4-cyclohexadiene (262) reacts with (MeCN)₂PdCl₂ and CuCl₂ in aqueous acetone at 20°C in the presence of NaHCO₃ to give the π -allyl Pd complex (264) and the Wacker oxidation product (263) [517].



Saturated carboxylic acids having H at the α carbon atom are oxidized by CuSO₄ under hydrothermal conditions; CO₂ is evolved and lower carboxylic acids and ketones are formed. Metallic Cu precipitates [518]. Oxidation of unsaturated β -keto esters like (265) with Mn(OAc)₃.2H₂O and Cu(OAc)₂.H₂O leads to bicyclic products such as (266). This oxidative cyclization proceeds by a free radical mechanism and both oxidants act by abstracting hydrogen from a tertiary carbon atom [519].



See also [548, 567, 597, 598].

b) Epoxidation of Olefins

A peroxo-molybdenum complex prepared from (cetylpyridinium)₃ $(PMo_{12}O_{40})$ and aqueous H_2O_2 was used as oxidant for the epoxidation of olefins, the oxidation of alcohols to the corresponding carbonyl compounds, and the oxidation of diols to lactones. The used oxidant could be partly regenerated with H_2O_2 [520]. The Ru(V) oxoalkyl (Me_3SiCH_2)_3Ru(O)Ru(O)(CH_2SiMe_3)_3 reacts stoichiometrically with propene to give epoxide [521]. The Pd superoxo complexes formed from Pd(OAc)₂ or Pd(OOCEt)₂ and H_2O_2 in chloroform oxidize ethene to ethylene oxide and propene to propylene oxide and acetone. Rates of oxidation are rather high [522].

c) Oxidation of O-containing Functional Groups

The <u>ortho</u>-benzoquinones (267, R = CH=CHCOOH, CH_2CH_2COOH , CH_2CH_2COOMe , $CH_2CH(NH_2)COOH$) were prepared by ceric ammonium nitrate oxidation of the corresponding catechols [523].



Oxidation of (268, $R = (CH_2CH=CMeCH_2)_9H$) with $Ce(NH_4)_2(NO_3)_6$, preferably in the presence of 2,6-pyridinedicarboxylic acid, gave the corresponding ubiquinone (269) in 85% yield [524].



Dihydroxy fumaric acid is oxidized by U(VI) [525].

The kinetics of oxidation of several diols and polyols with vanadium(V) have been studied in perchloric acid. The results supported $V(OH)_2^{3+}$ as the main oxidizing species [526]. Oxidation of acetoin with vanadium(V) in $HClO_4$ solution was found to be first order in V and acetoin, and second order in H⁺. Formation of a radical by H atom transfer in the decomposition of an acetoin - vanadium(V) complex was suggested as the rate-determining step [527]. Oxidation of phenols (270) with VOF₃ gave the coupling products (271) in 63-67% yield [528].



Rate constants were determined for the oxidation of L-(+)-tartaric acid with $K_2Cr_2O_7$ in acid medium. Formation of an intermediate Cr(V) species was detected spectrophotometrically [529]. The kinetics of oxidation of α -hydroxy acids by acidic dichromate has been determined. A reaction path involving the formation of a cyclic chromate ester which decomposes in the rate-limiting step by oxidative decarboxylation, was suggested [530]. Oxidation of ascorbate by Cr(VI) was studied by EPR and relatively long-lived Cr(V) species were identified [531]. The catalytic effect of carboxylic acids on the oxidation of linalool to citrals with $(NH_{4})_{2}Cr_{2}O_{7} + H_{2}SO_{4} + H_{2}O$ in benzene was studied. The most efficient carboxylic acid was tBuCOOH [532]. The oxidation of acetaldehyde to acetic acid by Cr(VI) in aqueous $HClo_4$ was found to be first order in substrate, $HCrO_4^-$, and H^+ [533]. Oxidation of larixol (272) by $Na_2Cr_2O_7 + H_2SO_4$ in AcOH gave among other products (273; two steroisomers) and (274) [534].



Methyl esters may be prepared by oxidizing aldehydes and an excess of MeOH in dry THF by pyridinium dichromate. In fact, methyl hemiacetals are being oxidized under such conditions [535]. Pyridinium bromochromate was found to be an efficient oxidant for alcohols; benzyl alcohol was converted to benzaldehyde with 78% yield [536]. Quinolinium chlorochromate selectively oxidized primary alcohols in the presence of secondary alcohols; if longer reaction times were used, also the secondary alcohols were oxidized to the corresponding carbonyl compounds [537, 538]. Oxidation of cholesterol with pyridinium chlorochromate gave ketone (275) [539].



Oxidative rearrangement of enynols (e.g. 276) induced by pyridinium dichromate was employed for the synthesis of enynones (277). Good yields could be achieved only in the case of cyclic alcohols [540].



Ascorbic acid is rapidly oxidized to dehydroascorbic acid by the Cr(V) chelate (278) in solutions buffered by the ligand acid. Oxidation proceeds by single-electron steps [541].



The kinetics of oxidation of ascorbic acid by molybdozirconophosphoric acid was determined [542]. The Mo-picolinate N-oxido complex (279) oxidizes alcohols in dichloroethane solution to the corresponding carbonyl compounds at 50°C with very high yields. This oxidant is equally effective for primary and secondary alcohols; in the case of geraniol, double-bond epoxidation is a competing reaction [543].



Styrene oxide is oxidized by the diperoxomolybdenum(VI) complex (280, L = HMPA) to benzaldehyde and formic acid according to the following stoichiometry [544]:



280

The kinetics of oxidation of α -hydroxy acids by Mn(III) were determined. The order of reactivity was benzilic > mandelic > lactic acid [545]. Oxidative cyclization of ω -unsaturated- β -dicarbonyl compounds like (281) with Mn(III) acetate affords 2-substituted phenols (282). If the terminal carbon atom of the alkene is substituted by alkyl groups, the ring closure leads to cyclopentanone derivatives with low yields [546].



The initial rate of oxidation of sodium hydrogen tartrate by KMnO_4 and the decomposition of the intermediate Mn(III) species was studied [547]. Stable solutions of Mn_2O_7 in CCl₄ have been prepared and used for the oxidation of organic compounds between -20 and -80°C. Primary alcohols were oxidized to carboxylic acids, secondary alcohols to ketones, olefins to carboxylic acids (with rupture of the C=C bond) and ethers to esters or lactones (transformation of the α -methylene group into a carbonyl function). Yields were generally high (70-90%) [548]. Bis(pyridine) silver permanganate has been found to be a useful oxidant for the preparation of l-phenylnaphthalene lactones (283; R,R = OMe, OMe or OCH₂O groups) from the corresponding diols [549].



Kinetic and spectroscopic evidence was reported for the formation of an intermediate Fe(III) oxalate-ascorbate complex during the oxidation of L-ascorbic acid by $K_3[Fe(C_2O_4)_3]$ [550].

The kinetics of oxidation of alcohols by $[(bpy)_2(py)Ru(0)]^{2+}$ has been studied. The reactions were first order in alcohol and in oxidant. Spectral evidence and isotope data suggested that oxidation occured by a two-electron, hydride transfer [552]. Primary alcohols are oxidized to aldehydes by $\operatorname{cis}[\operatorname{Ru}(\operatorname{bpy})_2(L)(0)]^{2+}$ complexes (L = PPh₃, PEt₃) in aqueous solution. More hydrophobic alcohols are oxidized faster which suggests that prior to oxidation the alcohol hydrophobically associates with the <u>cis</u>-phosphine ligand, thus increasing the concentration of the alcohol in the vicinity of the oxo site [553]. The Ru(VI) complex [Ru(TMC)(0)₂] (PF₆)₂ oxidizes benzyl alcohol to benzaldehyde and also catalyzes with low turnover numbers the oxidation of benzyl alcohol with O₂ to benzaldehyde. The Ru(IV) complex [Ru(TMC)O(MeCN)](ClO₄)₂ acts similarly but is a weaker oxidant [554].



The Os(VI) complex (287) oxidizes benzyl alcohol to benzaldehyde in the presence of PPh_3 . In the absence of PPh_3 no reaction occurs, the actual oxidant is the Os(IV) complex (288; L = Ph_3PO) which is formed from (287) and PPh_3 [555].



Oxidation of formate by 12-tungstatocobaltate(III) is catalyzed by alkali metal cations [556]. Oxidation of 2,6-disubstituted phenols by $(py)(salen)Co(O_2)$ was studied in CHCl₃ and MeOH. The composition of products depended on the solvent used [557].

580

The rates of oxidation of benzaldehyde and six substituted benzaldehydes by Ni(III) were measured in aqueous AcOH. Homolytic cleavage of the aldehydic C-H bond was proposed as the slow step [558]. The kinetics of oxidation of some aliphatic alcohols by a Ni(IV)-periodate complex has been studied. A mechanism involving complex formation between Ni(IV) and the alcohol followed by its dissociation in the rate determining step was suggested [559].

The anti-cancer drug platinum complex (289) oxidizes ascorbic acid to dehydroascorbic acid in an equilibrium reaction. A twoelectron redox process has been proposed for this reaction [560].



The kinetics and mechanism of oxidation of D-fructose by py_4Cu^{2+} in the presence of free py were studied. An enediol anion was proposed as the reacting species and the rate of enolization as the rate determining step [561]. The oxidative coupling of 2,6--dimethylphenol by Cu(II) complexes of polystyrene-bound 4-(N,N--dimethylamino)pyridine was studied. The selectivity for polyphenylene oxide formation exceeded 95% [562].

Succinic acid, several α -hydroxy acids (lactic acid, malic acid, glycolic acid, and tartaric acid), and some l,2-glycols were oxidized with Ag(II) perchlorate in acidic media. The carboxylic acids furnished CO₂ and organic products containing one carbon atom less than the substrate, and glycols were oxidized to the corresponding aldehydes. The oxidations were first order both in Ag(II) and substrate [563].

See also [400].

d) Oxidation of N-containing Organic Compounds

The kinetics of oxidation of nitroanilines with Ce(IV) in aqueous perchloric acid was determined [564]. The oxidation of oxipiperidinecarboxylate esters (290; R = Ph, 2-pyridyl) by $Ce(SO_4)_2$ gave (291) and the dehydrogenation products (292) and (293) [565].



Kinetics of oxidative deamination-decarboxylation of L-proline and L-hydroxyproline by vanadium(V) was studied and a mechanism was proposed [566].

The kinetics of oxidation of <u>trans</u>-stilbene and indene by Cr(VI) and vanadium(V) were determined [567]. Oxidation of aromatic primary amines by CrO_2Cl_2 in CCl_4 or $CHCl_3$ resulted in the formation of intermediate solid adducts, which on hydrolysis gave azobenzenes, 1,4-benzoquinones and 1,4-benzoquinone derivatives [568]. Magnetic and IR measurements revealed that the adducts contain Cr(IV) with 1,4-benzoquinone imines and di-imines as ligands [569].

Oxidation of glycine by permanganate ion in aqueous phosphate buffers proceeds by a noncatalytic and a catalytic route in which colloidal MnO_2 formed as a reaction product is the catalyst. Based on kinetic experiments mechanisms for both reactions paths were suggested [570]. The kinetics and mechanism of the permanganate ion oxidation of different 3-pyridinyl-2-propendates has been

582

studied. The reaction was found to be first order both in substrate and oxidant [571]. The hydrazines (294; R = H, NO_2) were oxidized to the corresponding hydrazils (295) by $KMnO_4$ in CH_2Cl_2 in the presence of Bu_4NBr [572].



Oxidation of diphenylamines by alkaline $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}$ in aqueous MeOH is first order in oxidant and substrate. Diphenylaminyl radicals are formed as intermediates which can be detected by ESR spectroscopy [573]. Oxidation of benzylamines with alkaline hexacyanoferrate was also found to be first order in both substrate and oxidant. A radical intermediate was characterized by ESR spectroscopy [574]. Oxidation products of PhNRR' (R = Me,Et; R' = H,R) were characterized as PhNRCHO (R = H,Me) [575]. Oxidation of pyridinium salts by $K_3Fe(CN)_6$ gave the corresponding 2-pyridones; thus for example azafluorenones (297) were prepared from azafluorene salts (296) [576].



N-Alkylamides containing a donor group α or β to the amide N or a donor alkyl function in the acyl group were oxidized smoothly by RuO₄ to the corresponding imides [577]. N-Alkyllactams were oxidized with RuO₄. Four- and eight-membered lactams were oxidized at the exocyclic carbon to produce N-acyllactams, while five- and six-membered lactams underwent endocyclic oxidation to yield cyclic oxidation to yield cyclic imides. Seven-membered lactams yielded mixtures of the two products [578]. The N-protected proline esters (298, R = PhCH₂, $p-O_2NC_6H_4$, CCl₃CH₂, and tBu) were oxidized with RuO₄ to the corresponding pyroglutamic esters (299). The group PhCH₂OOC was unstable under these conditions but the other protective groups remained intact and could be removed after oxidation without racemization [579].



Oxidation of the L-prolinol derivative (300) with RuO_4 gave the pyrrolidone (301) [580].



Oxidative coupling of phenylalkyltetrahydroisoquinolines (302) to compounds having the aporphine or homoaporphine skeleton (303) was successfully carried out using $Ru(OOCCF_3)_4$ as oxidizing agent. Yields of this biomimetic reaction were around 70% [581].



584

The oxochlorin (304a) reacts with OsO_4 to yield the bacteriochlorin (305), the Zn complex (304b), however, transforms exlusively into the isobacteriochlorin (306) [582].



Oxidation of methylquinolinecarboxylic acids by Ni peroxide in aqueous base gave the corresponding dicarboxylic acids [583].

Oxidation of <u>p</u>-phenylenediamine with $AgNO_3$ in aqueous acid solution showed an induction period; this induction period was not observed if clusters of Ag were present. In dilute solutions the main reaction was first order in both reactants [584]. The kinetics of oxidation of benzaldoxime and some substituted benzaldoximes by Ag(III) have been determined [585].

Oxidizing octaethylporphyrin with Na(AuCl₄) transformed one of the ethyl groups into a chlorovinyl (-CH=CHCl) group [586]. See also [487, 589, 596].

e) Oxidation of P-, S-, Si-, or B- containing Organic Compounds

The Fe(II)-porphyrin complex (TPP)Fe reacts with amine N-oxides to form a not fully characterized oxoiron(IV) species which, in turn, oxidizes Ph_3P to Ph_3PO at $-56^{\circ}C$ [587]. The water soluble phosphine $P(C_6H_4SO_3Na)_3$ is oxidized by $RhCl_3.3H_2O$ in water to the corresponding phosphine oxide; the O atom originates from a water molecule and Rh(III) is reduced to Rh(I) [588]. A one-step synthesis for the cysteine-DOPA derivative (307) was achieved by adding cysteine to dopaquinone (308), which was generated <u>in situ</u> by oxidation of DOPA with ceric ammonium nitrate in H_2SO_4 [589].



Vanadium(V) oxidizes thiols like cystein or glutathion and is reduced to V^{4+} . Vanadium(V)-thioester intermediates were proposed as intermediates [590]. The kinetics of cooxidation of substituted phenyl methyl sulfoxides and oxalic acid with Cr(VI) in the presence of HClO₄ was determined. Oxidation products were sulfones and CO₂ [591]. The Cr(V) complex (278) rapidly oxidizes thiolactic acid and cysteine to the corresponding disulfides. Oxidation proceeds by single-electron steps [592]. Dimethylsulfoxide is oxidized by MnO₄ to dimethylsulfone in the presence of excess pyrophosphate (pyr) according the following stoichiometry:

$$2 \text{ DMSO} + \text{MnO}_{4} + 4 \text{ H}^{+} - \frac{\text{pyr}}{2} 2 \text{ DMSO}_{2} + [\text{Mn}(\text{pyr})_{3}]^{3+} + 2 \text{ H}_{2}\text{O}$$

The rate-determining step is the attack of MnO_4^- at the sulfur atom of DMSO [593]. Oxidation of thioglycolic acid by acidic $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}$ gave dithiodiglycolic acid. The reaction rate was first order in substrate, oxidant, and acid [594]. Dimethyl sulfide is oxidized to dimethyl sulfoxide and the latter to dimethyl sulfone by $[(bpy)_2(py)Ru(0)]^{2+}$. Both reactions occur by oxygen atom transfer; the ratio of reaction rates is 120 in favor of sulfide oxidation [595]. The kinetics of oxidation of 2-mercaptopyridine to the corresponding disulfide with Ag(cyclam)²⁺ follows a second-order rate law. Probably a penta-coordinated species is involved in the electron-transfer reactions [596].

Hydroxylation of the chiral allylsilanes (309) with OsO_4 gave the diastereomeric diols (310) and (311); the ratio (310):(311) increased with increasing R group (Me < Pr < Ph). A similar trend was noted in case of the <u>cis</u> isomers of (309) [597].



Oxidation of trialkylboranes containing primary alkyl groups with pyridinium chlorochromate in CH_2Cl_2 provides the corresponding aldehydes in good yields. The combination of this procedure with the hydroboration of terminal alkenes represents a direct convenient method for the transformation of alkenes into the corresponding aldehydes [598]. Cycloalkylboranes, prepared by hydroboration of cycloalkenes, were oxidized to ketones with aqueous $H_2Cr_2O_7$ [599].

7. Electrooxidation and Photooxidation

Organic compounds were oxidized by Ce(IV) and the Ce(III) formed regenerated by anodic oxidation. This Ce-catalyzed electrooxidation was applied for the oxidation of dimedone to 3,3-dimethylglutaric acid and of xylenes to tolylaldehydes [600]. Electrochemical oxidation of anthracene to anthraquinone in MeOH solution was shown to be catalyzed by Ce-loaded carbon fiber electrodes [601].

Regeneration of dichromate used in the oxidation of alcohols by anodic oxidation was described. The alcohols oxidized were benzyl alcohol, cinnamyl alcohol, allyl alcohol, cyclohexanol, and borneol [602]. The preparation of benzaldehyde by electrochemical oxidation of toluene in the presence of MnSO₄ was described [603].

The Ru(IV)-monooxo complexes <u>trans-[Ru(TMC)O(X)](ClO₄)</u> (TMC = 286, X = Cl⁻, NCO⁻, N₃⁻) catalyze the electrooxidation of benzyl alcohol to benzaldehyde. The catalysts gradually lose their activity during the course of electrooxidation; this is due to their decomposition during the period that they are in the Ru(V) oxidation state [604]. The complex [Ru(III)(L)(H₂O)]²⁺ (LH = 312) was shown to catalyze the electrooxidation of iPrOH to acetone and the

epoxidation of olefins by PhIO [605].



Electrooxidation of alcohols to the corresponding carbonyl compounds in the presence of the Os complex (313) led to the discovery of several catalytic systems which are formed via the degradation of the chelating ligand. The principal species in the catalytically active solutions have been identified [606].



Arylthiomethyltrimethylsilanes could be oxidized by indirect electrooxidation using a Ni³⁺/Ni²⁺ redox couple with cyclam as ligand [607]:

$$\operatorname{Ar-S-CH}_2-\operatorname{SiMe}_3 + \operatorname{ROH} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ar-S-CH}_2-\operatorname{OR} + \operatorname{Me}_3\operatorname{Si}^+ + \operatorname{H}^+$$

Oxidation of 1-alkenes to methyl ketones and of cycloalkanes to the corresponding cyclic ketones proceeds smoothly with a catalytic system composed of $Pd(OAc)_2$ and benzoquinone, combined with electrochemical oxidation. Selection of the solvent is important; best results were obtained in MeCN and DMSO [608]. The oxidative properties of Pd(II) ions in the electrooxidation of formic acid on Pd anodes have been discussed [609]. Anodic oxidation of 1,3cyclohexadiene mediated by $Pd(OAc)_2$ and hydroquinone in acetic acid was shown to produce either <u>trans</u>- or <u>cis</u>-1,4-diacetoxycyclohex-2ene depending on the conditions [610]. Electrolysis of a propene--saturated AgOAc solution at O-20^OC in the presence of py led to a
red Ag(II) complex which reacted with propene to give propylene oxide and Ag(I); ethene and butenes could be oxidized in this way too. Some higher olefins were subjected to such oxidation in presence of an anionic detergent [611].

Oxidation of cycloparaffins with O_2 could be photochemically promoted by ceric ammonium nitrate. The method was especially efficient and selective for the transformation of adamantane into 1-adamantanol [612]. Photooxidation of cyclohexene using air and visible light is catalyzed by titanyl and vanadyl tetraphenylporphyrin monomers and dimers. Oxidation products were epoxy cyclohexene, 2-cyclohexene-1-ol, and 2-cyclohexene-1-one [613]. Photooxygenation of dicyclopentadiene in the presence of Ti(OPr^i)₄ gave the <u>exo</u>-hydroxy epoxide (314) in 70% yield. Sharpless epoxidation of the allylic alcohols (315) with tBuOOH and VO(acac)₂ as catalyst gave quantitatively (314) starting from the <u>exo</u>-alcohol (315a) but only dienone (316) and epoxy enone (317) from the <u>endo</u>-alcohol (315b) [614].



Photochemical and thermal oxidation of amino acids with Cr(VT) has been studied. In both cases Cr(V) was an intermediate of the reactions [615]. Secondary alcohols were photooxidized to the corresponding ketones in the presence of the tungstate polyanions $[PW_{12}O_{40}]^{3-}$ and $[W_{10}O_{32}]^{4-}$ in homogeneous systems using H₂O/MeCN or MeCN as solvent. Photooxidation of the organic substrates was accompanied by the photoreduction of these polyanions and the catalytic cycle was closed by reoxidation of the reduced polyanions by O₂ [616]. Photocatalytic oxidation of alcohols to the corresponding carbonyl compounds with O₂ in the presence of heteropolytungstates like $[PW_{12}O_{40}]^{3-}$ in acetonitrile or water solution was studied. Strong alcohol precomplexation was observed and high turnover numbers (>1000) could be achieved [617].

Hydrocarbons could be oxidized with $(TPP)Mn(ClO_4)$ or $(TPP)Mn(IO_{4})$ under irradiation. The oxidation proceeded either stoichiometrically when the Mn complex was transformed into (TPP)MnCl or (TPP)MnI, respectively, or catalytically in the presence of excess $(R_4N)(ClO_4)$ or $(R_4N)(IO_4)$. Oxidation products were alcohols, aldehydes, ketones, and epoxides [618]. Photooxidation of phenol by 0_2 , Fe³⁺, or $C(NO_2)_4$ is catalyzed by bpy complexes of Cr(III) in aqueous solutions [619]. Photochemical oxidation of ascorbic acid to dehydroascorbic acid is catalyzed by Pt-loaded TiO₂ in an aqueous solution of $(bpy)_3 Ru^{2+}$. The system uses ascorbic acid as a sacrificial agent for the efficient evolution of H_2 from water [620]. Photolysis of <u>trans</u>- $[OS^{VI}(TMC)(0)_2]^{2+}$ or of $(Ph_4As)[Os^{VI}(CN)_4(O)_2]$ with PPh₃ or $(PhCH_2)_2S$ in MeCN resulted in the formation of Ph3PO and (PhCH2)2SO, respectively [621]. The irradiation of phenol in acetonitrile under 0_2 in the presence of chlorocuprates (Cu:Cl = 1:8) gave p-benzoquinone and catechol; the latter compound was the main product [622]. Alkylbenzenes were photooxidized by air at room temperature in the presence of Pt[NPhNC(S)SMe]₂ as catalyst precursor. For example, <u>p</u>-xylene was transformed mainly into p-tolyl benzaldehyde; p-methyl benzylalcohol and p-toluic acid were formed in minor amounts [623].

V. <u>Reviews</u>

Recent achievments, trends and prospects in homogeneous catalysis. 45 refs. [624].

Metalloporphyrins as biological and chemical catalysts. 41 refs. [625].

Homogeneous catalysis by metal clusters. 116 refs. [626].

Supported metal catalysts prepared from molecular metal clusters; organometallic surface chemistry. 42 refs. [627].

Catalysis by oxide-supported porphyrins and phthalocyanine complexes. 40 refs. [628].

Study of organometallic complexes of Rh fixed to oxide supports. 38 refs. [629].

Lanthanides in organic synthesis. 200 refs. [630].

Catalyst recycle in homogeneous catalytic reactions. 99 refs. [631].

Surface analogs of metal carbonyl adducts and their possible role in CO hydrogenation. 135 refs. [632].

Advances in hydroformylation catalysis [633].

Advances in the hydroformylation of olefins containing functional groups. 157 refs. [634].

Rhodium complex-catalyzed olefin hydroformylation reaction. 85 refs. [635].

Homogeneous catalysis in water (hydroformylation). 29 refs. [636].

Coal and biomass-based chemicals via carbonylation, hydroformylation, and homologation reactions. 26 refs. [637].

A new route to coordination catalysis by electrogeneration of organo transition metal active species (hydroformylation). 28 refs. [638].

The characterization and catalytic applications of heteronuclear cluster compounds of Fe, Ru, and Os (water gas shift reaction). 82 refs. [639].

Studies on mixed-metal clusters containing Co, Ru, and Rh and on the catalytic reactivity of homogeneous Ru-Rh and Ru-Co systems (MeOH homologation and water gas shift reaction). 63 refs. [640].

Catalytic C-C bond formation by carbonylation of organic substrates (results since 1984). 114 refs. [641].

Phase-transfer reactions catalyzed by metal complexes (reductions, carbonylations). 21 refs. [642].

Homogeneous catalysis of hydrogen isotope exchange. 21 refs. [643].

Activation mechanism of alkanes, arenes, and H₂ in aqueous Pt(II) halide solutions. 41 refs. [644].

Metal-containing polymeric catalysts for hydrogenation. 98 refs. [645].

Homogeneous hydrogenation: stereoselectivity due to intramolecular interactions. 71 refs. [646].

Catalytic asymmetric hydrogenation with homogeneous transition metal complexes. 34 refs. [647].

The use of platinum metal complexes in asymmetric catalysis. 21 refs. [648].

Supported asymmetric hydrogenation catalysts. 86 refs. [649].

Homogeneous catalytic hydrogenation, transfer hydrogenation and nitrobenzene carbonylation reactions with $\operatorname{Ru}_3(CO)_{12}$ as catalyst. 24 refs. [650].

Anionic carbonyl clusters as homogeneous and supported catalysts in hydrogenation and transfer hydrogenation reactions. 13 refs. [651].

Activation and selective functionalization of alkanes by some soluble transition metal systems (dehydrogenation). [652].

Activation of H_2 by Ru(II)-chelating phosphine complexes, and activation of O_2 by Ru(II) porphyrin complexes: an update. 47 refs. [653].

Metal-centered oxygen atom transfer reactions. 545 refs. [654].

Autoxidation route of organic compounds through metal-ion and bromide catalysis. 25 refs. [655].

Metalloporphyrins: efficient catalysts for oxidation reactions in two-phase systems. Comparison with biological systems. 38 refs. [656].

Catalytic oxidation and fine chemicals. 19 refs. [657].

Asymmetric oxidation mediated by organometallic species. 47 refs. [658].

Liquid-phase oxidation of aromatic hydrocarbons catalyzed by variable-valence metal ions. 20 ref. [659].

Recent methods for the oxidation of alcohols to carbonyl compounds. 34 refs. [660].

Cerium(IV) oxidation of organic compounds. 255 refs. [661].

Heteropolytungstate complexes as homogeneous oxidatively resistant catalysts for difficult selective organic oxidations. Functionalization of alkanes [662].

Reactions with Mn(III) acetate - oxidations. 144 refs. [663].

The oxidation of organic compounds by active MnO_2 . 769 refs. [664].

Direct O atom transfer reactions from O_2 catalyzed by dichlorotet-raaquaruthenium and Ru(III)-EDTA ions [665].

Catalytic oxidation of olefins to glycols via O₂ with an osmiumcopper system. [666].

Oxidations by Co compounds. 347 refs. [667].

Oxidation of organic compounds with Ni peroxide. 97 refs. [668].

Oxidation using Pd compounds. 110 refs. [669].

Roles of Pd in liquid-phase oxidation. 24 refs. [670].

Selective catalytic oxygenation of hydrocarbons with O₂ at room temperature - a completely inorganic mimic of monooxygenase enzymes (Pd catalysts). [671].

Oxidations of organic compounds catalyzed by Cu- and Co-amine complexes. 68 refs. [672].

Silver carbonate on celite oxidations. 261 refs. [673].

List of Abbreviations

acac	acetylacetonate
AS	Annual Survey of Hydroformylation, Reduction, and Oxidation
BINAP	see Fig.(23)
BPPM	see Fig.(6)
bpy	2,2'-bipyridine
chiraphos	see Fig.(218)
COD	l,5-cyclooctadiene
Co(salen)	see AS 1986, Fig.(169)
Ср	cyclopentadienyl
Су	cyclohexyl
cyclam	1,4,8,11-tetra-azacyclotetradecane; see Fig.(216a)
DIOP	see Fig.(217)
dipamp	see Fig.(46)
dmgH	dimethylglyoxime
dmpe	bis(dimethylphosphino)ethane, Me ₂ PCH ₂ CH ₂ PMe ₂
dppb	bis(diphenylphosphino)butane, $Ph_2P(CH_2)_4PPh_2$
НМРА	hexamethylphosphoric triamide
NBD	nornbornadiene
OEP	2,3,7,8,12,13,17,18-octaethylporphyrinato
о.у.	optical yield
phen	1,10-phenanthroline
prophos	see Fig.(219)
SIL	silica
st	stearate, nC ₁₇ H ₃₅ COO
TDCPP	5,10,15,20-tetrakis(2,6-dichlorophenyl)porphyrinato
TDMPP	5,10,15,20-tetrakis(2,6-dimethylphenyl)porphyrinato

tetpy	2,2':6',2":6",2'''-tetrapyridyl
тмс	1,4,8,11-tetramethyl cyclam; see Fig.(286)
TMP	5,10,15,20-tetramesityl porphyrinato
TPP	5,10,15,20-tetraphenylporphyrinato
TPP-C1-p	5,10,15,20-tetrakis(p-chlorophenyl)porphyrinato
triphos	PhP(CH ₂ CH ₂ PPh ₂) ₂
Ts	p-toluenesulfonyl(tosyl), p-CH ₃ C ₆ H ₄ SO ₂ -
TTMPP	5,10,15,20-tetrakis(2,4,6-trimethoxyphenyl)porphyri- nato
TTPPP	5,10,15,20-tetrakis(2,4,6-triphenylphenyl)porphyri- nato

Metal index

Tİ	3, 108, 109, 139, 162, 209, 245, 255, 256, 397-406, 477, 478, 482, 613, 614, 620
Zr	38, 86, 232, 238, 322, 407, 542
Hf	407
v	110, 290, 293, 299, 333, 334, 359, 408-411, 415, 526-528, 566, 567, 590, 613, 614
Та	407
Cr	103, 163, 246, 247, 270, 276, 277, 314, 379-382, 400, 444, 450, 451, 487a-493, 529-541, 568, 569, 591, 592, 598, 599, 602, 615, 619
Мо	103, 205, 257, 283, 290, 293, 300, 301, 383, 410-416, 445-448, 479, 520, 542-544
W	39, 103, 384, 410, 417, 468, 480, 556, 616, 617, 662
Mn	41, 63, 164, 268, 277, 284, 285, 298, 302, 313, 314, 330, 333, 335-337, 350-352, 360-362, 372, 384, 419-424, 435, 449, 474, 481, 494-506, 511, 519, 545-549, 570-572, 593, 603, 618, 663, 664
Тс	41, 303, 426, 469
Re	11, 41, 98
Fe	4-6, 40, 50, 62, 87, 90, 107, 111, 147, 210-212, 248, 258, 259, 265, 266, 268, 271, 275, 278-280, 286, 287, 291, 292, 304, 315, 330, 338-341, 356, 363, 364, 377, 384-387, 427- -436, 450-452, 459, 465, 466, 470-474, 507, 550, 573-576,

587, 594, 619, 639

- Ru 7-15, 24, 42, 43, 48, 49 67-69, 76, 88, 94, 97, 99-101, 112, 113, 140-144, 165, 173, 174, 179, 186-190, 213-215, 227, 233, 239, 249, 272, 273, 288, 305-308, 331, 341, 365, 388-390, 437, 438, 453-464, 503-510, 521, 552-554, 577-581, 595, 604, 605, 620, 639, 640, 650, 653, 665
- Os 48, 88, 114, 389-391, 465, 466, 511-513, 555, 582, 597, 606, 621, 639, 666
- Co 1, 12, 13, 23-25, 41, 43, 49, 64-69, 77, 81-83, 95, 145, 174, 180-182, 191-193, 206, 207, 250, 267, 268, 274, 275, 281, 282, 289, 297, 309-311, 317-323, 336, 342-344, 353--355, 360, 361, 363, 366-368, 373-376, 384, 439, 440, 514, 556, 557, 640, 667, 672
- Rh 2, 14-22, 24, 26-40, 41, 50-61, 70-75, 77, 78, 84-86, 89-93, 96, 104, 105, 115-131, 146-161, 166-170, 174, 183, 184, 194-196, 198, 199, 208, 216-219, 234, 235, 260-263, 290, 378, 588, 629, 635, 640
- Ir 88, 130-132, 197, 220-224, 228, 236, 237, 475
- Ni 107, 133, 134, 163, 171-174, 185, 225, 229, 261, 268, 275--277, 298, 314, 333, 441, 558, 559, 583, 607, 668
- Pd 79, 102, 106, 134-136, 174-177, 200-204, 226, 257, 269, 272, 290-298, 312, 324-326, 345, 369, 388, 392, 393, 515--517, 522, 608-610, 669, 670, 671
- Pt 24, 25, 44-47, 134, 137, 138, 178, 204, 210, 226, 272, 299, 442, 560, 623, 644, 648
- Cu 251, 252, 264, 275, 291-293, 295, 296, 298, 327, 328, 330, 332, 341, 346-348, 357, 358, 361, 368-371, 384, 394-396, 443, 469, 517-519, 561, 562, 622, 666, 672

Ag 298, 467, 549, 563, 584, 585, 596, 611, 673

Au 586

Lanthanides 231, 253, 630

Ce 104, 276, 306, 349, 483-487, 523, 524, 564, 565, 589, 600, 601, 612, 661 Sm 230, 240-242 Yb 243, 244 U 329

Transition metals, general 80

References

- 1 D.Antolovic and E.R.Davidson, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 5828.
- 2 N.Koga, C.Daniel, J.Han, X.Y.Fu, and K.Morokuma, J.Am.Chem. Soc. 109 (1987) 3455.
- 3 K.A.Jorgensen, R.A.Wheeler and R.Hoffmann, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 3240.
- 4 A.Sevin, NATO ASI Ser., Ser.C (1986) 176; CA 106 (1987) 39200.
- 5 K.A.Jorgensen, Acta Chem.Scand. B40 (1986) 512; CA 106 (1987) 137687.
- 6 K.A.Jorgensen, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 698.
- 7 J.F.Knifton, Int.Congr.Catal.,8th 5 (1984) V39; CA 106 (1987)
 121781
- 8 Y.Kiso, K.Saeki, T.Hayashi, M.Tanaka, Y.Matsunaga, M.Ishino, M.Tamura, T.Deguchi and S.Nakamura, J.Organomet.Chem. 335 (1987) C27.
- 9 K.Murata, A.Matsuda, T.Masuda, Y.Kiso and K.Saeki, J.Mol. Catal. 42 (1987) 389.
- 10 S.-I.Yoshida, S.Mori, H.Kinoshita and Y.Watanabe, J.Mol. Catal. 42 (1987) 215.
- 11 M.Tanaka, Y.Kiso and K.Saeki, J.Organomet.Chem. 329 (1987) 99.
- 12 J.F.Knifton, ACS Symp.Ser. 328 (1987) 98; CA 106 (1987) 104171.
- 13 H.Ono, M.Hashimoto, K.Fujiwara, E.Sugiyama and K.Yoshida, J.Organomet.Chem. 331 (1987) 387.
- 14 Y.Kiso and K.Saeki, Bull.Chem.Soc.Jpn. 60 (1987) 617.
- 15 R.Whyman, K.Gilhooley, S.Rigby and D.Winstanley, ACS Symp. Ser. 328 (1987) 108; CA 106 (1987) 121786.
- 16 Y.Tomotake, T.Matsuzaki, K.Murayama, E.Watanabe, K.Wada and T.Onoda, J.Organomet.Chem. 320 (1987) 239.
- 17 K.Murata, A.Matsuda, T.Masuda, E.Watanabe and K.Wada, Bull. Chem.Soc.Jpn. 60 (1987) 1957.

- 18 Y.Ohgomori, S.Mori, S.-T.Yoshida and Y.Watanabe, J.Mol.Catal. 43 (1987) 127.
- 19 Y.Ohgomori, S.Yoshida and Y.Watanabe, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 829.
- 20 Y.Ohgomori, S.-I.Yoshida and Y.Watanabe, J.Mol.Catal. 43 (1987) 249.
- 21 Y.Kiso, M.Tanaka, T.Hayashi and K.Saeki, J.Organomet.Chem. 322 (1987) C32.
- 22 Y.Ohgomori, S.Mori, S.-I.Yoshida and Y.Watanabe, J.Mol.Catal. 40 (1987) 223.
- 23 Yu.T.Vigranenko, V.A.Rybakov, M.V.Khokhlova and V.S.Fedorov, Zh.Prikl.Khim.(Leningrad) 60 (1987) 1586; CA 107 (1987) 235988.
- 24 I.Ojima, K.Kato, M.Okabe and T.Fuchikami, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 7714.
- 25 D.Li, W.Zhai, Z.Chen, Y.Sun, X.Zhao and Z.Wang, Huaxue Xuebao 44 (1986) 990; CA 107 (1987) 28819.
- 26 W.R.Moser, C.J.Papile, D.A.Brannon, R.A.Duwell and S.J.Weininger, J.Mol.Catal. 41 (1987) 271.
- 27 W.R.Moser, C.J.Papile and S.J.Weininger, J.Mol.Catal. 41 (1987) 293.
- 28 A.M.Trzeciak and J.J.Ziólkowski, J.Mol.Catal. 43 (1987) 15.
- 29 H.Bahrmann and H.Bach, Phosphorus Sulfur 30 (1987) 611; CA 107 (1987) 42066.
- 30 D.Forster, J.P.Sluka and A.Vavere, CHEMTECH 16 (1986) 746; CA 106 (1987) 103508.
- 31 K.Prókai-Tátrai, S.Tórös and B.Heil, J.Organomet.Chem. 332 (1987) 331.
- 32 J.M.Brown, S.J.Cook and R.Khan, Tetrahedron 42 (1986) 5105; CA 107 (1987) 58587.
- 33 J.R.Jackson, P.Perlmutter and G.-H.Suh, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 724.
- 34 S.D.Burke and J.E.Cobb, Tetrahedron Lett. 27 (1986) 4237.
- 35 C.Claver, P.Kalck, L.A.Oro, M.T.Pinillos and C.Tejel, J.Mol. Catal. 43 (1987) 1.

- 36 P.Escaffre, A.Thorez and P.Kalck, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 146.
- 37 R.Choukroun, D.Gervais, P.Kalck and F.Senocq, J.Organomet. Chem. 335 (1987) C9.
- 38 R.Choukroun, A.Iraqi, D.Gervais, J.-C.Daran and Y.Jeannin, Organometallics 6 (1987) 1197.
- 39 A.R.Siedle, C.G.Markell, P.A.Lyon, K.O.Hodgson and A.L.Roe, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 219.
- 40 M.K.Alami, F.Dahan and R.Mathieu, J.C.S.Dalton Trans. (1987) 1983; CA 107 (1987) 210882.
- 41 L.Kaden, B.Lorenz and M.Wahren, J.Prakt.Chem. 328 (1986) 407; CA 106 (1987) 175737.
- 42 G.Süss-Fink and G.F.Schmidt, J.Mol.Catal. 42 (1987) 361.
- 43 J.F.Knifton, J.Mol.Catal. 43 (1987) 65.
- 44 G.Moretti, C.Botteghi and L.Toniolo, J.Mol.Catal. 39 (1987) 177.
- 45 G.Parrinello and J.K.Stille, Polym.Prepr.(Am.Chem.Soc., Div. Polym.Chem.) 27 (1986) 9; CA 107 (1987) 58192.
- 46 G.Parrinello and J.K.Stille, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 7122.
- 47 L.Kollár, G.Consiglio and P.Pino, J.Organomet.Chem. 330 (1987) 305.
- 48 H.Marrakchi, M.Haimeur, P.Escalant, J.Lieto and J.P.Aune, Nouv.J.Chim. 10 (1986) 159; CA 107 (1987) 96268.
- 49 A.Fukuoka, H.Matsuzaka, M.Hidai and M.Ichikawa, Chem.Lett. (1987) 941.
- 50 A.Fukuoka, M.Ichikawa, J.A.Hriljac and D.F.Shriver, Inorg. Chem. 26 (1987) 3643.
- 51 J.M.Herman, P.J.Van Krugten, P.J.Van den Berg and J.J.F. Scholten, Chem.Eng.J.(Lausanne) 35 (1987) 25; CA 107 (1987) 25100.
- 52 J.J.F.Scholten and R.Van Hardeveld, Chem.Eng.Commun. 52 (1987) 75; CA 107 (1987) 98563.
- 53 J.M.Herman, A.P.A.F.Rocourt, P.J.Van den Berg, P.J.Van Krugten and J.J.F.Scholten, Chem.Eng.J. (Lausanne) 35 (1987) 83; CA 107 (1987) 98567.

- 54 T.Onoda, K.Sato, E.Watanabe and H.Tanaka, Res.Dev.Rev.-Mitsubishi Chem. 1 (1987) (2) 14; CA 107 (1987) 156901.
- 55 J.M.Herman, H.J.C.Verwater, A.P.A.F.Rocourt and P.J.Van den Berg, Chem.Eng.J.(Lausanne) 34 (1987) (3) 117; CA 106 (1987) 198100.
- 56 M.E.Davis, J.Schnitzer, J.A.Rossin, D.Taylor and B.E.Hanson, J.Mol.Catal. 39 (1987) 243.
- 57 D.F.Taylor, B.E.Hanson and M.E.Davis, Inorg.Chim.Acta 128 (1987) 55.
- 58 H.J.Zong, X.Y.Guo, Q.Tang, Y.Jin, Y.J.Li and Y.Y.Jiang, J.Macromol.Sci., Chem. A24 (1987) 277; CA 107 (1987) 236045.
- 59 M.Eisen, T.Bernstein, J.Blum and H.Schumann, J.Mol.Catal. 43 (1987) 199.
- 60 S.L.Regen and M.Kodomari, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 1428.
- 61 P.Hong, T.Mise, and H.Yamazaki, J.Organomet.Chem. 334 (1987) 129.
- 62 R.Massoudi, J.H.Kim, R.B.King and A.D.King, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 7428.
- 63 M.J.Chen, and J.W.Rathke, Organometallics 6 (1987) 1833.
- V.B.Del'nik, S.Sh.Kagna, M.G.Katsnel'son, A.S.Rabinovich,
 S.L.Skop and S.L.Churakov, Zh.Prikl.Khim.(Leningrad) 59 (1986) 2372; CA 107 (1987) 96281.
- 65 L.Wang, H.An and Y.Jiang, Cuihua Xuebao 8 (1987) 217; CA 107 (1987) 156917.
- 66 E.Lindner, S.Meyer, P.Wegner, B.Karle, A.Sickinger and B.Steger, J.Organomet.Chem. 335 (1987) 59.
- 67 G.Jenner and P.Adrianary, J.Catal. 103 (1987) 37; CA 107 (1987) 133685.
- 68 P.Adrianary, G.Jenner, S.Libs and G.Teller, J.Mol.Catal. 39 (1987) 93.
- 69 P.Adrianary and G.Jenner, J.Organomet.Chem. 322 (1987) 89.
- 70 E.Tempesti, L.Giuffre, L.Zanderighi and G.Modica, Int.J. Hydrogen Energy 12 (1987) 355; CA 107 (1987) 98560.
- 71 M.Marchionna and G.Longoni, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 1097.

- 72 G.Longoni, Gazz.Chim.Ital. 116 (1986) 453; CA 106 (1987) 213384.
- 73 M.Marchionna and G.Longoni, Organometallics 6 (1987) 606.
- 74 S.E.Jacobson, J.Mol.Catal. 41 (1987) 163.
- 75 C.Claver, J.Fis, P.Kalck, C.Bourgeois and C.Demay, C₁ Mol. Chem. 2 (1987) 25.
- 76 G.Braca, A.M.R.Galletti, and G.Sbrana, ACS Symp.Ser. 328 (1987) 220; CA 107 (1987) 175301.
- 77 R.W.Wegman and D.C.Busby, J.Mol.Catal. 39 (1987) 261.
- 78 E.Drent, ACS Symp.Ser. 328 (1987) 154; CA 106 (1987) 104172.
- 79 J.L.Graff and M.G.Romanelli, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 337.
- 80 M.S.Borovikov and V.A.Rybakov, Kinet.Katal. 27 (1986) 1478; CA 107 (1987) 153852.
- 81 L.F.Kardashina and V.N.Sapunov, Kinet.Katal. 27 (1986) 313; CA 106 (1987) 18797.
- 82 S.Xue, Y.Luo, H.Fu and Y.Yin, Ranliao Huaxue Xuebao 14 (1986) 354; CA 107 (1987) 9264.
- 83 Y.Kou, Y.Yin, Y.Luo and H.Fu, J.Mol.Sci. (Int.Ed.) 4 (1986) 177; CA 107 (1987) 79906.
- 84 W.Pan, and D.Liu, Gaodeng Xuexiao Huaxue Xuebao 7 (1986) 340; CA 107 (1987) 121863.
- 85 A.Dedieu, P.Escaffre, J.M.Frances, P.Kalck and A.Thorez, Nouv.J.Chim. 10 (1986) 631; CA 107 (1987) 77233.
- 86 R.Choukroun, D.Gervais, J.Jaud, P.Kalck and F.Senocq, Organometallics 5 (1986) 67.
- 87 M.W.Haenel, L.Schanne and E.Woestefeld, Erdöl Kohle, Erdgas, Petrochemⁱ. 39 (1986) 505; CA 106 (1987) 20865.
- 88 M.Lenarda, R.Ganzerla, J.Kaspar and M.Graziani, Homogeneous Heterog.Catal., Proc.Int.Symp.Relat.Homogeneous Heterog.Catal., 5th (1986) 999; CA 107 (1987) 201673.
- 89 K.Kaneda, T.Imanaka and S.Teranishi, Int.Congr.Catal., 8th, 5 (1984) V15; CA 106 (1987) 195681.
- 90 S.C.Shim, K.E.Mien and K.T.Huh, Taehan Hwahakhoe Chi 30 (1986) 101; CA 106 (1987) 66709.

	(1987) 77.
92	T.Sakakura, T.Hayashi and M.Tanaka, Chem.Lett. (1987) 859.
93	T.Sakakura and M.Tanaka, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 758.
94	M.Hidai, Y.Koyasu, K.Chikanari and Y.Uchida, J.Mol.Catal. 40 (1987) 243.
9 5	S.Hardin and T.W.Turney, J.Mol.Catal. 39 (1987) 237.
96	K.Doyama, T.Joh, K.Onitsuka, T.Shiohara and S.Takahashi, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 649.
97	H.Ishida, K.Tanaka and T.Tanaka, Chem.Lett. (1987) 1035.
98	C.Kutal, A.J.Corbin and G.Ferraudi, Organometallics 6 (1987) 553.
9 9	H.Ishida, K.Tanaka and T.Tanaka, Organometallics 6 (1987) 181.
100	H.Ishida, H.Tanaka, K.Tanaka and T.Tanaka, J.C.S.Chem. Commun. (1987) 131.
101	H.Ishida, H.Tanaka, K.Tanaka and T.Tanaka, Chem.Lett. (1987) 597.
102	D.L.DuBois and A.Miedander, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 113.
103	D.J.Darensbourg and C.Ovalles, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 3330.
104	M.F.Boehm and G.D.Prestwich, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 1349.
105	L.Carroll, J.R.Jones and W.J.S.Lockley, Synth.Appl.Isot. Labeled Compd.Proc.Int.Symp. 2 (1985) 389; CA 106 (1987) 32150.
106	T.P.Voskresenskaya, V.D.Chinakov, V.M.Nekipelov and A.V. Mashkina, React.Kinet.Catal.Lett. 32 (1986) 359; CA 107 (1987) 13415.
107	C.Esselin, E.Bauer-Grosse, J.Goulon, C.Williams, Y.Chauvin, D.Commereuc and E.Freund, J.Phys.,Colloq. C8 Vol.1 (1986) 243; CA 106 (1987) 126614.
108	B.L.Booth, G.C.Ofunne, C.Stacey and P.J.T.Tait, J.Organomet. Chem. 315 (1986) 143.

- 109 W.Skupinski, Homogeneous Heterog.Catal., Proc.Int.Symp.Relat. Homogeneous Heterog.Catal., 5th (1986) 489; CA 107 (1987) 219436.
- 110 B.Hessen, T.H.Lemmen, H.J.G.Luttikhedde, J.H.Teuben, J.L.Petersen, J.C.Huffman, S.Jagner and K.G.Caulton, Organometallics 6 (1987) 2354.
- 111 M.E.Miller and E.R.Grant, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 7951.
- 112 M.M.Taqui Khan and M.R.H.Sidiqui, J.Mol.Catal. 42 (1987) 161.
- 113 H.tom Dieck, I.Kleinwächter and E.T.K.Haupt, J.Organomet. Chem. 321 (1987) 237.
- 114 R.A.Sánchez-Delgado, A.Andriollo, J.Puga and G.Martin, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 1867.
- 115 L.A.Oro, M.Campo and D.Carmona, J.Mol.Catal. 39 (1987) 341.
- 116 G.Yuan, Jiegou Huaxue 5 (1986) 209; CA 107 (1987) 79926.
- 117 G.K.N.Reddy, H.Halesha, E.G.Leelamani and N.M.N.Gowda, Proc. Indian Natl.Sci.Acad., Part A 52 (1986) 1013; CA 107 (1987) 50762.
- 118 H.K.Park, I.B.Kim and C.S.Chin, J.Organomet.Chem. 326 (1987) 431.
- 119 I.Feinstein-Jaffe and A.Efraty, J.Mol.Catal. 40 (1987) 1.
- 120 M.Kraus, J.Mol.Catal. 43 (1987) 27.
- 121 J.Hortkjaer, H.Dueholm and P.Correa de Mello, J.Mol.Catal. 39 (1987) 79.
- 122 J.Reiss, and J.Hetflejs, Collect.Czech.Chem.Commun. 51 (1986) 340; CA 106 (1987) 49337.
- 123 C.Larpent and H.Patin, J.Organomet.Chem. 335 (1987) C13.
- 124 M.Iglesias, C.del Pino, A.Corma, S.Garcia-Blanco and S.Martinez-Carrera, Inorg.Chim.Acta 127 (1987) 215.
- 125 H.El-Amouri, A.A.Bahsoun, J.Fischer and J.A.Osborn, Angew. Chem. 99 (1987) 1208.
- 126 A.A.Dudinov, Ya.L.Gol'dfarb, E.F.Litvin, V.M.Kozlova and V.S.Bogdanov, Khim.Geterotsikl.Soedin. (1986) 787; CA 106 (1987) 49527.

- 127 H.Pscheidl, E.Moeller and D.Haberland, Wiss.Z.Ernst-Moritz-Arndt-Univ.Greifsw,,Math.-Naturwiss.Reihe 35 (1986) 67; CA 106 (1987) 195719.
- 128 D.E.Bergbreiter and R.Chandran, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 174.
- 129 R.Paetzold, H.Pracejus and G.Oeme, J.Mol.Catal 42 (1987) 301.
- 130 M.M.Taqui Khan, B.T.Khan and Miss Safia, React.Kinet.Catal. Lett. 29 (1985) 63; CA 106 (1987) 4380.
- 131 K.J.Yang, I.B.Kim and C.S.Chin, Transition Met.Chem. 12 (1987) 45.
- 132 H.K.Park and S.C.Chin, Bull.Korean Chem.Soc. 8 (1987) 185; 107 (1987) 167670.
- 133 P.Svoboda, J.Hetflejs, W.Schultz and H.Pracejus, React. Kinet.Katal.Lett. 32 (1986) 39; CA 107 (1987) 153769.
- 134 W.Schirmer, U.Floerke and H.J.Haupt, Z.Anorg.Allg.Chem. 545 (1987) 83; CA 107 (1987) 146177.
- 135 M.A.Nesterov, L.I.Laxer, Zh.L.Dykh, V.Z.Sharj and V.I. Yakerson, Izv.Akad.Nauk SSSR, Ser.Khim. (1987) 27; CA 107 (1987) 236147.
- 136 J.Liu, J.Gong, C.Xiao, J.You and Y.Chen, Wuhan Daxue Xuebao, Ziran Kexueban (1986)(2) 77, 99; CA 107 (1987) 38953.
- 137 V.K.Jain and G.S.Rao, Inorg.Chim.Acta 127 (1987) 161.
- 138 H.C.Clark, C.A.Fyfe, P.J.Hayes, I.McMahon, J.A.Davies and R.E.Wasylishen, J.Organomet.Chem. 322 (1987) 393.
- 139 R.L.Halterman, K.P.C.Vollhardt, M.E.Welker, D.Bläser and R. Boese, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 8105.
- 140 S.Gladiali, G.Chelucci, M.Marchetti and U.Azzena, Chim. Ind. Milan 67 (1985) 387; CA 106 (1987) 49577.
- 141 T.Ohta, H.Takaya, M.Kitamura, K.Nagai and R.Noyori, J.Org. Chem. 52 (1987) 3174.
- 142 H.Takaya, T.Ohta, N.Sayo, H.Kumobayashi, S.Akutagawa, S.-I.Inoue, I.Kasahara and R.Noyori, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 1596.

- 143 M.Kitamura, Y.Hsiao, R.Noyori and H.Takaya, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 4829.
- H.Kawano, Y.Ishii, T.Ikariya, M.Saburi, S.Yoshikawa,
 Y.Uchida and H.Kumobayashi. Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 1905.
- 145 S.Takeuchi and Y.Ohgo, Bull.Chem.Soc.Jpn. 60 (1987) 1449.
- 146 C.L.Landis and J.Halpern, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 1746, 6217.
- 147 T.Hayashi, N.Kawamura and Y.Ito, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 7876.
- 148 J.M.Brown and A.P.James, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 181.
- 149 H.Takahashi and K.Achiwa, Chem.Lett. (1987) 1921.
- 150 S.El-Baba, J.M.Nuzillard, J.C.Poulin and H.B.Kagan, Tetrahedron 42 (1986) 3851; CA 107 (1987) 97093.
- 151 J.Reiss and J.Hetflejs, React.Kinet.Catal.Lett. 31 (1986) 309; CA 107 (1987) 235813.
- 152 H.Parnes and E.J.Shelton, Synth.Appl.Isot.Labeled Compd. Proc.Int.Symp., 2nd (1986) 159; CA 106 (1987) 214337.
- 153 H.Parnes, E.J.Shelton and G.T.Huang, Int.J.Pept.Protein Res. 28 (1986) 403; CA 107 (1987) 59430.
- 154 D.G.Melillo, R.D.Larsen, D.J.Mathre, W.F.Shukis, A.W.Wood and J.R.Colleluori, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 5143.
- 155 C.R.Johnson and T.Imamoto, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 2170.
- 156 H.Brunner and R.Sievi, J.Organomet.Chem. 328 (1987) 71.
- 157 J.M.Brown, F.M.Dayrit and D.Sinou, J.C.S.Perkin Trans.II (1987) 91.
- 158 H.Brunner and H.Leyerer, J.Organomet.Chem. 334 (1987) 369.
- 159 I.Habus, Z.Raza and V.Sunjic, J.Mol.Catal. 42 (1987) 173.
- 160 B.D.Zwick, A.M.Arif, A.T.Patton and J.A.Gladysz, Angew.Chem. 99 (1987) 921.
- 161 Z.Zikanova, V.Vaisarova and J.Hetflejs, Collect.Czech.Chem. Commun. 51 (1986) 1287; CA 106 (1987) 195678.
- 162 V.B.Shur, V.V.Burlakov and M.E.Vol'pin, Izv.Akad.Nauk. SSSR, Ser.Khim. (1986) 728; CA 106 (1987) 84054.

- 163 L.J.Rubin, S.S.Koseoglu, L.L.Diosady and W.F.Graydon, JAOCS, J.Am.Oil.Chem.Soc. 63 (1986) 1551; CA 106 (1987) 69055.
- 164 B.Wassink, M.J.Thomas, S.C.Wright, D.J.Gillis and M.C.Baird, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 1995.
- 165 B.S.Nkosi, N.J.Coville, M.O.Albers and E.Singleton, J.Mol. Catal. 39 (1987) 313.
- 166 T.C.Eisenschmid, R.U.Kirss, P.P.Deutsch, S.I.Hommeltoft, R.Eisenberg, J.Bargon, R.G.Lawler and A.L.Balch, J.Am.Chem. Soc. 109 (1987) 8089.
- 167 N.A.Mohammadi and G.L.Rempel, Macromolecules 20 (1987) 2362; CA 107 (1987) 154860.
- 168 C.Larpent, R.Dabard and H.Patin, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 2507.
- 169 S.Sgorlon, F.Pinna and G.Strukul, J.Mol.Catal. 40 (1987) 211.
- 170 H.Kosugi, M.Kitaoka, K.Tagami, A.Takahashi and H.Uda, J.Org. Chem. 52 (1987) 1078.
- 171 M.Sakai, N.Hirano, F.Harada, Y.Sakakibara and N.Uchino, Bull.Chem.Soc.Jpn. 60 (1987) 2923.
- 172 M.Sakai, T.Fujii, T.Kishimoto, K.Suzuki, Y.Sakakibara and N.Uchino, Nippon Kagaku Kaishi (1986) 126; CA 106 (1987) 84020.
- 173 M.Castiglioni, R.Giordano and E.Sappa, J.Organomet.Chem. 319 (1987) 167.
- 174 V.N.Perchenko, T.O.Omaraliev, R.Sh.Abubakirov and G.A.Sytov, Izv.Akad.Nauk Kaz. SSR, Ser.Khim. (1986)(3) 20; CA 107 (1987) 6570.
- 175 L.Vigh, I.Horváth, F.Joó and G.A.Thompson, Biochim.Biophys. Acta 921 (1987) 167; CA 107 (1987) 232355.
- 176 V.Z.Sharf, L.D.Panfilova, L.P.Karapetyan and K.Saldadze, Neftekhimiya 26 (1986) 504; CA 106 (1987) 213371.
- 177 C.Moberg and L.Rákos, J.Organomet.Chem. 335 (1987) 125.
- 178 E.G.Kliger, L.P.Shuikina, O.P.Parenago and V.M.Frolov, Kinet.Katal. 27 (1986) 521; CA 106 (1987) 66697.

- 179 D.V.Sokol'skii, A.Ualikhanova and A.E.Temirbulatova, Zh. Prikl.Khim.(Leningrad) 59 (1986) 1643; CA 106 (1987) 119077.
- 180 F.K.Shmidt, Yu.S.Levkovskii, G.V.Ratovskii, T.V.Dimitrieva and E.N.Sedykh, Kinet.Katal. 27 (1986) 993; CA 106 (1987) 155950.
- 181 B.Fell and B.Fabry, Erdöl Kohle, Erdgas, Petrochem. 40 (1987)(4) 172; CA 107 (1987) 25094.
- 182 T.Okamoto, S.Yamamoto and S.Oka, J.Mol.Catal. 39 (1987) 219.
- 183 J.Blum, I.Amer, K.P.C.Vollhardt, H.Schwarz and G.Höhne, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 2804.
- 184 I.Amer, H.Amer, R.Ascher, J.Blum, Y.Sasson and K.P.C. Vollhardt, J.Mol.Catal. 39 (1987) 185.
- 185 V.P.Matyushin, V.V.Chenets, F.K.Shmidt and I.V.Kalechits, Zh.Vses.Khim.O-va im.D.I.Mendeleeva 31 (1986) 475; CA 106 (1987) 119084.
- 186 D.E.Linn and J.Halpern, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 2969.
- 187 D.E.Linn and J.Halpern, J.Organomet.Chem. 330 (1987) 155.
- 188 R.Noyori, T.Ohkuma, M.Kitamura, H.Takaya, N.Sayo, H.Kumobayashi and S.Akutagawa, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 5856.
- 189 E.Lindner, U.Schober, R.Fawzi, W.Hiller, U.Englert and P.Wegner, Chem.Ber. 120 (1987) 1621.
- 190 V.Massonneau, P.Le Maux and G.Simonneaux, J.Organomet.Chem. 327 (1987) 269.
- 191 Y.Ohgo, Y.Tashiro and S.Takeuchi, Bull.Chem.Soc.Jpn. 60 (1987) 1549.
- 192 S.Heller, S.Kusserow, U.Hüttner, W.-H.Böhmer, I.Stoldt and K.Madeja, Inorg.Chim.Acta 129 (1987) L9.
- 193 S.Heller, U.Hüttner, W.-H.Böhmer, I.Stoldt and K.Majdeja, Inorg.Chim.Acta 129 (1987) L5.
- 194 T.Morimoto, H.Takahashi, F.Katsuyasu, M.Chiba and K.Achiwa, Chem.Lett. (1986) 2061.
- 195 M.Chiba, H.Takahashi, H.Takahashi, T.Morimoto and K.Achiwa, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 3675.

- 608
- 196 H.Takahashi, T.Morimoto and K.Achiwa, Chem.Lett. (1987) 855.
- 197 K.J.Yang and C.S.Chin, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 2732.
- 198 I.Amer, T.Bravdo, J.Blum and K.P.C.Vollhardt, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 1321.
- 199 E.G.Leelamani, V.Gayathri, G.K.N.Reddy and N.Venkatasubramanian, Indian J.Chem. 25A (1986) 719; CA 107 (1987) 38930.
- 200 B.M.Choudhary, Indian J.Chem. 26A (1987) 61; CA 107 (1987) 235824.
- 201 A.Bose and C.R.Saha, Chem.Ind.(London)(1987) 199; CA 107 (1987) 39129.
- 202 Z.Zhou, M.Zhang, C.Chen and Y.Sun, Cuihua Xuebao 8 (1987) 69; CA 107 (1987) 9292.
- 203 Y.Chen, C.Xiao, C.Luo and J.Liu, Gaofenzi Tongxun (1986) 375; CA 106 (1987) 198084.
- 204 P.K.Santra and C.R.Saha, J.Mol.Catal. 39 (1987) 279.
- 205 D.E.Coons, R.C.Haltiwanger and M.Rakowski DuBois, Organometallics 6 (1987) 2417.
- 206 P.Magnus and M.Slater, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 2829.
- 207 K.Kobayashi, T.Okamoto, T.Oida and S.Tanimoto, Chem.Lett. (1986) 2031.
- 208 C.J.Longley, T.J.Coodwin and G.Wilkinson, Polyhedron 5 (1986) 1625; CA 107 (1987) 77105
- 209 J.F.Harrod and S.S.Yun, Organometallics 6 (1987) 1381.
- 210 T.Akiyama, Y.Kawaharada, A.Kondo, M.Kajitani, A.Endo, K.Shimizu and A.Sugimori, Bull.Chem.Soc.Jpn. 59 (1986) 3589.
- 211 M.V.Baker and L.D.Field, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 2825.
- 212 Kamaluddin, M.Singh and S.W.Deopujari, Origins Life Evol. Biosphere 17 (1986) 59; CA 106 (1987) 80799.
- 213 H.Itagaki, Y.Saito and S.Shinoda, J.Mol.Catal. 41 (1987) 209.
- 214 S.-I.Murahashi, T.Naota, K.Ito, Y.Maeda and H.Taki, J.Org. Chem. 52 (1987) 4319.
- 215 Y.Tsuji, K.-T.Huh and Y.Watanabe, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 1673.
- 216 D.Morton and D.J.Cole-Hamilton, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 248.

- 217 S.Shinoda, A.Kobayashi, T.Aoki and Y.Saito, J.Mol.Catal. 38 (1986) 279.
- 218 T.Yamakawa, T.Katsurao, S.Shinoda and Y.Saito, J.Mol.Catal 42 (1987) 183
- 219 T.Sakakura, T.Sodeyama, Y.Yokunaga and M.Tanaka, Chem.Lett. (1987) 2211.
- 220 Y.Lin, D.Ma and X.Lu, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 3115.
- 221 M.J.Burk and R.H.Crabtree, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 8025.
- 223 R.H.Crabtree, C.P.Parnell and R.J.Uriarte, Organometallics 6 (1987) 696.
- 224 Y.Li, D.Ma and X.Lu, J.Organomet.Chem. 323 (1987) 407.
- 225 L.I.Belen'kii, M.A.Cheskis and M.A.Ryashentseva, Khim. Geterosikl.Soedin. (1986) 822; CA 106 (1987) 176225.
- 226 T.F.Magnera, D.E.David and J.Michl, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 936.
- 227 A.Basu, S.Bhaduri, K.Sharma and P.G.Jones, J.Organomet.Chem. 328 (1987) C34.
- 228 A.S.Goldman and J.Halpern, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 7537.
- 229 H.Füllbier, W.Gaube and B.Leuner, Wiss.Z.Ernst-Moritz,Arndt. Univ.Greifsw., Math.-Naturwiss.Reihe 35 (1986) 34; CA 107 (1987) 58243.
- 230 J.Collin, J.L.Namy and H.B.Kagan, Nouv.J.Chim. 10 (1986) 229; CA 107 (1987) 76993.
- 231 T.Okano, M.Matsuoka, H.Konishi and J.Kiji, Chem.Lett. (1987) 181.
- 232 T.Nakano, Y.Ishii and M.Ogawa, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 4855.
- 233 G.Valentini, A.Cecchi, C.Di Bugno, G.Braca and G.Sbrana, Homogeneous Heterog.Catal., Proc.Int.Symp.Relat.Homogeneous Heterog.Catal., 5th (1986) 765; CA 107 (1987) 238865.
- 234 D.Beaupere, M.Massoui, R.Ralainirina and R.Uzan, Nouv.J.Chim. 10 (1986) 493; CA 106 (1987) 213270.
- 235 S.Gladiali, G.Chelucci, G.Chessa, G.Delogu and F.Soccolini, J.Organomet.Chem. 327 (1987) C15.

- 236 G.Zassinovich and G.Mestroni, J.Mol.Catal. 42 (1987) 81.
- 237 E.Farnetti, M.Pesce, J.Kaspar, R.Spogliarich and M.Graziani, J.Mol.Catal. 43 (1987) 35.
- 238 T.Hoeseggen, F.Rise and K.Undheim, J.C.S.Perkin.Trans.I (1986) 849; CA 106 (1987) 213882.
- 239 A.Basu, S.Bhaduri, K.Sharma and P.G.Jones, J.C.S.Chem. Commun. (1987) 1126.
- 240 M.Matsukawa, T.Tabuchi, J.Inanaga and M.Yamaguchi, Chem. Lett. (1987) 2101.
- 241 K.Otsubo, J.Inanaga and M.Yamaguchi, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 4437.
- 242 J.Inananga, M.Ishikawa and M.Yamaguchi, Chem.Lett. (1987) 1485.
- 243 Z.Hou, F.Taniguchi and Y.Fujiwara, Chem.Lett. (1987) 305.
- Z.Hou, Y.Fujiwara, T.Jintoku, N.Mine, K.Yokoo and
 H.Taniguchi, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 3524.
- 245 M.Malinowski, Synthesis (1987) 732.
- 246 A.B.Smith, P.A.Levenberg and J.Z.Suits, Synthesis (1986) 184; CA 106 (1987) 32326.
- 247 K.Takai, Y.Kataoka, T.Okazoe and K.Utimoto, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 1443.
- 248 S.Nakanishi, T.Hirano, Y.Otsuji and K.Itoh, Chem.Lett. (1987) 2167.
- 249 S.M.Geraty, P.Harkin and J.G.Vos, Inorg.Chim.Acta 131 (1987) 217.
- 250 N.Satyanarayana and M.Periasamy, J.Organomet.Chem. 333 (1987) C33.
- 251 T.Ishihara, T.Maekawa, Y.Yamasaki and T.Ando, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 300.
- 252 V.P.Tret'yakov, V.V.Chudaev and E.S.Rudakov, Ukr.Khim.Zh. (Russ.Ed.) 52 (1986) 983; CA 107 (1987) 133846.
- 253 C.Qian, D.Deng, C.Ye, Z.Xie, Y.Ge, Y.Li and Y.Gu, Inorg. Chim.Acta 140 (1987) 21.

- 254 X.Huang, Y.He, Youji Huaxue (1986) 204; CA 106 (1987) 4287.
- 255 C.W.Hung and H.N.C.Wong, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 2393.
- 256 F.Bonadies, R.Di Fabio, A.Gubbiotti, S.Mecozzi and C.Bonini, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 703.
- 257 D.Perez, N.Greenspoon and E.Keinan, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 5570.
- 258 I.Tabushi, Y.Kuroda and Y.Sasaki, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 1622.
- 259 K.Tanaka, M.Moriya and T.Tanaka, Chem.Lett. (1987) 373.
- 260 G.B.Shul'pin and G.V.Nizova, Izv.Akad.Nauk SSSR, Ser.Khim. (1986) 2376; CA 107 (1987) 77350.
- 261 M.Borbaruah, N.C.Barua and R.P.Sharma, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 5741.
- 262 C.Petrier and J.-L.Luche, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 2347.
- 263 C.Petrier and J.-L.Luche, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 2351.
- 264 T.Tsuda, T.Kawamoto, Y.Kumamoto and T.Saegusa, Synth.Commun. 16 (1986) 639; CA 106 (1987) 17944.
- 265 T.Itoh, T.Nagano and M.Hirobe, Chem.Pharm.Bull. 34 (1986) 2013; CA 106 (1987) 155707.
- 266 H.Inoue, M.Shirai and E.Haruki, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 674.
- 267 D.F.McComsey, A.B.Reitz, C.A.Maryanoff and B.E.Maryanoff, Synth.Commun. 16 (1986) 1535; CA 107 (1987) 175574.
- 268 H.Awano, K.Takemoto, H.Ohya, M.Tomio, S.Tamagaki and W.Tagaki, Bull.Chem.Soc.Jpn. 60 (1987) 1887.
- 269 J.Tsuji, I.Minami and I.Shimizu, Synthesis (1986) 623; CA 107 (1987) 58438.
- 270 R.Wolf and E.Steckhan, J.C.S.Perkin Trans.I (1986) 733; CA 106 (1987) 32076.
- 271 V.MacKenzie and D.R.Tyler, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 1783.
- 272 D.Mandler and I.Willner, J.Phys.Chem. 91 (1987) 3600; CA 107 (1987) 15340.

- 273 S.Aono and I.Okura, Inorg.Chim.Acta 137 (1987) 135.
- 274 F.Bedioui, Y.Robin, J.Devynck and C.Bied-Charreton, J.Organomet.Chem. 326 (1987) 117.
- 275 D.Lexa, J.-M.Savéant, K.B.Su and D.L.Wang, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 6464.
- 276 S.V.Krylova, V.E.Agabekov, M.N.Fedorishcheva, G.V. Butovskaya and N.I.Mitskevich, Neftekhimiya 27 (1987) 125; CA 107 (1987) 153768.
- 277 V.E.Agabekov, N.I.Mitskevich, S.V.Krylova, M.N.Fedorishcheva and O.P.Nevdakh, Izv.Khim. 18 (1986) 624; CA 106 (1987) 175560.
- 278 H.Hong, R.Wang, X.Wang, Q.Lu and G.Li, Yingyong Huaxue 3 (1986) 64; CA 106 (1987) 101590.
- 279 E.I.Karasevich, A.M.Khenkin and A.E.Shilov, J.C.S.Chem. Commun. (1987) 731.
- 280 D.H.R.Barton, J.Boivin, W.B.Motherwell, N.Ozbalik, K.M.Schwartzentruber and K.Jankowski, Nouv.J.Chim. 10 (1986) 387; CA 107 (1987) 58300.
- 281 T.S.Petkevich, N.A.Kovalenko, N.I.Mitskevich and G.V.Lisichkin, Vestsi Akad.Navuk BSSR, Ser.Khim.Navuk (1986)(4) 39; CA 106 (1987) 119319.
- 282 Yu.I.Bratushko and N.I.Ermokhina, Zh.Neorg.Khim. 32 (1987) 398; CA 107 (1987) 153761.
- 283 N.I.Kovtyukhova, V.M.Belousov, Yu.N.Novikov and M.E.Vol'pin, Kinet.Katal. 28 (1987) 353; CA 107 (1987) 216922.
- 284 E.I.Karakozova, A.B.Solov'eva, E.V.Ivanova and V.V.Ershkov, Izv.Akad.Nauk SSSR, Ser.Khim. (1986) 214; CA 106 (1987) 49570.
- 285 A.I.Samokhvalova, A.B.Solov'eva, A.L.Chugreev, I.A.Misurkin, L.V.Karmilova and N.S.Enikolopyan, Dokl.Akad.Nauk SSSR 289 (1986) 633; CA 106 (1987) 155715.
- 286 A.M.Khenkin, Izv.Akad.Nauk SSSR, Ser.Khim. (1986) 2329; CA 106 (1987) 77598.
- 287 K.Yamamoto, M.Takahashi and E.Niki, Chem.Lett. (1987) 1149.

- 288 R.A.Leising and K.J.Takeuchi, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 4391.
- 289 A.V.Nikitin, A.D.Pomogailo and V.L.Rubailo, Izv.Akad.Nauk SSSR, Ser.Khim. (1987) 36; CA 107 (1987) 153759.
- 290 B.El Ali, J.-M.Brégault and J.Martin, J.Organomet.Chem. 327 (1987) C9.
- 291 K.Takehira, I.H.Oh, V.C.Martinez, R.S.Chavira, T.Hayakawa, H.Orita, M.Shimidzu and T.Ishikawa, J.Mol.Catal. 42 (1987) 237.
- 292 K.Takehira, H.Orita, I.H.Oh, C.O.Leobardo, G.C.Martinez, S.Shimidzu, T.Hayakawa and T.Ishikawa, J.Mol.Catal. 42 (1987) 247.
- 293 M.Cihova, J.Vojtko and M.Hrusovsky, Ropa Uhlie 28 (1986) 297; CA 107 (1987) 6740.
- A.Harada, Y.Hu and S.Takahashi, Chem.Lett. (1986) 2083.
- 295 T.Hosokawa, T.Takahashi, T.Ohta and S.-I.Murahashi, J.Organomet.Chem. 334 (1987) 129.
- 296 G.Lu, G.Huang, Y.Guo, R.Wang, R.Zhu and H.Qi, Huagong Xuebao (1986) 368; CA 106 (1987) 35058.
- 297 J.E.Bäckvall, A.K.Awasthi and Z.D.Renko, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 4750.
- 298 G.A.Dzhemileva, V.N.Odinokov and U.M.Dzhemilev, Izv.Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser.Khim. (1987) 149; CA 107 (1987) 197608.
- 299 S.N.Kholuiskaya, V.V.Kasparov, V.V.Kovalev, A.A.Konovalova and V.L.Rubailo, Izv.Akad.Nauk SSSR, Ser.Khim. (1987) 44; CA 107 (1987) 153760.
- 300 N.I.Kovtyukhova, V.M.Belousov, G.A.Konishevskaya, Yu.N. Novikov and M.E.Vol'pin, Kinet.Katal. 27 (1986) 1335; CA 107 (1987) 153755.
- 301 E.Tempesti, L.Giuffre, F.Di Renzo, C.Mazzocchia and G.Airoldi, Appl.Catal. 26 (1986) 285; CA 107 (1987) 133818.
- 302 P.Battioni, J.F.Bartolli, P.Leduc, M.Fontecave and D.Mansuy, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 791.
- 303 S.Rummel, and D.Schnurpfeil, J.Prakt.Chem. 329 (1987) 10; CA 107 (1987) 197951.

- 304 D.C.Heimbrook, S.A.Carr, M.A.Mentzer, E.C.Long and S.M. Hecht, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 3835.
- 305 M.M.Taqui Khan, S.A.Mirza and H.C.Bajaj, J.Mol.Catal. 42 (1987) 323.
- 306 C.L.Bailey and R.S.Drago, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 179.
- 307 C.-M.Che, W.-H.Leung and C.-K.Poon, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 173.
- 308 M.M.Taqui Khan and A.Prakash Rao, J.Mol.Catal. 39 (1987) 331.
- 309 I.Apostol, J.Haber, T.Mlodnicka and J.Poltovicz, Int.Congr. Catal.8th. 4 (1984) IV497; CA 106 (1987) 195687.
- 311 M.C.Kuo and C.T.Chou, Ind.Eng.Chem.Res. 26 (1987) 277.
- 312 F.Chauvet, A.Heumann and B.Waegell, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 1916.
- 313 M.Komatsu, Kagaku Kogaku 50 (1986) 614; CA 106 (1987) 33479.
- 314 M.Harustiak, M.Hronec, J.Ilavsky and M.Ciffrova, Ropa Uhlie 28 (1986) 315; CA 107 (1987) 6617.
- 315 T.G.Kosmacheva, A.E.Vodop'yanova, V.E.Agabekov and N.I.Mitskevich, Vestsi Akad.Navuk BSSR, Ser.Khim.Navuk (1986)(5) 28; CA 106 (1987) 175575.
- 316 L.A.Belyakova, T.P.Kolotusha, T.E.Serova, V.A.Tertykh and K.B.Yatsimirskii, Dokl.Akad.Nauk SSSR 288 (1986) 1358; CA 106 (1987) 195961.
- 317 R.P.Chaplin, M.S.Wainwright, F.Yay and H.A.Ali, J.Mol.Catal. 39 (1987) 359.
- 318 I.V.Zakharov, Yu.V.Geletii and V.A.Adamyan, Kinet.Katal. 27 (1986) 1128; CA 106 (1987) 175586.
- 319 Sh.A.Kayumova, U.M.Azizov and S.I.Iskandarov, Kinet.Katal. 27 (1986) 1141; CA 106 (1987) 175892.
- 320 G.Valehrachova, M.Hronec and V.Vesely, Collect.Czech.Chem. Commun. 51 (1986) 2574; CA 106 (1987) 195717.
- 321 Anon., Res.Discl. 280 (1987) 502; CA 107 (1987) 154779.
- 322 I.Petrova, S.Ivanov, M.Kirilov, D.Stoyanova, E.T.K.Haupt and H.tom Dieck, Phosphorous Sulfur 27 (1986) 285; CA 106 (1987) 213497.

- 323 M.Nali, B.Rindone, S.Tollari and L.Valetta, J.Mol.Catal. 41 (1987) 349.
- 324 J.E.Lyons, G.Suld and C.Y.Hsu, Homogeneous Heterog.Catal., Proc.Int.Symp.Relat.Homogeneous Heterog.Catal.,5th (1986) 117; CA 107 (1987) 238864.
- 325 A.B.Goel, Inorg.Chim.Acta 129 (1987) L31.
- 326 T.Jinkotu, H.Taniguchi and Y.Fujiwara, Chem.Lett. (1987) 1865.
- 327 H.Orita, T.Hayakawa, M.Shimizu and K.Takehira, J.Mol.Catal. 42 (1987) 99.
- 328 E.A.Cepeda and M.Diaz, Ind.Eng.Chem.Res. 26 (1987) 2401.
- 329 S.S.Lalayan, A.B.Solov'eva and E.A.Fushman, Izv.Akad.Nauk SSSR, Ser.Khim. (1986) 2132; CA 106 (1987) 77565.
- 330 Y.Saito, M.Satouchi, M.Mifune, T.Tai, J.Odo, Y.Tanaka,
 M.Chikuma and H.Tanaka, Bull.Chem.Soc.Jpn. 60 (1987) 2227.
- 331 C.Bilgrien, S.Davis and R.S.Drago, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 3786.
- 332 J.J.Driscoll and D.J.Kosman, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 1765.
- 333 Y.Tatsuno, C.Nakamura and T.Saito, J.Mol.Catal. 42 (1987) 57.
- 334 B.Galeffi, M.Postel, A.Grand and P.Rey, Inorg.Chim.Acta 129 (1987) 1.
- 335 B.De Vismes, F.Bedioui and J.Devynck, Nouv.J.Chim. 10 (1986) 81; CA 106 (1987) 195980.
- 336 R.P.Perito and B.B.Corden, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 4418.
- 337 V.B.Vol'eva, I.A.Novikova, E.V.Ivanova and V.V.Ershov, Izv. Akad.Nauk SSSR, Ser.Khim. (1986) 215; CA 106 (1987) 32468.
- 338 E.Ohkubo and K.Miyata, Oxid.Commun. 8 (1985) 277; CA 106 (1987) 84073.
- 339 T.Funabiki, T.Konishi, S.Kobayashi, A.Mizoguchi, M.Takano and S.Yoshida, Chem.Lett. (1987) 719.
- 340 T.Funabiki, T.Konishi, S.Tada and S.Yoshida, Chem.Lett. (1987) 1803.
- 341 M.Matsumoto, Sekiyu Gakkaishi 29 (1986) 364; CA 106 (1987) 175890.

- 342 Z.Xi, W.Liu, G.Cao, W.Du, J.Huang, K.Cai and H.Guo, Cuihua Xuebao 7 (1986) 357; CA 106 (1987) 140082.
- 343 Yu.I.Bratushko, N.I.Ermokhina and K.B.Yatsimirskii, Zh.Neorg.Khim. 32 (1987) 403; CA 107 (1987) 153762.
- 344 I.Sasaki, D.Pujol and A.Gaudemer, Inorg.Chim.Acta 134 (1987) 53.
- 345 M.Yu.Tuvin, S.L.Mund, A.S.Berenblyum and M.E.Vol'pin, Izv. Akad.Nauk SSSR, Ser.Khim. (1987) 263; CA 107 (1987) 235822.
- 346 M.A.Cabras and M.A.Zoroddu, Inorg.Chim.Acta 135 (1987) L19.
- 347 E.G.Solozhenko, G.V.Panova, A.N.Astanina and V.M.Potapov, Zh.Obsch.Khim. 56 (1986) 2404; CA 107 (1987) 133982.
- 348 G.Davies, M.A.El-Sayed and M.Henary, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 3266.
- 349 E.N.Mokrii, V.Ya.Suprun, S.R.Melnik and R.V.Kucher, Dopov. Akad.Nauk Ukr.RSR, Ser.B:Geol.,Khim.Biol.Nauki (1986)(3) 37; CA 106 (1987) 155754.
- 350 J.Dai, Q.Shen, L.Nan, Z.Pang, L.Fei, F.Lu, N.Zhang, F.Gao and S.Rong, Huaxue Fanying Gongcheng Yu Gongyi 1 (1985)(3) 11; CA 107 (1987) 9280.
- 351 Z.Cao and H.Zhang, Huaxue Fanying Gongcheng Yo Gongyi 2 (1986)(4) 77; CA 106 (1987) 198090.
- 352 D.P.Riley, D.P.Getman, G.R.Beck and R.M.Heintz, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 287.
- 353 J.Imamura, Sekiyu Gakkaishi 29 (1986) 354; CA 106 (1987) 69064.
- 354 B.J.Hwang and T.-C.Chou, Ind.Eng.Chem.Res. 26 (1987) 1132.
- 355 M.C.Kuo and T.C.Chou, Ind.Eng.Chem.Res. 26 (1987) 1140; CA 106 (1987) 215828.
- 356 M.Nishikimi and T.Ozawa, Biochem.Int. 14 (1987) 111; CA 106 (1987) 209555.
- 357 W.L.Baker, Arch.Biochem.Biophys. 252 (1987) 451; CA 106 (1987) 209546.
- 358 G.Chen, and Y.Pang, Yaoxue Xuebao 22 (1987) 217; CA 107 (1987) 198776.

- 359 R.F.Jameson and T.Kiss, J.C.S.Dalton Trans. (1986) 1833; CA 107 (1987) 96491.
- 360 M.Ahmed, T.A.Chaudhari and M.Ahmed, Pak.J.Sci.Ind.Res. 29 (1986) 336; CA 107 (1987) 39572.
- 361 K.Tatsumoto, M.Haruta and A.E.Martell, Inorg.Chim.Acta 138 (1987) 231.
- 362 T.Okamoto, M.Shimada and S.Oka, Chem.Lett. (1987) 817.
- 363 S.G.Kireev and B.V.Romanovskii, Zh.Fiz.Khim. 60 (1986) 2090; CA 106 (1987) 108555.
- 364 S.Murata, M.Miura and M.Nomura, J.C.S.Perkin Trans.I (1987) 1259; CA 107 (1987) 236465.
- 365 M.M.Taqui Khan, S.A.Mirza and H.J.Bajaj, J.Mol.Catal 39 (1987) 323.
- 366 G.Maddinelli, M.Nali, B.Rindone, S.Tollari, S.Cenini, G.La Monica and F.Porta, J.Mol.Catal. 39 (1987) 71.
- 367 F.F.Shcherbina, Ukr.Khim.Zh.(Russ.Ed.) 52 (1986) 1279; CA 107 (1987) 197295.
- 368 P.Palumbo, M.d'Ischia, O.Crescenzi and G.Prota, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 467.
- 369 A.K.Bose, L.Krishnan, D.R.Wagle and M.S.Manhas, Tetrahedron Lett. 27 (1986) 5955.
- 370 G.Speier, J.Mol.Catal. 41 (1987) 253.
- 371 K.D.Karlin, B.I.Cohen, R.R.Jacobson and J.Zubieta, J.Am. Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 6194.
- 372 J.Peinado, F.Toribio, D.Perez-Bendito, Analyst (London) 112 (1987) 771; CA 107 (1987) 58328.
- 373 W.M.Brouwer, A.J.M.S.Robierst, P.Piet and A.L.German, Mezhdunar.Simp.Svyazi Gomogennym Geterog.Katal., 5th 2 (1986) 58; CA 107 (1987) 175326.
- 374 J.Van Welzen, A.M.Van Herk and A.L.German, Makromol.Chem. 188 (1987) 1923; CA 107 (1987) 162558.
- 375 L.T.Prakhov, A.A.Andreev, and D.M.Shopov, Khim.Tekhnol.Topl. Masel (1986)(11) 33; CA 106 (1987) 175585.
- 376 L.I.Simándi, S.Németh and N.Rumelis, J.Mol.Catal. 42 (1987) 357.

- 377 E.J.Corey and J.C.Walker, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 8108.
- 378 Y.Aoyama, Y.Tanaka, T.Fujisawa, T.Watanabe, H.Toi and H.Ogoshi, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 2555.
- 379 J.Muzart, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 2131.
- 380 J.Muzart, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 2133.
- 381 J.Muzart, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 4665.
- 382 N.Chidambaram and S.Chandrasekaran, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 5048.
- 383 W.Chen, Youji Huaxue (1986) 432; CA 107 (1987) 8620.
- 384 M.Faraj and C.L.Hill, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 1487.
- 385 T.M.Nagiev, Z.M.Nagieva and S.A.Tagieva, Vestn.Mosk.Univ., Ser.2: Khim. 27 (1986) 564; CA 107 (1987) 115442.
- 386 E.Kotani, A.Midorikawa, A.Tanaka and S.Tobinaga, Chem.Pharm. Bull. 35 (1987) 916; CA 107 (1987) 197633.
- 387 T.G.Traylor and S.Tsuchiya, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 1338.
- 388 G.Barak and Y.Sasson, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 1266.
- 389 P.S.Radhakrishnamurti and K.S.Tripathy, Indian J.Chem. 25A (1986) 762; CA 106 (1987) 66611.
- 390 P.S.Radhrakrishnamurti, R.K.Panda and H.C.Panigrahi, Indian J.Chem. 26A (1987) 124; CA 107 (1987) 175324.
- 391 B.Fraser-Reid, B.F.Molino, L.Magdzinski and D.R.Mootoo, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 4505.
- 392 I.Rico, F.Couderc, E.Perez, J.P.Laval and A.Lattes, J.C.S. Chem.Commun. (1987) 1205.
- 393 G.S.Grover and R.V.Chaudhari, Chem.Eng.J.(Lausanne) 32 (1986) 93; CA 106 (1987) 83796.
- 394 P.Dobson, J.A.Norman and C.B.Thomas, J.C.S.Perkin Trans.I (1986) 1209; CA 106 (1987) 213496.
- 395 F.M.Hauser and S.R.Ellenberger, Synthesis (1987) 723.
- 396 C.A.Horiuchi, Y.Suzuki, M.Takahashi and J.Y.Satoh, Chem. Lett. (1987) 393.
- 397 Y.Gao, R.M.Hanson, J.M.Klunder, S.Y.Ko, H.Masamune and K.B.Sharpless, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 5765.

- 398 S.L.Schreiber, M.T.Goulet and G.Schulte, J.Am.Chem.Soc, 109 (1987) 4718.
- 399 J.A.Marshall, V.H.Audia, T.M.Jenson and W.C.Guida, Tetrahedron 42 (1986) 1703; CA 105 (1987) 101579.
- 400 S.Tsuboi, H.Furutani and A.Takeda, Bull.Chem.Soc.Jpn. 60 (1987) 833.
- 401 S.L.Schreiber, T.S.Schreiber and D.B.Smith, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 1525.
- 402 B.M.Trost, J.K.Lynch and S.R.Angle, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 375.
- 403 J.M.Chong and S.Wong, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 2596.
- 404 Y.Honda, A.Ori and G.Tsuchihashi, Chem.Lett. (1987) 1259.
- 405 J.S.Brimacombe, R.Hanna and A.K.M.S.Kabir, Carbohydr.Res. 153 (1986) C7; CA 106 (1987) 196710.
- 406 J.M.Hawkins and K.B.Sharpless, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 2825.
- 407 S.Ikegami, T.Katsuki and M.Yamaguchi, Chem.Lett. (1987) 83.
- 408 E.Glotter and M.Zviely, J.C.S.Perkin Trans.I. (1986) 327; CA 106 (1987) 5320.
- 409 E.Glotter and M.Zviely, J.C.S.Perkin Trans.I (1986) 321; CA 106 (1987) 50544.
- 410 T.Hanamoto, T.Katsuki and M.Yamaguchi, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 6191.
- 411 D.Hoppe, J.Lüssmann, P.G.Jones, D.Schmidt and G.M.Scheldrick, Tetrahedron Lett. 27 (1986) 3591.
- 412 Z.Dawoodi and R.L.Kelly, Polyhedron 5 (1986) 271; CA 106 (1987) 119050.
- 413 T.Okabayashi, T.Nishimura, Y.Matoba, K.Yamawaki, Y.Ishii and S.Hamanaka, Sekiyu Gakkaishi 29 (1986) 419; CA 106 (1987) 176070.
- 414 Y.Itoi, M.Inoue and S.Enomoto, Bull.Chem.Soc.Jpn. 59 (1986) 3941.
- 415 P.J.Martinez de la Cuesta, E.Rus Martinez and J.Aguiar Garcia, Afinidad 43 (1986) 397; CA 107 (1987) 235805.

- 416 W.R.Roush, J.A.Straub and R.J.Brown, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 5127.
- 417 T.M.Petrenkova, M.V.Nikipanchuk and B.I.Chernyak, Neftekhimiya 26 (1986) 664; CA 107 (1987) 77536.
- 418 M.Quenard, V.Bonmarin and G.Gelbard, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 2237.
- 419 K.S.Suslick and B.R.Cook, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 200.
- 420 W.-H.Wong, D.Ostovic and T.C.Bruice, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 3428.
- 421 B.N.Balasubramanian, A.Sinha and T.C.Bruice, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 1456.
- 422 B.Meunier, M.-E. de Carvalho and A.Robert, J.Mol.Catal. 41 (1987) 185.
- 423 J.T.Groves and M.K.Stern, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 3812.
- 424 A.W.van der Made, M.J.P.van Gerven, W.Drenth and R.J.M. Nolte, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 888.
- 426 S.Rummel and B.Lorenz, Isotopenpraxis 22 (1986) 36; CA 106 (1987) 119049.
- 427 T.M.Nagiev, Z.M.Nagieva and Sh.A.Tagieva, Vestn.Mosk.Univ., Ser.2: Khim. 28 (1987) 42; CA 107 (1987) 197292.
- 428 Z.M.Nagieva, Sh.A.Tagieva, S.Z.Zul'fugarova and T.M.Nagiev, Azerb.Khim.Zh. (1986)(2) 76; CA 107 (1987) 96517.
- 429 T.G.Traylor and F.Xu, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 6201.
- 430 I.Artaud, L.Devocelle, J.-P.Battioni, J.-P.Girault and D.Mansuy, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 3782.
- 431 T.G.Traylor, T.Nakano, A.R.Miksztal and B.E.Dunlap, J.Am. Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 3625.
- 432 Y.Naruta and K.Maruyama, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 4553.
- 433 J.T.Groves and R.Neumann, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 5045.
- 434 T.G.Traylor and A.R.Miksztal, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 2770.
- 435 M.Girardet and B.Meunier, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 2955.
- 436 R.B.Hopkins and A.D.Hamilton, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 171.

- 437 G.Caroling, J.Rajaram and J.C.Kuriacose, Curr.Sci 55 (1986) 1132; CA 107 (1987) 38944.
- 438 C.-M.Che, W.-K.Cheng, W.-H.Leung and T.C.W.Mak, J.C.S.Chem. Commun. (1987) 418.
- 439 T.J.Collins, S.Ozaki and T.G.Richmond, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 803.
- 440 J.D.Koola and J.K.Kochi, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 4545.
- 441 J.D.Koola and J.K.Kochi, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 908.
- 442 R.Sinigaglia, R.A.Michelin, F.Pinna and G.Strukul, Organometallics 6 (1987) 728.
- I.Saito, T.Mano, R.Nagata and T.Matsuura, Tetrahedron Lett.28 (1987) 1909.
- 444 M.Inoue, T.Uragaki and S.Enomoto, Chem.Lett. (1986) 2075.
- 445 Y.Kurusu and Y.Masuyama, Polyhedron 5 (1986) 289; CA 106 (1987) 101717.
- 446 A.E.Gekhman, V.M.Nekipelov, S.G.Sakharov, K.I.Zamaraev and I.I.Moiseev, Izv.Akad.Nauk SSSR, Ser.Khim. (1986) 1242; CA 106 (1987) 101592.
- 447 K.Yamawaki, T.Yoshida, H.Nishihara, Y.Ishii and M.Ogawa, Synth.Commun. 16 (1986) 537; CA 106 (1987) 83632.
- 448 K.Yamawaki, T.Yoshida, T.Suda, Y.Ishii and M.Ogawa, Synthesis (1986) 59; CA 106 (1987) 17850.
- 449 R.B.Brown, M.M.Williamson and C.L.Hill, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 1602.
- 450 O.A.Travina, S.O.Travin and A.P.Purmal, Khim.Fiz. 5 (1986) 1123; CA 106 (1987) 90953.
- 451 O.A.Travina, S.O.Travin and A.P.Purmal, Khim.Fiz. 6 (1987) 258; CA 106 (1987) 144727.
- 452 A.J.Pandell and W.E.Matras, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 697.
- 453 K.Vijayashri, J.Rajaram and J.C.Kuriacose, J.Mol.Catal. 39 (1987) 203.
- 454 K.Vijayasri, J.Rajaram and J.C.Kuriacose, Proc.-Indian Acad. Sci., Chem.Sci. 97 (1986) 125; CA 106 (1987) 137781.

- 455 W.P.Griffith, S.V.Ley, G.P.Whitcombe and A.D.White, J.C.S. Chem.Commun. (1987) 1625.
- 456 P.E.Morris and D.E.Kiely, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 1149.
- 457 Y.Sasson, H.Wiener and S.Bashir, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 1574.
- 458 R.K.Shukla, N.Anandam and R.C.Maurya, Orient.J.Chem. 2 (1986) 124; CA 107 (1987) 38922.
- 459 M.K.Verma, P.K.Tandon, H.S.Singh and M.P.Singh, Z.Phys.Chem. (Leipzig) 267 (1986) 1219; CA 106 (1987) 119098.
- 460 B.Singh, A.K.Singh, V.K.Singh, A.K.Sisodia and M.B.Singh, J.Mol.Catal. 40 (1987) 49.
- 461 F.X.Webster, J.Rivas-Enterrios and R.M.Silverstein, J.Org. Chem. 52 (1987) 689.
- 462 T.Kistayya, R.M.Reddy and S.Kandlikar, Indian J.Chem. 25A (1986) 905; CA 106 (1987) 176755.
- 463 P.Mueller and D.M.Gilabert, Chimia 40 (1986) 127; CA 106 (1987) 4595.
- 464 M.M.Taqui Khan and R.S.Shukla, J.Mol.Catal. 39 (1987) 139.
- 465 M.Pranati and N.C.Khandual, Indian J.Chem. 25A (1986) 902; CA 107 (1987) 77115.
- 466 P.Misra, R.C.Mohapatra and N.C.Khandual, J.Indian Chem.Soc.
 63 (1986) 291; CA 106 (1987) 119078.
- 467 T.R.Beebe, R.Adkins, R.Baldridge, V.Hensley, D.McMillen, D.Morris, R.Noe, F.W.Ng, G.Powell, C.Spielberger and M.Stolte, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 5472.
- 468 S.-I.Murahashi, T.Oda, T.Sugahara and Y.Masui, J.C.S.Chem. Commun. (1987) 1471.
- 469 F.Grases, E.Amat and J.Palou, J.Mol.Catal. 40 (1987) 305.
- 470 B.Pispisa, A.Palleschi and G.Paradossi, J.Mol.Catal. 42 (1987) 269.
- 471 H.Sugimoto, L.Spencer and D.T.Sawyer, Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci. USA 84 (1987) 1731; CA 107 (1987) 54754.
- 472 P.Vinas, M.Hernandez-Cordoba and C.Sanchez-Pedreno, Afinidad 44 (1987) 225; CA 107 (1987) 146462.

- A.C.Zotou and C.G.Papadopoulos, Analyst (London) 112 (1987)
 787; CA 107 (1987) 69835.
- 474 K.A.Jorgensen, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 1405.
- V.E.Kalinina, Yu.A.Zhukov and P.G.Velasko, Izv.Vyssh.Uchebn.
 Zaved., Khim.Khim.Tekhnol. 30 (1987) 51; CA 107 (1987) 197298.
- 476 H.B.Kagan, Phosphorus Sulfur 27 (1986) 127; CA 106 (1987) 119388.
- 477 K.Nakajima, C.Sasaki, M.Kojima, T.Aoyama, S.Ohba, Y.Saito and J.Fujita, Chem.Lett. (1987) 2189.
- 478 A.Colombo, G.Marturano and A.Pasini, Gazz.Chim.Ital. 116 (1986) 35; CA 106 (1987) 32443.
- 479 O.Bortolini, S.Campestrini, F.Di Furia and G.Modena, J.Org. Chem. 52 (1987) 5093.
- 480 M.Ando and H.Kuzuhara, Bull.Chem.Soc.Jpn. 60 (1987) 818.
- 481 R.S.Davidson, M.D.Walker and R.K.Bhardwaj, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 2981.
- 482 M.Tiecco, M.Tingoli, L.Testaferri and D.Bartoli, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 3849.
- 483 J.Dzigiec, Pol.J.Chem. 59 (1986) 991; CA 107 (1987) 175297.
- 484 N.M.Guindy, S.Hanafi and S.S.Anis, Therm.Anal., Proc.ICTA, 8th 1 (1985) 751; CA 107 (1987) 84639.
- 485 R.P.Kreh, R.M.Spotnitz and J.T.Lundquist, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 1067.
- 486 T.Sugiyama, Chem.Lett. (1987) 1013.
- 487 W.Adam, A.Casado and M.A.Miranda, Angew.Chem. 99 (1987) 818.
- 487a R.Rathore, N.Saxena and S.Chandrasekaran, Synth.Commun. 16 (1986) 1493; CA 107 (1987) 6840.
- 488 M.Khan, S.Ahmad, M.S.Ahmad and S.M.Osman, Indian J.Chem. 25B (1986) 321; CA 106 (1987) 213392.
- 489 E.J.Parish, S.Chitrakorn and T.Y.Wei, Synth.Commun. 16 (1986) 1371; CA 106 (1987) 196677.
- 490 T.Linz and H.J.Schäfer, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 6581.

- 491 G.R.Pettit, Y.Kamano, P.Drasar, M.Inoue and J.C.Knight, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 3573.
- 492 S.Baskaran, I.Islam, M.Raghavan and S.Chandrasekaran, Chem. Lett. (1987) 1175.
- 493 L.A.Paquette and T.Kobayashi, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 3531.
- 494 J.F.Perez-Bonito, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 831.
- 495 J.F.Perez-Benito and D.G.Lee, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 3239.
- 496 V.S.Rao, B.Sethuram and T.N.Rao, Orient.J.Chem. 3 (1987) 83; CA 107 (1987) 216908.
- 497 M.Zielinski, Rap.-Inst.Fiz.Tech.Jad.AGH (1986) 43; CA 106 (1987) 101601.
- 498 J.T.B.Ferreira, W.O.Cruz, P.C.Vieira and M.Yonashiro, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 3698.
- 499 S.Nagahama and M.Tazaki, Bull.Chem.Soc.Jpn. 60 (1987) 4175.
- 500 Z.Boncza-Tomaszewski, Can.J.Chem. 65 (1987) 656; CA 107 (1987) 217927.
- 501 H.Sato, H.Nishino and K.Kurosawa, Bull.Chem.Soc.Jpn. 60 (1987) 1753.
- 502 W.E.Fristad, J.R.Peterson, A.B.Ernst and G.B.Urbi, Tetrahedron 42 (1986) 3429; CA 106 (1987) 101591.
- 503 M.S.Ahmad and S.Z.Ahmad, J.Chem.Res., Synop. (1986) 384; CA 107 (1987) 217923.
- 504 B.B.Snider, R.Mohan and S.A.Kates, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 841.
- 505 R.Mohan, S.A.Kates, M.A.Dombroski and B.B.Snider, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 845.
- 506 X.Zhao, J.Zheng and R.Jin, Wuji Huaxue 3 (1987) 95; CA 107 (1987) 227852.
- 507 L.M.Tolbert and R.K.Khanna, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 3477.
- 508 L.M.Stock and S.H.Wang, Fuel 66 (1987) 921; CA 107 (1987) 99460.
- 509 D.C.Ayres and D.P.Levy, Tetrahedron 42 (1986) 4259; CA 106 (1987) 137658.
- 510 C.M.Che and W.H.Leung, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 1376.
- 511 E.Vogel, L.Schmalstieg, H.-J.Weyer and R.Gleiter, Chem.Lett. (1987) 33.
- 512 J.S.Brimacombe, R.Hanna, A.K.M.S.Kabir, F.Bennett and I.D.Taylor, J.C.S.Perkin Trans.I (1986) 815; CA 106 (1987) 50577.
- 513 K.Tomioka, M.Nakajima and K.Koga, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 6213; 110 (1988) 988.
- 514 Z.Cvengrosová, M.Hronec, J.Kizlink, L.Malik and J.Ilavsky, J.Mol.Catal. 40 (1987) 235.
- 515 E.Gretz, T.F.Oliver and A.Sen, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 8109.
- 516 I.V.Kozhevnikov, V.I.Kim and V.N.Sidel'nikov, Izv.Akad.Nauk SSSR, Ser.Khim. (1986) 1352; CA 106 (1987) 83809.
- 517 B.Akermark, B.C.Söderberg and S.S.Hall, Organometallics 6 (1987) 2608.
- 518 F.Seel and J.Schuh, Z.Naturforsch.B: Chem.Sci. 42 (1987) 157; CA 107 (1987) 69640.
- 519 B.B.Snider and M.A.Dombroski, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 5487.
- 520 Y.Ishii, K.Yamawaki, T.Yoshida, T.Ura and M.Ogawa, J.Org. Chem. 52 (1987) 1868.
- 521 R.P.Tooze, G.Wilkinson, M.Montevalli and M.B.Hursthouse, J.C.S.Dalton Trans. (1986) 2711; CA 107 (1987) 176204.
- 522 E.P.Talsi, V.P.Babenko, A.A.Shubin, V.D.Chinakov,
 V.M.Nekipelov and K.I.Zamaraev, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 3871.
- 523 Y.Omote, A.Tomotake and C.Kashima, J.Chem.Res., Synop. (1987) 10; CA 107 (1987) 175958.
- 524 E.A.Obol'nikova, I.V.Kozlova, T.M.Filippova and G.I.Samokhvalov, Zh.Org.Khim. 22 (1986) 2258; CA 107 (1987) 154021.
- 525 S.O.Travin, T.D.Kemp and P.Moore, Khim.Fiz. 5 (1986) 1393; CA 106 (1987) 9751.
- 526 P.O.I.Virtanen, R.Lindroos, S.Pohjola and L.Ronkainen, Finn.Chem.Lett. 13 (1986) 165; CA 107 (1987) 216921.

- 626
- 527 P.O.I.Virtanen and L.Ronkainen, Finn.Chem.Lett. 13 (1986) 1; CA 106 (1987) 32194.
- 528 D.A.Burnett and D.J.Hart, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 5662.
- 529 M.P.Alvarez Macho and O.Diez Higuera, An.Quim., Ser.A 82 (1986) 231; CA 107 (1987) 6631.
- 530 N.K.Saran, R.C.Acharya and S.R.Rao, J.Indian Chem.Soc. 62 (1985) 747; CA 106 (1987) 49462.
- 531 D.M.L.Goodgame and A.M.Joy, Inorg.Chim.Acta 135 (1987) 115.
- 532 V.Eliu-Ceausescu, P.Soimu and T.Cadariu, Rev.Chim. (Bucharest) 38 (1987) 72; CA 107 (1987) 96182.
- 533 K.K.S.Gupta, M.Adhikary, S.K.Mandal and S.S.Gupta, Transition Met.Chem. 12 (1987) 152.
- 534 T.V.Romanchenko, E.N.Shmidt and V.A.Pentegova, Izv.Sib.Otd. Akad.Nauk SSSR, Ser.Khim.Nauk (1986)(2) 120; CA 107 (1987) 7409.
- 535 B.O'Connor and G.Just, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 3235.
- 536 N.Narayanan and T.R.Balasubramanian, Indian J.Chem. 25B (1986) 228; CA 106 (1987) 119373.
- 537 K.Balusubramanian and V.Prathiba, Indian J.Chem. 25B (1986) 326; CA 106 (1987) 49694.
- 538 J.Singh, P.S.Kalsi, G.S.Jawanda and B.R.Chhabra, Chem.Ind. (London)(1986)751; CA 107 (1987) 6515.
- 539 P.Wang and L.Yan, Beijing Shifan Daxue Xuebao, Ziran Kexueban (1986)(3) 72; CA 107 (1987) 7435.
- 540 D.Liotta, D.Brown, W.Hoekstra and R.Monahan, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 1069.
- 541 S.K.Ghosh, R.N.Bose and E.S.Gould, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 2684.
- 542 M.Balon and M.A.Munoz, An.R.Acad.Farm. 53 (1987) 77; CA 107 (1987) 243716.
- 543 O.Bortolini, S.Campestrini, F.Di Furia and G.Modena, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 5467.
- 544 É.Záhonyi-Budó and L.I.Simándi, Inorg.Chim.Acta 134 (1987) 25.

- 545 P.Kalidoss, C.Shanmugakani, S.Sundaram and V.S.Srinivasan, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 968; CA 106 (1987) 126679.
- 546 J.R.Peterson, R.S.Egler, D.B.Horsley and T.J.Winter, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 6109.
- 547 A.J.Mahmood, B.Fouzia and M.A.Nawab, Dhaka Univ.Stud., Part B 34 (1986) 145; CA 106 (1987) 49488.
- 548 M.Trömel and M.Russ, Angew.Chem. 99 (1987) 1037.
- 549 A.S.R.Anjaneyulu, P.Umasundari and C.V.M.Sastri, Indian J. Chem. 25B (1986) 955; CA 107 (1987) 175766.
- 550 P.Martinez, J.Zuluaga, U.Uribe and R.van Eldik, Inorg.Chim. Acta 136 (1987) 11.
- 552 L.Roecker and T.J.Meyer, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 746.
- 553 M.E.Marmion and K.J.Takeuchi, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 1396.
- 554 C.-M.Che, T.-F.Lai and K.-Y.Wong, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 2289.
- 555 J.G.Muller and K.J.Takeuchi, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 3634.
- 556 S.K.Saha, M.C.Ghosh and P.Banerjee, Inorg.Chim.Acta 126 (1987) 29.
- 557 S.Satish and P.A.Ganeshpure, Proc.-Indian Acad.Sci.,Chem. Sci. 96 (1986) 59; CA 106 (1987) 17993.
- 558 T.R.Reddy, G.S.Murthy and V.Jagannadham, Oxid.Commun. 9 (1986) 83; CA 106 (1987) 101593.
- 559 C.P.Murthy, B.Sethuram and T.N.Rao, Z.Phys.Chem.(Leipzig) 267 (1986) 1212; CA 106 (1987) 155740.
- 560 D.J.Evans and M.Green, Inorg.Chim.Acta 130 (1987) 183.
- 561 A.K.Singh, A.K.Sisodia, A.Parmar, M.Saxena and S.Baipai, Natl.Acad.Sci.Lett. (India) 9 (1986) 277; CA 107 (1987) 96993.
- 562 C.E.Koning, J.J.W.Eshuis, F.J.Viersen and G.Challa, React. Polym., Ion Exch., Sorbents 4 (1986) 293; CA 106 (1987) 60305.
- 563 E.Mentasti and L.J.Kirschenbaum, Inorg.Chim.Acta 134 (1987) 283.

e e e

- 564 M.Ignaczak, J.Dziegiec and Leszczynski, Pol.J.Chem. 59 (1986) 1039; CA 107 (1987) 77110.
- 565 U.Ashauer-Holzgrabe and R.Haller, Arch.Pharm. (Weinheim, Ger.) 319 (1986) 1079; CA 106 (1987) 102053.
- 566 V.K.Sharma, K.Sharma, A.P.Payasi and P.S.Tiwari, Z.Phys. Chem. (Leipzig) 267 (1986) 821; CA 106 (1987) 50603.
- 567 P.S.Radhakrishnamurti, H.P.Panda and D.C.Pradham, React. Kinet.Catal.Lett. 31 (1986) 159; CA 107 (1987) 38939.
- 568 C.Nallaiah and J.A.Strickson, Tetrahedron 42 (1986) 4083; CA 106 (1987) 119364.
- 569 C.Nallaiah and J.A.Strickson, Tetrahedron 42 (1986) 4089; CA 106 (1987) 155710.
- 570 J.F.Perez-Benito, F.Mata-Perez and E.Brillas, Can.J.Chem. 65 (1987) 2329; CA 107 (1987) 176438.
- 571 F.Freeman, L.Y.Chang, J.C.Kappos and L.Sumarta, J.Org.Chem. 52 (1987) 1460.
- 572 K.C.Brown and J.A.Weil, Can.J.Chem. 64 (1986) 1836; CA 106 (1987) 49690.
- 573 G.Dasgupta and M.Mahanti, Indian J.Chem. 25A (1986) 958; CA 107 (1987) 77117.
- 574 G.Dasgupta and M.K.Mahanti, Croat.Chem.Acta 59 (1986) 895; CA 107 (1987) 96164.
- 575 G.Dasgupta and M.K.Mahanti, Bull.Soc.Chim.Fr. (1986) 492; CA 106 (1987) 83830.
- 576 N.S.Prostakov, S.R.Saha, M.M.Mikhailova, V.K.Shevtsov and N.D.Sergeeva, Khim.Geterotsikl.Soedin. (1986) 939; CA 107 (1987) 7040.
- 577 K.Tanaka, S.Yoshifuji and Y.Nitta, Chem.Pharm.Bull. 35 (1987) 364; CA 107 (1987) 175312.
- 578 S.Yoshifuji, Y.Arakawa and Y.Nitta, Chem.Pharm.Bull. 35 (1987) 357; CA 107 (1987) 197274.
- 579 S.Yoshifuji, K.Tanaka, T.Kawal and Y.Nitta, Chem.Pharm.Bull.
 34 (1986) 3873; CA 107 (1987) 40287.
- 580 K.Tanaka, S.Yoshifuji and Y.Nitta, Chem.Pharm.Bull. 34 (1986) 3879; CA 107 (1987) 7547.

628

- 581 Y.Landais, D.Rambault and J.P.Robin, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 543.
- 582 C.K.Chang, C.Sotiriou and W.Wu, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1986) 1213.
- 583 D.W.Ladner, Synth.Commun. 16 (1986) 157; CA 106 (1987) 4835.
- 584 U.Nickel, N.Ruehl and B.M.Zhou, Z.Phys.Chem.(Munich) 148 (1986) 33; CA 106 (1987) 83822.
- 585 P.J.P.Rao, B.Sethuram and N.T.Rao, Oxid.Commun. 9 (1986) 155; CA 107 (1987) 153765.
- 586 L.R.Milgrom, J.Chem.Res., Synop. (1986) 452; CA 107 (1987) 217329.
- 587 K.Shin and H.M.Golf, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 3140.
- 588 C.Larpent, R.Dabard and H.Patin, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 2922.
- 589 F.Chioccara and E.Novellino, Synth.Commun. 16 (1986) 967; CA 106 (1987) 176824.
- 590 W.Legrum, Toxicology 42 (1986) 281; CA 106 (1987) 133317.
- 591 C.Srinivasan, P.P.Jegatheesan, S.Rajagopal and N.Arumugam, Can.J.Chem. 65 (1987) 2421; CA 107 (1987) 197313.
- 592 S.K.Ghosh, R.N.Bose and E.S.Gould, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 3722.
- 593 L.I.Simándi, M.Jáky and A.M.Khenkin, Inorg.Chim.Acta 134 (1987) 187.
- 594 S.H.Singh, G.Dasgupta and M.K.Mahanti, Afinidad 43 (1986) 321; CA 106 (1987) 83810.
- 595 L.Roecker, J.C.Dobson, W.J.Vining and T.J.Meyer, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 779.
- 596 H.N.Po and R.Trismitro, Inorg.Chim.Acta 126 (1987) 199.
- 597 I.Fleming, A.K.Sarkar and A.P.Thomas, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 157.
- 598 H.C.Brown, S.U.Kulkarni, G.C.Rao and V.D.Patil, Tetrahedron 42 (1986) 5515; CA 107 (1987) 114992.
- 599 H.C.Brown and C.P.Garg, Tetrahedron 42 (1986) 5511; CA 106 (1987) 213429.

630

- 600 J.Dziegiec, Chem.Stosow. 29 (1985) 263; CA 106 (1987) 24926.
- 601 E.Theodoridou, Synth.Met. 16 (1986) 87; CA 106 (1987) 40323.
- 602 R.A.Misra and A.Jain, J.Indian Chem.Soc. 64 (1987) 369; CA 107 (1987) 245078.
- 603 W.Feng, Huaxue Shijie 28 (1987) 346; CA 107 (1987) 238878.
- 604 K.-Y.Wong, C.-M.Che and F.C.Anson, Inorg.Chem. 26 (1987) 737.
- 605 C.-M.Che and V.W.-W.Yam, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 1262.
- 606 F.C.Anson, T.J.Collins, S.L.Gipson and T.E.Krafft, Inorg. Chem. 26 (1987) 731.
- 607 T.Takiguchi and T.Nonaka, Chem.Lett. (1987) 1217.
- 508 J.Tsuji and M.Minato, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 3683.
- 609 A.G.Pavese, V.M.Solis and M.C.Giordano, Electrochim.Acta 32 (1987) 1213; CA 107 (1987) 185783.
- 610 J.-E.Bäckvall and A.Gogoll, J.C.S.Chem.Commun. (1987) 1236.
- 611 J.M.Van der Eijk, Prepr.-Am.Chem.Soc., Div.Pet.Chem. 32 (1987) 827; CA 107 (1987) 143595.
- 612 E.Baciocchi, T.Del Giacco and G.V.Sebastiani, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 1941.
- 613 E.M.K.Mansour, P.Maillard, P.Krausz, S.Gaspard and C.Giannotti, J.Mol.Catal. 41 (1987) 361.
- 614 W.Adam and L.Pasquato, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 311.
- 615 M.Bolte, B.Robert and J.Lemaire, Can.J.Chem. 64 (1986) 1864; CA 106 (1987) 67642.
- 616 K.Nomiya, T.Miyazaki, K.Maeda and M.Miwa, Inorg.Chim.Acta 127 (1987) 65.
- 617 M.A.Fox, R.Cardona and E.Gaillard, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 6347.
- 618 K.S.Suslick, F.V.Acholla and B.R.Cook, J.Am.Chem.Soc. 109 (1987) 2818.
- 619 Zh.P.Kachanova and Yu.N.Kozlov, Zh.Fiz.Khim. 61 (1987) 480; CA 107 (1987) 216900.

- 620 M.M.Taqui Khan, R.C.Bhardwaj and C.Bhardwaj, Inorg.Chim. Acta 130 (1987) 153.
- 621 C.-M.Che, V.W.-W.Yam, K.-C.Cho and H.B.Gray, J.C.S.Chem. Commun. (1987) 948.
- 622 P.Engelbrecht, P.Thomas, H.Hennig and J.Sykora, Z.Chem. 26 (1986) 137; CA 106 (1987) 4596.
- 623 A.Monaci, Gazz.Chim.Ital. 116 (1986) 339; CA 106 (1987) 84060.
- 624 F.J.Waller, J.Mol.Catal.-Review Issue (1986) 43.
- 625 D.Mansuy and P.Battioni, Stud.Org.Chem.(Amsterdam) 27 (1986) 1; CA 106 (1987) 133852.
- 626 L.Markó and A.Vizi-Orosz, Stud.Surf.Sci.Catal. 29 (1986) 89; CA 107 (1987) 96041.
- 627 B.C.Gates, Stud.Surf.Sci.Catal. 29 (1986) 415; CA 106 (1987) 90905.
- 628 B.V.Romanovskii, Homogeneous Heterog.Catal., Proc.Int.Symp. Relat.Heterogeneous Heterog.Catal., 5th (1986) 343; CA 107 (1987) 223870.
- 629 J.Schwartz, Mezhdunar.Simp.Svyazi Gomogennym Geterog.Katal., 5th 2 (1986) 83; CA 107 (1987) 115022.
- 630 H.B.Kagan and J.L.Namy, Tetrahedron 42 (1986) 6573; CA 106 (1987) 83625.
- 631 A.Behr and W.Keim, Erdöl, Erdgas, Kohle 103 (1987) 126; CA 107 (1987) 65387.
- 632 H.Knözinger, Homogeneous Heterog.Catal.,Proc.Int.Symp.Relat. Homogeneous Heterog.Catal.,5th (1986) 789; CA 107 (1987) 201540.
- 633 A.A.Oswald, R.V.Kastrup and E.J.Mozeleski, Prepr.-Am.Chem. Soc., Div.Pet.Chem. 32 (1987) 240; CA 106 (1987) 198096.
- 634 C.Botteghi, R.Ganzerla, M.Lenarda and G.Moretti, J.Mol. Catal. 40 (1987) 129.
- 635 A.M.Trzeciak, Wiad.Chem. 39 (1985) 629; CA 106 (1987) 17823.
- 636 E.Kuntz, CHEMTECH 17 (1987) 570; CA 107 (1987) 175151.
- 637 P.D.Sunavala and B.Raghunath, J.Sci.Ind.Res. 45 (1986) 327; CA 106 (1987) 52057.

632

- 638 A.Mortreux and F.Petit, Appl.Catal. 24 (1986) 1; CA 106 (1987) 5100.
- 639 T.Venalainen, Ann.Acad.Sci.Fenn., Ser.A2 211 (1987); CA 107 (1987) 32102.
- 640 J.Pursiainen, Ann.Acad.Sci.Fenn., Ser.A2 209 (1986); CA 107 (1987) 16578.
- 641 G.P.Chiusoli, Transition Met.Chem. 12 (1987) 89.
- 642 H.Alper, ACS Symp.Ser. 326 (1987) 8; CA 107 (1987) 39271.
- 643 E.Buncel and J.R.Jones, Synth.Appl.Isot.Labeled.Compd.Proc. Int.Symp.2nd (1985) 33; CA 106 (1987) 83662.
- 644 E.S.Rudakov, Zh.Fiz.Khim. 61 (1987) 289; CA 107 (1987) 153650.
- 645 M.V.Klyuev, Izv.Vyssh.Uchebn.Zaved.,Khim.Khim.Tekhnol. 29 (1986) 3; CA 106 (1987) 108517.
- 646 J.M.Brown, Angew.Chem. 99 (1987) 169.
- 647 B.Heil, Wiss.Z.Tech.Hochsch. "Carl Schorlemmer" Leuna-Merseburg 27 (1985) 739; CA 106 (1987) 18637.
- 648 J.M.Brown, Platinum Met.Rev. 31 (1987) 137.
- 649 J.Hetflejs, Stud.Surf.Sci.Catal. 27 (1986) 497; CA 107 (1987) 6527.
- 650 A.Basu, S.Bhaduri, H.Kwaja and K.R.Sharma, Prod.Indian Natl. Sci.Acad., Part A 52 (1986) 831; CA 106 (1987) 220802.
- 651 A.Basu, S.Bhaduri and K.R.Sharma, Homogeneous Heterog. Catal., Proc.Int.Symp.Relat.Homogeneous Heterog.Catal., 5th (1986) 1115; CA 107 (1987) 205915.
- 652 D.Baudry, M.Ephritikhine, H.Felkin, T.Fillebeen-Khan, Y.Gault, R.Holmes-Smith, Y.Lin and J.Zakrzewski, Org.Synth.: Interdiscip.Challenge, Proc.IUPAC Symp., 5 (1984) 25; CA 106 (1987) 17817.
- 653 B.R.James, A.Pacheco, S.J.Rettig, I.S.Thorburn, R.G.Ball and J.A.Ibers, J.Mol.Catal. 41 (1987) 147.
- 654 R.H.Holm, Chem.Rev. 87 (1987) 1401; CA 107 (1987) 205917.
- 655 I.V.Zakharov and Yu.V.Geletii, Neftekhimiya 26 (1986) 776; CA 107 (1987) 6535.

- 656 F.Montanari and S.Quici, Chim.Ind.(Milan) 68 (1986) 72; CA 106 (1987) 119560.
- 657 R.A.Sheldon, Catal.Today 1 (1987) 351; CA 107 (1987) 178525.
- 658 H.B.Kagan, Stereochem.Org.Bioorg.Transform.,Proc.Workshop Conf.Höchst, 17th (1986) 49; CA 106 (1987) 175380.
- 659 N.G.Digurov, T.V.Bukharina and N.N.Lebedev, Neftekhimiya 26 (1986) 787; CA 107 (1987) 6536.
- 660 H.Wurziger, Kontakte (Darmstadt) (1986)(3) 50; CA 106 (1987) 175385.
- 661 T.L.Ho, Org.Synth.Oxid.Met.Compd. (1986) 569; CA 107 (1987) 38747.
- 662 C.L.Hill, R.B.Brown and R.F.Renneke, Prepr.-Am.Chem.Soc., Div.Pet.Chem. 32 (1987) 205; CA 107 (1987) 153620.
- 663 W.J.De Klein, Org.Synth.Oxid.Met.Compd. (1986) 261; CA 107 (1987) 38741.
- 664 A.J.Fatiadi, Org.Synth.Oxid.Met.Compd. (1986) 119; CA 107 (1987) 38740.
- 665 M.M.Taqui Khan, Proc.Indian Natl.Sci.Acad., Part A 52 (1986) 818; CA 107 (1987) 175181.
- 666 R.S.Myers, R.C.Michaelson and R.G.Austin, Prepr.-Am.Chem. Soc., Div.Pet.Chem. 32 (1987) 227; CA 107 (1987) 153621.
- 667 F.Freeman, Org.Synth.Oxid.Met.Compd. (1986) 315; CA 107 (1987) 38742.
- 668 M.V.George, Org.Synth.Oxid.Met.Compd. (1986) 373; CA 107 (1987) 38743.
- 669 S.F.Davison and P.M.Maitlis, Org.Synth.Oxid.Met.Comp. (1986) 469; CA 107 (1987) 38745.
- 670 J.E.Lyons, G.Suld and C.Y.Hsu, Mezhdunar.Simp.Svyazi Gomogennym Geterog.Katal.,5th 1 (1986) 107; CA 107 (1987) 115021.
- N.Herron and C.A.Tolman, Prepr.-Am.Chem.Soc., Div.Pet.Chem.
 32 (1987) 200; CA 107 (1987) 153619.
- 672 C.R.H.I.De Jonge, Org.Synth.Oxid.Met.Compd. (1986) 423; CA 107 (1987) 38744.
- 673 M.Fetizon, M.Golfier, P.Mourgues and J.M.Louis, Org.Synth. Oxid.Met.Compd. (1986) 503; CA 107 (1987) 38746.